Czech University of Life Sciences in Prague

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences



The effect of natural disturbances and forest structure on tree-related microhabitats and saproxylic beetles in primary mountain forests

Author: Ing. Daniel Kozák

Supervisor: prof. Ing. Miroslav Svoboda, PhD.

2020

CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences

Ph.D. THESIS ASSIGNMENT

Ing. Daniel Kozák

Forestry Engineering Forest Biology

Thesis title

The effect of natural disturbances and forest structure on tree-related microhabitats and saproxylic beetles in primary mountain forests

Objectives of thesis

Understanding the effects of historical disturbances and forest structure on biodiversity is crucial for the conservation and suitable management of forest ecosystems. Based on the data from up to 500 permanent study plots located across primary spruce and mixed forest landscapes we aim to enhance our knowledge of interactions between historical disturbance regimes, current forest structure and local biodiversity indicators. In particular, this dissertation thesis aims to evaluate the effects of historical natural disturbances and forest structure across primary forest landscapes on saproxylic beetles and tree related microhabitats. Saproxylic beetles are a diverse group of forest invertebrates representing a major component of biodiversity that is associated with the decomposition and cycling of wood nutrients and carbon in forest ecosystems. Tree related microhabitats are important structural features for the conservation of biodiversity, as they represent a substrates or life sites for species or communities to develop, feed, shelter or breed. Studies from primary forests are important reference baselines for forest management practices as they represent ultimate intact ecosystems, thus our results may serve to guide forest management and conservation in order to promote biodiversity in forest ecosystems.

1. Investigate the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of current saproxylic beetle communities

2. Characterize the tree related microhabitats profile and evaluate the importance of local plot structure and spatial variability for tree related microhabitats density and diversity

3. Evaluate the effect of tree age and tree diameter on tree related microhabitats abundance and diversity

Methodology

The study will take place in the primary spruce and mixed forests in the Carpathian and Dinaric Mountains. Sample plots will be selected from the network of permanent research plots previously established using stratified random design. Field data will be collected to describe disturbance history, forest structure, associated tree-related microhabitats characteristics and saproxylic beetle communities. We will calculate various diversity indices for description of saproxylic beetle communities such as taxonomic richness, Shannon diversity, functional and phylogenetic diversity; and we will characterize tree related microhabitats profile using density and diversity of microhabitats per plot. On the tree level we will focus on abundance, diversity for overall microhabitat profile and specifically for different microhabitat types. Most of the statistical analyses will be performed using generalized linear mixed effect models or linear mixed effect models but we will also use techniques such as redundancy analysis or boosted regression trees.



The proposed extent of the thesis

100

Keywords

primary forests, natural disturbances, biodiversity indicators, saproxylic beetles, tree-related microhabitats, forest structure, disturbance legacies

Recommended information sources

- Hilmers, T., Friess, N., Bässler, C., Heurich, M., Brandl, R., Pretzsch, H., ... & Müller, J. (2018). Biodiversity along temperate forest succession. Journal of Applied Ecology, 55(6), 2756-2766.
- Lachat, T., Chumak, M., Chumak, V., Jakoby, O., Müller, J., Tanadini, M., & Wermelinger, B. (2016). Influence of canopy gaps on saproxylic beetles in primeval beech forests: a case study from the Uholka-Shyrokyi Luh forest, Ukraine. Insect conservation and diversity, 9(6), 559-573.
- Larrieu, L., & Cabanettes, A. (2012). Species, live status, and diameter are important tree features for diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in subnatural montane beech–fir forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 42(8), 1433-1445.
- Larrieu, L., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bütler, R., Kraus, D., Krumm, F., ... & Vandekerkhove, K. (2018). Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: A hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. Ecological Indicators, 84, 194-207.
- Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Fuhr, M., Gilg, O., ... & Guilbert, E. (2017). Snags and large trees drive higher tree microhabitat densities in strict forest reserves. Forest Ecology and Management, 389, 176-186.
- Paillet, Y., Debaive, N., Archaux, F., Cateau, E., Gilg, O., & Guilbert, E. (2019). Nothing else matters? Tree diameter and living status have more effects than biogeoclimatic context on microhabitat number and occurrence: An analysis in French forest reserves. PloS one, 14(5).
- Ulyshen, M. D., Ulyshen, M. D., & Koerner. (2018). Saproxylic insects. Springer.
- Vuidot, A., Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., & Gosselin, F. (2011). Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. Biological Conservation, 144(1), 441-450.

Expected date

2020/21 WS - FFWS - State Doctoral Examinations

The Dissertation Thesis Supervisor prof. Ing. Miroslav Svoboda, Ph.D.

Supervising department Department of Forest Ecology

Advisor of thesis doc. Ing. Michal Wiezik, Ph.D.



Electronic approval: 11. 12. 2020

prof. Ing. Miroslav Svoboda, Ph.D. Head of department prof. Ing. Milan Lstibůrek, MSc., Ph.D. Chairperson of Field of Study Board

Electronic approval: 11. 12. 2020

prof. Ing. Róbert Marušák, PhD. Dean

Prague on 12. 12. 2020

I hereby confirm that this PhD. thesis "The effect of natural disturbances and forest structure on tree-related microhabitats and saproxylic beetles in primary mountain forests" was elaborated independently with the usage of quoted literature and based on consultations and the recommendations of my supervisor.

I agree with publishing this PhD. thesis according to Czech law n. 111/1998 Sb. about the universities in its current valid wording. This agreement is independent from the results of defense.

December 10th, 2020, Prague

Acknowledgements

My deep thanks and gratitude go to all people who directly and indirectly contributed to the presented thesis. None of this would be possible without the help of my supervisors Miroslav Svoboda and Martin Mikoláš and other members of the Department of Forest Ecology who expertly guided me on my path through PhD studies, and their endless support and feedback on my work. I would also like to thank all the members of dendrochronological laboratory and fieldwork crews for their hard work and effort which made a baseline for the presented research. A big thanks goes to my friends and family for the support and motivation they provided whether in work or in life itself. Finally, I am thankful for the opportunity to focus my research on some of the most beautiful primary forests in the world and was able to contemplate the immense beauty of these natural wonders.

Abstract

Natural disturbances shape forest structure, dynamics, ecosystem functions and services. Disturbance legacies such as deadwood, canopy gaps and habitat trees greatly influence the amounts of suitable habitats for forest dwelling species. Understanding the importance of disturbance legacies for supporting biodiversity is crucial in understanding any biotic responses in the face of the expected future intensification of forest disturbance as a consequence of ongoing anthropogenic climate change.

The main objective of this thesis is to observe how natural disturbances and current forest structure of primary mountain forests of Europe impacts forest habitats and forest dwelling species. We use tree-related microhabitats (TreMs) and saproxylic beetles as the objects of the study, since TreMs encompass a variety of habitats suitable for feeding, dwelling or shelter of forest species and saproxylic beetles because of their close relationship to deadwood substrate and forest structure conditions. Thus we first aimed to i) investigate the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on the taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of current saproxylic beetle communities (Section 5.1), ii) characterize the TreM profile and evaluate the importance of local plot structure and spatial variability for TreM density and diversity (Section 5.2), iii) compare the TreM richness of primary and managed forests on a tree level (Section 5.3) and iv) evaluate the effect of tree age on TreM abundance and richness in primary spruce and beech-dominated forests (Section 5.4). For these aims we used a large database of permanent study plots from primary forests of Central, Eastern and Southeastern Europe and managed forests from the Black Forest region. We combined the dendroecological database from more than 350 plots with the survey of TreMs and samples of saproxylic beetles on a subset of plots.

The main findings of this thesis are:

i) Historical disturbances have significant effects on current beetle communities. Contrary to our expectations, different aspects of beetle communities, that is, abundance, taxonomic, phylogenetic and functional diversity, responded to different disturbance regime components. Past disturbance frequency was the most important component influencing saproxylic beetle communities and available habitats via multiple temporal and spatial pathways. The quantity of deadwood and its diameter positively influenced saproxylic beetle abundance and functional diversity, whereas phylogenetic diversity was positively influenced by canopy openness (Section 5.1).

ii) TreM density and diversity were significantly positively related with tree species richness and the proportion of snags. Root mean square of the tree diameters were significantly related to alpha and gamma diversity of TreMs. Both regions reached similarly high values of total TreM densities, and total TreM densities and diversity were not significantly different between the two regions. However, we observed significant differences between the two regions in regard to the densities of two TreM groups, conks of fungi and epiphytes. The density and diversity of TreMs were very high in beech-dominated primary forests, but their occurrence and diversity were highly variable within the landscape over relatively small spatial gradients (plot and stand levels; Section 5.2)

iii) We found congruent results based on the models for overall richness and the vast majority of TreM groups. Trees in primary forests hosted greater richness of all and specific types of TreMs than individuals in managed forests. The main driver of the difference was the long-term natural development with the absence of human management, followed by tree species and DBH.

iv) Tree diameter and age were the most important factors significantly increasing TreM abundance and richness, whereas tree species played a lesser but significant role in overall TreM abundance and richness across the primary forests. We observed the major role played by tree age in increasing the richness of specific TreM groups, such as concavities, insect galleries and exposed sapwood on studied trees.

Additionally, we provide general as well as specific recommendations for conservationists and forest managers based on our results, on how to conserve and increase the habitat amount and quality of forest stands in order to host a rich array of biodiversity.

Key words: natural disturbances, primary forest, biodiversity indicators, saproxylic beetles, treerelated microhabitats, forest structure, disturbance legacies

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction
2.	Literature review10
	2.1 Primary forests, natural disturbances and disturbance regimes10
	2.1.1 Primary forests10
	2.1.2 Natural disturbances and disturbance regimes11
	2.2 Forest structure and biological diversity13
	2.2.1 Deadwood14
	2.2.2 Tree-related microhabitats15
	2.2.3 Saproxylic beetles20
3.	Aims and overview of the dissertation thesis22
4.	Methods23
	4.1 Study area23
	4.2 Data collection and analysis24
	4.2.1 Investigate the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on
	taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of current saproxylic beetle
	communities24
	4.2.2 Characterize the TreM profile and evaluate the importance of local plot
	structure and spatial variability for TreM density and diversity26
	4.2.3 Compare the TreM richness of primary and managed forests on a tree
	level
	4.2.4 Evaluate the effect of tree age, diameter and other tree characteristics on
	TreM abundance and richness29
5.	Results
	5.1 Historical disturbances determine current taxonomic, functional and
	phylogenetic diversity of saproxylic beetle communities in temperate primary
	forests
	5.2 Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated
	forests
	5.3 Primary forests provide more tree-related microhabitats than managed ones
	underlining the need of their conservation64
	5.4 Influence of tree age on tree-related microhabitats abundance and richness: a
	comparison of mixed-beech and spruce mountain primary forests

6. Discussion107
6.1 Historical disturbances determine current taxonomic, functional and
phylogenetic diversity of saproxylic beetle communities in temperate primary
forests
6.2 Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech dominated
forests111
6.3 Primary forests provide more tree-related microhabitats than managed ones
underlining the need of their conservation114
6.4 Influence of tree age on tree-related microhabitats abundance and richness:
comparison of mixed-beech and spruce mountain primary forests117
7. Management implications119
8. Conclusions
9. Literature

1. Introduction

Biodiversity is considered a fundamental driver that shapes forest ecosystem functionality and facilitates key ecosystem processes and services. Forests support more than half of the world's terrestrial biodiversity and have the highest species diversity for many taxonomic groups (Lindenmayer et al. 2006). In a face of today's biodiversity crisis, conservation of forest biodiversity is therefore a critical task.

Forest ecosystems without human influence, also known as primary forests, have unique qualities that significantly contribute to biodiversity conservation (Lachat & Müller 2018). Primary forests serve as a refugia for rare or endangered forest specialists sensitive to human disturbance which cannot survive in managed forest stands (Peterken 1996). Thus, primary forests represent an important reference baseline which makes them extremely valuable for ecological research.

Primary forest ecosystems are characterized by natural disturbances of various intensities, frequencies and severities which have major effects on the quantity and quality of available habitats for forest taxa (Lachat & Müller 2018). The natural post-disturbance development and the various developmental pathways often result in high levels of structural heterogeneity (Meigs et al. 2017). Disturbance legacies such as large amounts of deadwood and senescent trees provide unique habitats for numerous species that have evolved in forest conditions regulated by natural processes (Franklin et al. 2007). Moreover, diverse deadwood substrates and senescent trees represent necessary habitats for saproxylic species which account for about one third of all forest species (Ulyshen et al. 2018).

Saproxylic beetles are a diverse group of forest invertebrates representing a major component of biodiversity that is associated with the decomposition and cycling of wood nutrients and carbon in forest ecosystems (Ulyshen et al. 2018). Due to their obligate and highly specific associations with particular substrate types (Grove 2002), many saproxylic beetles are indicator species. Along with other endangered saproxylic beetles, many of these indicator species are only found in primary forests (Lachat & Müller 2018), suggesting a dependence on structural legacies created by intermittent disturbance events.

Tree-related microhabitats (TreMs) are important structural features for biodiversity because they represent substrates or life sites for species or species communities during at least a part of their life cycle to develop, feed, shelter or breed (Larrieu et al. 2018). TreMs are considered as structural indicators of biodiversity mostly due to their efficiency of indicating the presence of certain taxa (Winter & Möller 2008, Paillet et al. 2018), and for their relatively easy and time efficient assessments during field monitoring (Larrieu et al. 2018). There is evidence of several forest attributes influencing the occurrence of TreMs, such as tree diameter, vitality and species, but these observations were mostly in managed forests or previously managed forest reserves (Vuidot et al. 2011, Paillet et al. 2019, Asbeck et al. 2019). The studies of TreM profile across primary forests are scarce and only little is known on how tree and plot level primary forest structure influences the occurrence of specific TreM types.

Understanding the role of the natural disturbances and forest structure in maintaining the conditions to support a rich array of forest biodiversity is a critical issue in the face of the recent biodiversity crisis connected with species extinction worldwide. The results presented in this thesis can help guide forest management in understanding the natural processes behind the maintenance of species habitats and to implement the necessary practices to help conserve temperate forest biodiversity.

2. Literature review

2.1 Primary forests, natural disturbances and disturbance regimes

2.1.1 Primary forests

According to the Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO, 2015), primary forests refer to naturally regenerated forests of native species where there are no clearly visible indications of human activities, and where ecological processes are not significantly disturbed. However, this definition does not completely exclude human intervention in the distant past, which cannot always be known. Kraus & Krumm (2013) presented a definition based on natural processes: primary forests are forests that were initiated under a regime of natural disturbances and have developed with minimal human influence. A key factor of primary forests is the absence of human activities that could disturb ecological processes but, like all forests, primary ones are subject to indirect human impact, such as climate change, air pollution, and altered population densities of ungulates.

Primary forests can also be characterized as dynamic ecosystems driven by disturbances of various scales, diverse developmental pathways, shifting microenvironments, and competitive interactions governing spatial patterns of mortality and recruitment (Donato et al. 2012, Svoboda et al. 2012). These processes generate and maintain spatial heterogeneity, which in turn influences the spatiotemporal distribution of associated organisms – from large old trees to organisms not visible to the naked eye (Lindenmayer et al. 2006).

Primary forests contain substantially higher amounts of deadwood than managed forests (Siitonen 2001) leading to a higher diversity of deadwood substrates, particularly with respect to larger diameter deadwood, deadwood in later stages of decay and standing deadwood (Gibb et al. 2005). Moreover, primary forests contain large habitat trees that develop various microhabitats such as cavities and cracks (Commarmot et al. 2013). All of these structural features provide unique habitats for numerous species that have evolved in forest conditions regulated by natural processes (Korpel 1995). The continuous supply of high amounts of deadwood and senescent trees over several centuries or longer (habitat continuity) is an important driver that influences the presence of certain forest taxa (Buse 2012). Thus, primary forest attributes are of crucial importance for forest specialists and particularly for saproxylic taxa (Winter et al. 2005).

These irreplaceable primary forests have unique qualities that significantly contribute to biodiversity conservation (Lachat & Müller 2018), therefore their protection is a global concern (Mackey et al. 2015). They are also ecologically important in regions where forests are highly fragmented (Vandekerkhove et al. 2009). For instance, primary forests serve as refuges and reservoirs for rare or endangered species, especially for forest species sensitive to human disturbance which cannot survive in managed forests (Paillet et al. 2015, Peterken 1996).

Furthermore, primary forests serve as a model for understanding natural disturbances and successional dynamics (Kuuluvainen & Aakala 2011), especially in the face of climate change, and provide baselines for the delivery of ecosystem services under unmanaged conditions, including carbon stocks and sequestration (Burrascano et al. 2013). Finally, primary forests help us to evaluate human impacts on forest ecosystems and to understand the potential and limitations of forest management practices (Bauhus et al. 2009, Kuuluvainen & Aakala 2011).

Temperate zone forests of Europe have undergone a very complicated history. Since ancient times, they were used for various purposes including fuel wood, pasture, and timber extraction (Veen et al. 2010). In Europe, as in other human dominated regions, historical deforestation and forest exploitation came close to eliminating primary forests (Potapov et al. 2017), and the last remnants of primary forests are located in remote mountain regions of Eastern and Southeastern Europe. Even this little share of undisturbed forest is heavily fragmented, as no intact forest landscapes >500 km² exist outside European Russia and boreal Northern Europe (Potapov et al. 2017). Primary forests disproportionately occur in remote, sparsely populated regions, mostly in rugged mountain areas or at high latitudes (i.e. on land with low agricultural productivity or low profitability for forestry operations), where land-use history has been shorter and less intense than in the rest of Europe (Kulakowski et al. 2017). One of the largest continuous areas of forest cover in Europe occurs in the Carpathian Mountains, which harbors most of Europe's remaining temperate primary forests (Sabatini et al. 2018).

2.1.2. Natural disturbances and disturbance regimes

Disturbances are a key component of ecological systems and are the main drivers of spatial and temporal heterogeneity (Turner et al. 2010). Disturbance can be defined as any relatively discrete event that disrupts the structure of an ecosystem, community, or population, and changes resource availability or the physical environment (White & Pickett 1985). In origin, disturbances may be abiotic and biotic, or combination of the two. In contrast to a disturbance event, a disturbance regime refers to the spatial and temporal dynamics of disturbances over a longer period. It includes characteristics such as the spatial distribution of disturbances, disturbance frequency, return interval, and rotation period, and disturbance size, intensity, and severity (Turner 2010). Natural disturbances are one of the most important drivers of primary forest dynamics. Due to disturbance processes of various spatial and temporal scales, forest ecosystems are dynamic; their composition and structure are in a continuous state of change (Kraus & Krumm 2013). Disturbances can, for instance, alter the age structure of forest landscapes, favor early seral species, and change the developmental trajectories of forest ecosystems, with effects that can persist for centuries after a disturbance event (Frelich 2002, Nagel et al. 2014).

Primary forest ecosystems are characterized by natural disturbances such as wildfires, insect outbreaks or windstorms (White & Picket 1985). The intensity, frequency and severity of natural disturbances in primary forests have a major effect on the quantity and quality of available habitats (Lachat & Müller 2018). Large disturbance events in particular can result in high deadwood volumes, and a high diversity of substrate types regarding e.g. tree diameter, sun exposure or tree species, and specific resource types, such as charred wood after fire, uprooted trees after windthrows or rot holes and other microhabitats in over-mature trees (Siebold et al. 2016). This variety of resource types and heterogeneity of microhabitats is crucial and widely beneficial for deadwood-dependent - saproxylic - species. Thus, disturbances play an important role in maintaining biodiversity in temperate forest ecosystems by creating biological legacies, such as deadwood and senescent trees, and increasing understory light level (Hanson & Lorimer 2007, Woods 2004). The combination of small gaps dynamics associated with the breakdown of a single tree, and disturbances affecting several square kilometers has shaped forest over millennia, which in turn has shaped the communities of species (Gauthier et al. 2015). Through co-evolution and selection processes, forest species are preadapted to the natural prevailing disturbance regime typical for their respective forest biome (McPeek & Holt 1992).

The most important type of disturbance in the temperate forests of Central Europe are blowdowns connected with the direct disturbance of the canopy trees (Ulanova 2000, Schelhaas et al. 2003). Studies in primary and natural beech and mixed forests indicate that periodic intermediate-severity damage from wind disturbances (i.e. single events that cause stand-level damage ranging from scattered single tree falls to larger openings several thousand square meters in size) is an important component of the disturbance regime in this region (Nagel et al. 2014). Montane coniferous forests are even more susceptible to severe blowdown than broadleaved stands (Baker et al. 2002). Central European montane spruce forests are also subject to wind disturbances, often with the probability of ongoing bark-beetle outbreaks. Windthrows significantly affect the composition of both the herb layer and seedlings, and at the same time, they influence the spatial variability of the forest floor and the diversity of decomposer communities (Šamonil et al. 2009). Wind disturbances also have long-term effects on forest structural composition, for example on the secondary succession of vegetation, canopy closure and the deadwood amount and decay. Perforation of closed canopy forests by windthrow creates open gaps with large amounts of sun exposed deadwood and habitat heterogeneity in time and space which acts as a source of regional biodiversity in forest ecosystems (Bouget & Duelli 2004). Changes in abundance and distribution patterns of resources on macro- and micro-habitat scales affects the abundance and distribution of forest taxa (Müller et al. 2008).

Another common disturbance driver in the Central European landscape are bark beetle outbreaks (mostly caused by the European spruce bark beetle *Ips typhographus*). They often start after windthrow events, which provide large amounts of breeding material (Wermelinger 2004). Bark beetle outbreaks create substantial amounts of deadwood and open the canopy across large areas (Schroeder 2007). Healthy spruce trees are generally resistant to bark beetle attacks through their resin defenses. However, if the defense system of the tree is weakened by drought or some other stress factor, or if there are a sufficient amount of adults boring into the trunk at the same time, the resin pressure is not sufficient to force them out (Stokland et al. 2012). Studies from recent years pointed out the ecological value of bark beetle related disturbances (Müller et al. 2008, Müller et al. 2010), using the terms "ecosystem engineer" and "keystone" species, through their role in driving forest regeneration, producing deadwood and rich patchiness in forest canopies (Jonášová & Pracha 2004). Apart from providing these ecosystem services, the arthropod communities associated with *I. typographus* includes more than 140 species and they significantly contribute to regional biodiversity (Müller et al. 2008). Bark beetle outbreaks cause major changes in forest structure, light regime and increase the deadwood amount in montane spruce forests, and such ecosystems are among the most species rich ecosystems in central Europe (Bouget & Duelli 2004).

2.2 Forest structure and biological diversity

Forests are important for the conservation of biodiversity because they host a substantial part of the terrestrial biodiversity (Lindenmayer et al. 2006). Biological diversity usually relates positively to habitat heterogeneity (Huston 1994). In forest ecosystems, habitat heterogeneity arises when either stand composition or structure varies over time and space (Franklin & Van Pelt 2004) and the provision of habitats within a forest are largely related to their structural richness or complexity. Thus, forest structure is identified as a key determinant of biodiversity and many other ecosystem services (McElhinny et al. 2005, Paillet et al. 2018).

Measuring biodiversity is a key step in preventing its further losses. It has been observed that single taxonomic groups are poor indicators of overall forest biodiversity (Jokela et al. 2018). Besides the limited indicating quality, taxonomic measures to assess biodiversity may be time-consuming and highly subjective to the knowledge of the observer and thus difficult to reproduce and can introduce biases into biodiversity assessment (Regnery et al. 2013). Thus, to enhance the conservation of biodiversity the emphasis has changed from inventorying single-species to measuring structural elements that support forest taxa on different scales ranging from landscape

and stand-scale to fine-scale structures at the tree level (Ehbrecht et al. 2017, Paillet et al. 2018). Forest structural indicators of biodiversity use the relationship between habitat feature and the occurrence of forest-dwelling taxa instead (Lindenmayer et al. 2000, McElhinny et al. 2006). Several studies proposed using structure-based indicators such as deadwood, veteran trees or tree-related microhabitats (TreMs), (often called as old-growth forest attributes; Paillet et al. 2015) to assess biodiversity in forests (Winter & Möller 2008, Michel & Winter 2009). Such structural features are mostly legacies issued from natural disturbances and structural heterogeneity (Franklin et al. 2002), and thus are usually rare in managed forests.

2.2.1 Deadwood

Deadwood is a crucial element for biodiversity in forest ecosystems as the high amounts of nutrients, energy and habitat space formed by deadwood allowed a large number of species to evolve an association with deadwood including both saproxylic species (i.e. directly or indirectly dependent on dying or dead wood) and non-saproxylic species (Stokland et al. 2012). Besides this, deadwood also plays an important role in carbon sequestration and nutrient supply, and may also enhance natural regeneration, particularly in montane forests with perennial grasses.

In natural forest ecosystems, deadwood is frequently created by a complete or partial dieoff of senescent and old trees, or by natural disturbances which can affect single trees or complete stands (White & Pickett 1985). Such events largely determine the spatial and temporal dynamics of deadwood in both broadleaved and coniferous forests (Šamonil et al. 2009, Seidl et al. 2014). As forementioned, both senescence and natural disturbances can result in high deadwood volumes, a high diversity of substrate types regarding, e.g. tree diameter, sun exposure or tree species, and specific resource types, such as charred wood after fire, uprooted trees after windthrows or rot holes in over mature trees (Seibold et al. 2015). This variety of resource types is crucial as it represents a wide range of habitats for saproxylic species.

A high amount of deadwood under natural conditions not only leads to a larger diversity of substrates but also to a higher deadwood surface area. According to the island theory (MacArthur & Wilson 1967), we can expect higher species richness on sampling units with a larger surface. Similarly, forests with high amounts of deadwood will generally harbor more saproxylic species than forests with low amounts of deadwood (Kraus & Krumm 2013).

Primary forests are important in maintaining a diversity of deadwood types. Although forest harvesting creates pulses of deadwood and habitats that might be similar to those created by disturbance events, it is not only the volume of deadwood that differs between managed forests and

primary forests, but also the range of deadwood types. As proposed by Stokland et al. (2012), there are at least 4 important gradients of variation in deadwood types which needs to be considered:

- In primary forests, deadwood input is relatively continuous, guaranteeing the local presence of dead trees at all stages of decay. Although mortality rates vary depending on tree size and age (Fraver et al. 2008), primary forests tend to produce dead trees of all dimensions.
- 2. There are a variety of mortality agents involved in tree deaths, each providing specific types of substrates for saproxylic species.
- 3. These substrates then undergo a decay succession, with the different decay stages each hosting partly different communities of saproxylic beetles.
- 4. Primary forests often include a larger set of tree species compared with managed stands, which are often monocultures.

These four types of variation – tree size, substrate type, decay stage and tree species – constitute the main deadwood diversity gradients. They may be viewed as a multidimensional space that sets the available niches (Stokland et al. 2012).

Recent conservation strategies emphasize biodiversity-related structures such as deadwood (e.g. Stokland et al. 2012) for which thresholds (Müller & Bütler 2010) and references have been published (e.g. Christensen et al. 2005, Paillet et al. 2015, Vandekerkhove et al. 2009). For example, deadwood volume has been used as a structural indicator for forest biodiversity monitoring in most European forest inventory protocols during the previous decades (Tomppo et al. 2010). Clear definitions and survey methods for assessing deadwood allow comparative studies (e.g. Christensen et al. 2005, Vandekerkhove et al. 2009), inventories and analyses to be carried out in harmonized way (Rondeux et al. 2012).

2.2.2 Tree-related microhabitats

Among the scientifically-based indirect structural indicators, tree-related microhabitats (TreMs) have been gaining attention in the recent decades in research and management (e.g. Larrieu & Cabanettes 2012, Michel & Winter 2009, Regnery et al. 2013, Vuidot et al. 2011), and some countries have already implemented TreMs assessment in forest management to identify habitat trees for retention (e.g. Forst 2015, Santopuoli et al. 2019).

TreMs have several advantages in terms of measurements, because they are simple (no specialized knowledge is required) and quick to measure (approximately 3 min per tree), and they provide a reliable measure of ecological niches for numerous forest species related to old-growth attributes. However, the links between trees, stand characteristics and TreMs are still only partially

understood compared to other research areas related to biodiversity indicators (Michel & Winter 2009, Vuidot et al. 2011).

By definition, a TreM is a distinct, well-delineated structure occurring on living or standing dead trees, that constitutes a particular and essential substrate or life site for species or species communities during at least a part of their life cycle to develop, feed, shelter or breed. TreMs are specific above-ground tree morphological singularities which are not to be found on every tree. TreMs encompass both tree-originating modifications caused by biotic and abiotic impacts, such as intrusions, lesions and breakages, which expose sap and heartwood and initialize outgrowth structures and wood decay (saproxylic TreMs), as well as elements of external origin that are physically linked to the tree (epixylic TreMs). Although morphological singularities may also be observed on lying deadwood or roots, TreM are explicitly restricted to above-ground structures on standing trees, in order to avoid a too wide scope. Thus, this definition excludes features of lying deadwood such as root plates, pits and mounds and particular wood decay structures, as well as generic tree species-specific characteristics, such as rough bark on oak or larch, acid or alkaline bark conditions, in addition to peculiar tree growth forms (such as crooked, skewed or rotated trunks, low horizontal branching), resulting from specific abiotic conditions or hap-hazard growth (Larrieu et al. 2018).

Owing to their different origins, substrates, and positions on trees, TreMs represent an array of resources available for forest organisms and are of conservation relevance. TreMs strongly contribute to the internal heterogeneity of forest stands. They provide specific conditions, notably microclimatic conditions and substrates, where specialized taxa shelter, forage or breed. Therefore, there is a functional link between TreMs and species, ecological groups or guilds. In other words, TreMs constitute very small-scale habitats (or part of a habitat) for associated and specialized species or species assemblages (Larrieu et al. 2018, Michel & Winter 2009, Winter & Möller 2008). For example, dead branches are food source for saproxylic insects and fungi (Vanderwel et al. 2006). Cavities provide habitats for breeding birds, mammals, and invertebrates, and also lichens and bryophytes (Parsons et al. 2003, Ranius 2002). Many forest bats nest or roost behind cracked and loose bark. Other microhabitats, such as conks of fungi or ivy, are homes to insects and provide potential nesting and foraging sites for birds (Bässler et al. 2012). TreMs support a large food web and may have an important role in the functioning of forest ecosystems (Aitken & Martin 2007). Insect larvae or ants that live below the bark of recently dead trees constitute a non-negligible part of some birds' diet (Laiolo et al. 2004, Regnery et al. 2013). Some species linked to TreMs are also a major concern for biodiversity conservation, such as some saproxylic insects (e.g. Limoniscus

violaceus, Osmoderma eremita), birds (e.g. Dendrocopos leucotos) and bats (e.g. Barbastella barbastellus) (Regnery et al. 2013).

Some TreM types (e.g. mould cavities) harbor high species richness and host many different taxonomic groups, while some TreM types (e.g. dendrothelms) harbor few species belonging to only a few taxonomic groups. Nevertheless, conservation value cannot only be defined by the number of species using a given TreM type, but one should also consider the occurrence of species exclusively conditioned to a single TreM type (Stokland et al 2012). Some specific interactions between forest-dwelling species and TreM types are well known. For instance, the relationship between living TreMs such as wood decaying fungi and woodpeckers (Cockle et al. 2012) or between invertebrates and lichens (Pettersson et al. 1995). Non-living TreMs, such as rot holes and cavities, are often used by forest species including lichens, bryophytes, bats and birds (Fritz & Heilmann-Clausen 2010, Tillon & Aulagnier 2014, Wesołowski & Maziarz 2012).

In recent years, attention has focused on specific TreM characteristics such as diversity or abundance, and their ability to predict the characteristics of specific forest taxa. For instance, some studies have found that birds and bats species richness was positively related to TreM diversity (Paillet et al. 2018, Regnery et al. 2013), while invertebrates showed positive associations with specific TreMs like fruiting bodies of fungi or cavities (Friess et al. 2019, Paillet et al. 2018). More specifically, abundance of rot holes had a positive effect on the abundance of Sternorrhyncha and bats (genus *Pipistrellus*; Basile et al. 2020a). The positive effect of rot holes on threatened epiphytes and saproxylic insects has also been demonstrated (Fritz & Heilmann-Clausen 2010, Müller et al. 2014).

These correlations indicate that it may be possible to predict the abundance and/or diversity of specific forest organisms from the occurrence of specific TreMs, however, not much research on this topic has been conducted yet, and a lot of studied correlations was insignificant or rather weak. Weak association between TreM occurrence and certain taxa might be caused by the implementation of inadequate sampling methods, or by the fact that many species might not be influenced by TreM occurrence, but for certain species TreMs still represent a necessary substrate (Paillet et al. 2018).

A recently developed hierarchical approach to typology (Larrieu et al. 2018) identifies seven general TreM forms that share the same physiognomy and functional characteristics:

<u>Cavities</u> are holes or shelters formed in the wood either by cavity builders (e.g. woodpeckers, saproxylic insects), decay processes (rot hole), morphological particularities on the trunk or collar (e.g. dendrothelms in forks or root-buttress shelters). They provide buffered climatic conditions and nesting sites for a wide array of species, from arthropods

to large mammals. They can be subdivided into cavities in which the entrance is smaller than its interior diameter, and galleries and concavities if the entrance is of the same or greater width than the interior.

- 2. <u>Injuries</u> expose sapwood and sometimes also heartwood, allowing access for colonizing taxa. They are mainly created by mechanical impacts such as trunk or crown breakage from wind, ice or snow, but may also be caused by lightning strikes and frost, and occasionally by forest fires. Exposed wood and injuries may evolve to rot holes over time if the tree is not able to seal the wound.
- 3. <u>Crown deadwood</u> consists of dead branches which most often occur at the top of a tree; this often provides open xero-thermophilous conditions due to the location in the canopy. Crown deadwood may also take the form of large broken branches where a thick dead branch section still remains. Dead treetops, generally sun-lit, expose the heartwood and offer a transition between the living tree and deadwood.
- 4. <u>Excrescences</u> are mainly caused by reactive growth in response to increased light availability or to a parasitic or microbial intrusion where the tree creates specific structures to isolate the pathogen (e.g. canker, burr).
- 5. <u>Fungal fruiting bodies and slime moulds</u> are the visible part of saproxylic fungi (or fungilike organisms such as Myxomycetes) and are classified as perennial or ephemeral (lasting less than a year) structures.
- 6. <u>Epiphytic and epixylic structures encompass a wide variety of structures in which the tree</u> is merely the physical support on which the TreM grows or is located. These structures include different organisms growing on trees (cryptogams and phanerogams), vertebrate or invertebrate nests and also "perched" microsoils (developed from organic material such as leaves, bark, decaying bryophytes, etc.) either on the bark of a trunk, at fork intersections or on a flat area within the crown.
- 7. Exudates are sap runs or heavy resinosis.

At the tree scale, the link between TreM richness and/or diversity and tree characteristics (e.g. trunk diameter or tree vitality) has already been studied (Larrieu & Cabanettes 2012, Larrieu et al. 2014, Regnery et al. 2013, Paillet et al. 2019, Vuidot et al. 2011, Winter et al. 2015a, Winter & Möller 2008), and these tree characteristics have been shown as key factors for TreM presence and abundance. Larger trees are more likely to bear a TreM than smaller trees, as they have experienced more damages and microhabitats-creating events (e.g. woodpecker excavation, storms, snowfalls). Similarly, dead trees are more likely to bear more TreMs than living trees, due

to the decomposition process and their role as habitat and food source for many microhabitat creating species (Stokland et al. 2012). In some cases, dead trees can bear up to 50 percent more TreMs than their living counterparts (Paillet et al. 2019), with increased numbers of individual types, such as woodpecker feeding holes or bark characteristics. However, the increased number of TreMs on dead trees varies across studied regions, from 1.2 times more TreMs in Mediterranean forests (Regnery et al. 2013), 1.3 times to 2 times more in French forests (Vuidot et al. 2011, Paillet et al. 2019) to 4 times more on habitat trees in south-western Germany (Johann & Schaich 2016). As living trees also bear microhabitats, many of them persist when the tree dies and continue to evolve, or even facilitate the development of other microhabitats linked with decay processes (Stokland et al. 2012). Injuries caused by logging, rockfall, treefall or branch break slowly rot and evolve into decayed cavities (Gouix & Brustel 2012, Larrieu et al. 2018) and these successions explain why these microhabitats are more numerous on dead trees. However, there are exceptions; epiphytes and forks with accumulated organic matter tend to be more numerous on living trees. Ivy, mosses and lichens benefit from bark characteristics and conditions which are likely to occur only on living trees (e.g. pH, Mežaka & Brumelis 2012). Moreover, epiphytes require a relative stable substrate to grow or anchor, especially when they have slow growth rates like some species of mosses or lichens (Ódor et al. 2014) and such a property is lost when tree dies; bark loosen and falls more rapidly than on living trees. Therefore, decay processes linked to tree death favors microhabitats that are linked to mortality (saproxylic TreMs) and disfavors those that are not linked to such phenomena (i.e. epixylic TreMs; Larrieu et al. 2018)

Larger (living) trees sometimes have a longer lifespan than smaller ones, and are consequently more prone to damages due to meteorological events (storms, snowfall), natural hazards (rockfalls) or attacks and use by a different tree- and wood-dependent species (woodpeckers, beetles, fungi; e.g. Bobiec 2002, Vuidot et al. 2011). For instance, dead branches are more prone to occur on large trees than smaller ones, as larger trees have more and often larger branches which are likely to die from competition with neighbors, especially broadleaves (Bouget et al. 2011). Cavity birds and bats are known to preferentially choose larger trees to nest or roost (Remm & Löhmus 2011, Tillon et al. 2016), since larger wood width around a cavity provides buffered and more stable conditions (Scheffers et al. 2014). The number and occurrence of TreMs also increases with diameter and sometimes at a higher rate for living trees than for their dead counterparts (Paillet et al. 2019).

Some studies at the plot scale investigated how TreM profiles are affected by the establishment of forest reserves, and by the time since management abandonment (e.g. Winter et al. 2005, Bouget et al. 2014, Larrieu et al. 2012, Paillet et al. 2017). There is a general trend towards

higher densities of TreMs in strict reserves and when forests have been left unmanaged for a long time. For instance, Paillet et al. (2017) showed that the overall density of TreMs at the plot level was higher in strict forest reserves than in their managed counterparts, and that the magnitude of this difference varied with elevation. Moreover, Larrieu et al. (2012) found that despite a lower TreM diversity in managed forests, a number of certain TreM types (dendrothelms and missing bark) were favored by logging. To confirm these findings, reference studies in the rare primary temperate forests in Europe or elsewhere, are much needed (Larrieu et al. 2018). Studying primary forest remnants can also help to understand the spatial distribution of TreMs under natural conditions.

The study of TreM occurrence on a larger spatial scale (e.g. stand scale) is also important, since that is usually the scale on which silvicultural management occurs. Several TreMs - as well as any biotic agents that possibly create them - might depend on specific conditions influenced by the proportion of forest cover and its maturity in the surrounding landscape (Asbeck et al. 2019). One study found that on the stand scale, the abundance of TreMs increased with higher altitudes, and DBH was observed to positively influence not only the abundance but diversity of TreMs as well. Whilst a higher abundance of TreMs was observed in mono-dominated coniferous stands, TreM diversity was higher in mixed forests (Asbeck et al. 2019).

2.2.3 Saproxylic beetles

Deadwood is a key component for biodiversity in forest ecosystems as the high amount of nutrients, energy and habitat space provided by deadwood allowed many species to evolve an association with deadwood (Seibold 2015). Species dependent on deadwood are called saproxylic species (Speight et al. 1989), with this dependence being direct (obligatory) or indirect (facultative). Saproxylic organisms are species that depend on the phloem or wood of wounded, dying, or dead woody plants during some parts of their life cycle (Speight 1989, Alexander 2008, Stokland et al. 2012).

Saproxylic beetles are one of three diverse insect orders associated with deadwood representing about 30% of the total biodiversity in the temperate forests, and are one of the best studied taxa associated with deadwood (Grove 2002). In Central Europe, about 50% of all forest beetles are associated with deadwood (Seibold 2015). Habitat preferences of saproxylic beetle species differ between deadwood of different tree species, decay stages, wood diameter classes, microclimatic conditions and other deadwood criteria (Ulyshen & Hanula 2009, Gossner et al. 2013). Saproxylic beetles comprise a wide range of different functional groups including phloemand wood-feeders, fungivores, predators or detritivorous species, and are thus involved in different

ecosystem processes related to deadwood, such as wood decomposition, nutrient cycling and carbon sequestration (Seibold 2015). Due to their taxonomic and trophic diversity and sensitivity regarding deadwood quality and quantity, saproxylic beetles are considered indicators for forest habitat changes, naturalness and biodiversity (Siitonen 2001, Hjältén et al. 2012, Lachat & Müller 2018). Since deadwood is a resource patchily distributed and variable in time, saproxylic populations face variation in the availability of this resource driven by the dynamic mosaic of forest heterogeneity (Jonsson et al. 2005). Many saproxylic beetles are highly specialized to certain resource types or stages of wood decay (Stokland et al. 2012). For those species, the required type of deadwood represents an ephemeral habitat and its colonization requires high tracking and dispersal abilities (Ranius et al. 2011). Many saproxylic beetles can track deadwood, which is a spatio-temporally dynamic habitat (Seibold et al. 2017). Thus, many species can disperse over long distances as they are naturally adapted to search for their ephemeral resources, and even flightless species can disperse further than expected (Komonen & Müller 2018, De Gasperis et al. 2016). However, lower dispersal capacity was detected for red-listed species, which underlines the higher sensitivity of such species to fragmentation (Brunet & Isacsson 2009). Particularly specialized species with low mobility, such as some associated with tree cavities, might be sensitive to an interruption of habitat continuity because they are not able to find an alternative habitat within their distribution range at the right time (Ranius & Hedin 2001). Thus, not only spatial continuity but also temporal continuity of deadwood and senescent tree structures, such as TreMs, are important factors influencing saproxylic beetle communities.

At the local scale, habitat quality for saproxylic beetles is related to abiotic conditions (e.g. moisture and temperature conditions related to canopy closure) and available resources (Bouget et al. 2013). Resources not only include deadwood substrates, but also more cryptic biological legacies such as TreMs. The density and/or diversity of resources may underlie the resource-biodiversity relationship. Forest stands with a wider range of resources and/or higher density of substrates may be able to support a larger number of species due to demographic, stochastic and dispersal processes affecting local population dynamics (Päivinen et al. 2003).

3. Aims and overview of the dissertation thesis

Understanding the effects of historical disturbances and forest structure on biodiversity is crucial for the conservation and suitable management of forest ecosystems. Based on the data from up to 500 permanent study plots located across primary spruce and mixed forest landscapes, we aim to enhance our knowledge of interactions between historical disturbance regimes, current forest structure and local biodiversity indicators. In particular, this dissertation thesis aims to evaluate the effects of historical natural disturbances and forest structure across primary forest landscapes on saproxylic beetles and TreMs. As aforementioned, saproxylic beetles are a diverse group of forest invertebrates, representing a major component of biodiversity that is associated with the decomposition and cycling of wood nutrients and carbon in forest ecosystems. TreMs are important structural features for the conservation of biodiversity, as they represent important substrates or life sites for species or communities to develop, feed, shelter or breed. Studies from primary forests are important reference baselines for forest management practices as they represent ultimate intact ecosystems, thus our results may serve as a guidance for forest management and conservationists in order to promote biodiversity in temperate forest ecosystems.

Particular aims of the thesis are to:

- Investigate the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on the taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of current saproxylic beetle communities (Section 5.1)
- 2. Characterize the TreM profile and evaluate the importance of local plot structure and spatial variability for TreM density and diversity (Section 5.2)
- 3. Compare the TreM richness of primary and managed forests on a tree level (Section 5.3)
- 4. Evaluate the effect of tree age, diameter and other tree characteristics on TreM abundance and richness (Section 5.4)

4. Methods

4.1 Study area

This dissertation was realized within the REMOTE primary forests project (REsearch on MOuntain TEmperate forests; www.remoteforests.org). The project is a long-term international collaboration based on a network of permanent sample plots in the forests of Central, Eastern and Southeastern Europe. We refer to primary forest as a forest without signs of direct human impact, and where natural disturbances are the primary driver of forest structure and composition. These forests not only include old growth, but also the early seral stages of development.

The thesis was based on research carried out in two distinct regions: the Carpathian and Dinaric mountains. The Carpathian Mountains (hereafter Carpathians) span over 220 400 km² and they represent the second largest mountain range in Europe, stretching across eight European countries: Romania, Ukraine, Slovakia, Austria, Czech Republic, Poland, Hungary and Serbia. For a long time, forests in the Carpathians were protected from human influence due to their remote location and poor accessibility. Surrounding lowland forests - as well as forests located at lower elevations of the Carpathians - were cleared because of their suitability for human settlement and agriculture. This process took place in different regions of the Carpathians in various historical periods but mainly throughout the Middle Ages (between 500 and 1500 AD). The mountain forests located deep within steep valleys and on the ridges remained mainly intact at that time. Until a few decades ago, a relatively continuous mountain forest cover was maintained in the Romanian and Ukrainian (and partly also Slovakian) regions of the Carpathians because it was still not operationally or economically viable to conduct logging in these forests. Recently, however, due to the introduction of modern harvesting technologies, widespread destruction of many previously undisturbed sites has occurred across the Carpathians. As a result, primary forests are currently relatively rare in the Carpathians and they make up only a small proportion of the total forest cover. Despite their scarcity, the size of primary forests is still decreasing, mainly due the unawareness of their exact location (imprecise mapping) and the lack of effective protection measures. Our research in the Carpathians focuses on mixed beech-dominated and spruce forests, with more detailed description provided in Sections 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4.

The Dinaric Mountains are approximately 700 km in length and 200 km in width; they range from the northwestern to the southeastern areas of the western Balkan Peninsula. The mountains are known for karst areas where a significant part of the mountains was formed by carbonate rocks (e.g., limestone) precipitously shaped by water. Although now the area is quite bleak, it was originally covered by forests. The Western Balkans have historically been a strategic location, even as far back as antiquity – important trade routes used to cross the land and several

powerful states intersected there. The colonization and related deforestation in the region began around 6000 - 6500 BC. The original forests had undergone extraction and burning for settlement foundations, pasture, and metal mining (particularly iron). Ship construction was one of the main reasons for the disappearance of forests along coastal shores. We can trace the first attempts to protect these valuable forests back to the 12th century, but the measures were largely ineffective. Significant achievements in protecting and restoring forests occurred in the 19th century. However, the original forests have already been destroyed or at least completely changed since that time. The last of the true primary forests are scattered in the most isolated places throughout the Dinaric Mountains. It has been a long time since the forests formed continuous complexes, only residues are preserved nowadays. The forests are predominantly beech-fir forests, of which the largest and most famous are Peručica in Bosnia and Herzegovina (1434 ha) and Biogradska Gora (about 1600 ha) in Montenegro. Nowadays, there are even larger areas of critical forests unknown to the general population. Those areas are usually found outside protected areas, or they are poorly protected, and therefore in danger of deforestation. Our research in the Dinaric Mountains focused on mixed beech-dominated forests with detailed description provided in chapter 5.2.

4.2 Data collection and analysis

Data collection and analysis was the specific goal. The Western Carpathians were used as a study area within scope of goal 4.2.1. The study was carried out in the Dinaric Mountains and the Carpathians for the goal 4.2.2, and the Carpathians (Western and Southern) were chosen as an area of interest for the goal 4.2.3 and 4.2.4 (together with the data from Black forest) of the dissertation thesis.

4.2.1 Investigate the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of current saproxylic beetle communities

For this goal, the study region was restricted to primary forests in the Slovakian portion of the Western Carpathian Mountains. Field data were collected to describe disturbance history, forest structure, associated habitat characteristics, and beetle community demography. All data were collected within 0.1 ha circular plots (N = 57) with a minimum distance between selected plots of 300 m. Disturbance history was reconstructed using increment cores collected from the plot network and it described approximately a 250-year long record of disturbance history encompassing the study plots. These chronologies were derived from analyses of temporal patterns in interannual tree growth. Growth variation was quantified from measurements of annual radial

increments in tree core samples. Disturbance events were reconstructed based on an assumption that disturbance processes affect levels of neighborhood competition and resource supply, and hence, growth responses in extant individuals (Svoboda et al. 2014). We used a reconstructed time series (Janda et al. 2017) of event occurrences and their associated severity estimates and derived a total of six disturbance-based metrics: time since maximum disturbance, severity of the maximum disturbance, time since last disturbance, severity of the last disturbance, disturbance frequency, and disturbance index (for a detailed description, see Table 1 in Section 5.1). To quantify and classify the forest structure, we collected comprehensive inventory data of 15 explanatory variables: mean tree age, deadwood root mean square (RMS) of the diameter at breast height (DBH), standing deadwood volume, TreM diversity, TreM density, mean canopy openness, Gini index of canopy openness, logs volume decay stage 1-5, logs volume, total deadwood volume (for a detailed description, see Table 1 in Section 5.1). We sampled the current saproxylic beetle populations in each survey plot using insect traps to characterize the taxonomic composition and species richness of local communities. For this purpose, we used flight intercept (window) traps to collect beetle specimens. Traps were installed continuously from May to September 2017 and emptied monthly. The taxonomic identity of all beetle specimens was determined to species level, excluding specimens in the family Staphylinidae, which were omitted from further analyses (Parmain et al. 2015). After the taxonomical classification of the remaining specimens, individual species were aggregated into four separate, non-mutually exclusive subgroups comprised of: (1) all taxa; (2) species only associated with coniferous trees; (3) endangered or red-listed species as classified by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN 2019); and (4) species that are both redlisted and conifer-tree specialists. To quantify the range of compositional (taxonomic) as well as functional and phylogenetic metrics we selected various standard diversity indices from the ecological literature, namely: overall abundance, species richness, Shannon diversity (Jost 2006), functional and phylogenetic diversity. We used the trap data to compute each of the selected diversity indices at a plot scale for each of the previously described species subgroups. Since sample sizes for beetle trap collections varied substantially among plots (N = 5-705individuals/plot), we standardized all trap data before calculating diversity indices following protocols associated with a unified framework for extrapolation and rarefaction based on an effective number of species (Hill numbers; Chao and others 2014). The trap data of a plot were standardized based on the overall mean per plot sample size. We calculated functional and phylogenetic diversity (see Section 5.1 for full description), both based on proxy information, using the following approaches: (1) We acquired selected key ecological traits data to estimate the relative distribution of species in a composite traits or niche space and used species-specific mean niche positions within this construct to quantify an associated trait or functional diversity index; and (2) we compiled data describing phylogenetic relationships between surveyed beetle taxa and computed a diversity index based on the overall complexity and depth of the derived evolutionary tree. To test our hypotheses, we formulated a suite of linear mixed-effect models (LMMs) to quantify community responses in terms of the range of previously described indices of diversity, including the tree taxonomic-based measures, functional and phylogenetic diversity. Disturbance parameters were used as explanatory variables to estimate their direct effects on both forest structure (habitat) and, in an alternate model, beetle diversity. Additional models were formulated to estimate the effects of habitat on beetle diversity. Forest stands were treated as random effects in all models to account for the hierarchical nature of the sampling design (see Figure 1 in Section 5.1). To compare the relative importance of significant variables retained in the final LMMs, we calculated standardized regression coefficients and their 95% parametric bootstrap confidence intervals. Marginal (R_m^2) and conditional (R_c^2) determination coefficients were calculated for the final LMMs to quantify the proportion of the total variance explained by the fixed effects and by both fixed and random effects, respectively (Nakagawa et al. 2017). To further explore evidence for potential synergies or interactions between processes that shape current beetle communities, associations between disturbance effects and habitat condition, and relationships between habitat effects and beetle diversity, were integrated in a network of confirmatory path analysis (Shipley 2009).

4.2.2 Characterize the TreM profile and evaluate the importance of local plot structure and spatial variability for TreM density and diversity

For the second goal, we selected four primary European beech-dominated mountain forests from both regions – the Carpathian and Dinaric Mountains. Stands from the Carpathian Mountains spanned Slovakia and Romania, and those from the Dinaric Mountains were located in Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Albania. There are broad environmental differences between the study sites that are pointed out in Table 1 in Section 5.2. We established 146 permanent sample plots nested within 73 pairs of plots across 8 forest stands. For each tree (with a DBH \geq 6 cm), the status of all trees (live or snag), tree species. For all study plots, each tree, including stem and crown, was visually inspected for TreMs by two observers. Based on the typology of Vuidot et al. (2011), we created a list of 30 TreM types that we used to classify TreMs on our plots. All living trees with a DBH \geq 6 cm and snags located within the plots were searched for presence of TreMs (see Appendix 2 in Section 5.2 for the complete list of all observed TreM types); we surveyed 13 640 living trees and snags in total. We arranged the TreM types into 12 groups for further analysis according to Paillet et al. (2017): crown deadwood, broken tops, conks of fungi, woodpecker cavities, non-woodpecker cavities, base cavities, bark characteristics, cracks, outgrowths, patches with exudates, epiphytes, and dendrothelms. All TreMs were surveyed in 2015 and 2016 during the period of June to September. We quantified diversity and density measures of TreMs for each sample plot. To reflect the diversity of TreM types, diversity was defined in terms of the number of TreM types occurring within the plots. Alpha diversity was defined as the average number of TreM types per tree in a given plot. Because the number of trees varied widely among plots (27-277 trees per plot), gamma diversity was calculated as the total number of TreM types per plot standardized by rarefaction to a common abundance level (N = 27 trees), to ensure comparability across plots (Chao et al. 2014). To identify TreM densities, we used the index proposed by Paillet et al. (2017), i.e. the density of TreM-bearing trees, which allowed us to compare the results with other studies that used the same indices. Density of TreMs was quantified as the sum of TreMbearing trees extrapolated to one hectare (Paillet et al. 2017). To determine the number of trees per plot bearing a given TreM type, each TreM type found on a tree was counted only once, even if it was present in greater numbers. Diversity and density measures were also calculated for several broad groups of TreM types (see Table 2 in the Section 5.2), in which case the density defines the density of trees bearing a particular TreM type. Generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used to assess the effect of local plot structure and spatial variability on the diversity and density characteristics of TreMs. Fixed effects included tree species richness (i.e., total number of tree species per plot), RMS DBH (root mean square diameter of trees at breast height in a given plot), proportion of snags (proportion of snags per plot versus total number of trees), and region (Dinarides and Carpathians). The random effects structure mirrored the spatial hierarchical nature of the sampling design, including plots nested within pairs of plots, which were nested within stands nested within regions. To compare the relative importance of the fixed effects, we calculated semi-partial marginal determination coefficients (R_m^2 ; Nakagawa et al. 2017) derived from a commonality analysis (Ray-Mukherjee et al. 2014). The intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) were used to quantify the proportion of variance explained by each of the hierarchical spatial levels.

4.2.3 Compare the TreM richness of primary and managed forests on a tree level

For this goal, we used the data from the managed forests placed in one-hectare forest plots located on state land in the Black Forest region, Germany. The plot selection followed a landscape gradient of forest cover in the 25 km² surrounding the plots and a gradient of structural complexity indicated by the number of standing dead trees per plot (see Storch et al. 2020). We selected a subset of plots that were managed for timber production and excluded strict protected ones

mentioned in Asbeck et al. 2019. We recorded the position of all inventoried trees, their DBH, species identity and TreMs in the snow-free and leaf-free period between fall 2016 and spring 2017. We collected additional data, including altitude and latitude per tree with the use of hand-held tablets.

For the primary forests, we collected the data in mixed forests of the Western (Slovakia, 210 plots) and Southern Carpathians (Romania, 190 plots). All data were collected within 0.15 ha circular plots randomly distributed across various environmental gradients. Across the primary forest plots, we recorded the positions of all living, adult trees (≥ 6 cm DBH), their DBH, species identity and TreM profile based on the methodology by Larrieu et al. (2018) during the vegetation season in 2018 and 2019. Altitude and latitude were measured at the center of the plot.

To decrease the observer effect (Paillet et al. 2015), inventories were carried out by the same team within each location. Three observers in the Black forests and two in the Carpathian region visually inspected the TreMs following the same hierarchical typology (Larrieu et al. 2018).

Since data for dead trees was not available for the Black Forest, we focused only on a comparison of living trees. We calculated the overall richness as the sum of different TreM groups per living tree. To model the richness as well as the groups of TreMs per living tree, we used generalized linear mixed effect models (GLMMs).

In combination with management, we tested the effects of the following covariates tree species, DBH, altitude and latitude on the overall richness and richness of Trem groups on individual living trees. These covariates were selected as they have previously been found to drive the richness and number of groups of TreMs per tree (Kozák et al. 2018, Asbeck et al. 2019). Tree DBH as well as species identity were included in the GLMMs as predictors. In addition to the three tree species, Norway spruce (Picea abies, L.), European beech (Fagus sylvatica, L.) and silver fir (Abies alba, Mill.), we included altitude and latitude as site factors as we have datasets from two different geographic regions. To prevent autocorrelation of trees within the same plot that might have more similar characteristics than individuals in different plots (Dormann 2013) we included plot-identity as a random factor. The computation of models was performed in R (R Core Team 2016). Since the richness data for TreMs were of count type, we built models with the glmmTMB function of the glmmTMB package (Brooks et al. 2017) with a negative binomial distribution due to overdispersion. To test for under- and overdispersion as well as zero-inflation models, we used the DHARMa package (Hartig 2018). Because of the large number of living trees that did not bear TreMs, there were signs of zero-inflation; however, models did not improve when considering this. We checked for correlations between the predictors in the final models by computing the variance inflation factors with the performance package (Lüdecke et al. 2020). Prior to running the models,

we adjusted the continuous predictors due to the different scales using the default setting of the scale function in R, which calculates the mean and the standard deviation of the predictor and then scales each element by those values by subtraction of the mean and dividing by the standard deviation. We used the ggpredict function of the ggeffects package for plotting, which sets all other predictors, except the one for which the effect is shown, to the same value (Lüdecke et al. 2018).

4.2.4 Evaluate the effect of tree age, diameter and other tree characteristics on TreM abundance and richness

Within this particular goal of the dissertation thesis, we selected 379 primary European mixed-beech (n = 133) and spruce (n = 246) mountain forest plots in the Slovakian and Romanian parts of the Carpathian Mountains. Due to possible differences in topography and climatic conditions within the two studied forest types, which can not only influence the growth of the studied tree species, but also the occurrence and diversity of certain TreM types (Asbeck et al. 2019, Paillet et al. 2019), we divided our data in two subsets based on the forest type (mixed-beech and spruce). Field data were collected to describe tree and associated TreM characteristics. All data were collected within 0.1 ha circular plots on spruce dominated plots, and 0.15 ha on mixed beechdominated plots. Firstly, we identified the coarse structure of plots by precisely mapping all standing trees using laser rangefinder and customized software (Field-map; Monitoring and Mapping Solutions, Jílové u Prahy, Czech Republic). As diameter of the tree has been recognized as important factor of TreM occurrence (Paillet et al. 2019), we measured the size (diameter at breast height, DBH) of all adult (≥ 6 cm DBH) trees, and determined ages for a subset of canopy trees (N = 15-30) based on increment core samples. Tree cores were randomly selected from individual trees contributing to canopy cover (Lorimer & Frelich 1989). These are individuals exhibiting potentially large variation in size and age, but with fully exposed canopies. Then, we identified occurrences of 47 distinct TreM types on all live trees based on the methodology by Larrieu et al. (2018) and particular types were pooled to TreM forms described by the same methodology. All trees were determined to species level. Due to the minor occurrences of other tree species in the dataset, we only used four major tree species in the analyses, namely: Norway spruce, European beech, silver fir and sycamore maple. The trees which were not cored - and therefore, without information about their age - were excluded from the final dataset. Cores were dried in the laboratory and cut by a core microtone (Gärtner & Nievergelt, 2010), crossdated and measured following standard dendrochronological methods (Stokes & Smiley, 1968). Annual rings were measured to the nearest 0.1 mm using a stereomicroscope and a LintabTM sliding-stage measuring device in conjunction with TSAP-WINTM software (http://www.rinntech.ds). Cores

were first visually cross-dated using the marker year approach (Yamaguchi 1991), verified with PAST4TM software (www.sciem.com), and then confirmed with COFECHATM software (Holmes 1983).

For the evaluation of the relative influence of the predictor variables (tree age, DBH, species, growth and region), we used Boosted Regression Trees (BRT, Elith et al. 2008). The measures are based on the number of times a variable is selected for splitting, weighted by the squared improvement to the model as a result of each split, and averaged over all trees (Friedmann & Meulman 2003). The relative influence (or contribution) of each variable is scaled so that the sum adds to 100, with higher numbers indicating stronger influence on the response. We fitted a BRT model using the function *gbm.step* from the *dismo* package (Hijmans et al. 2017) with the following parameters: tree complexity = 5, learning rate = 0.005, bag fraction = 0.5 (Elith et al. 2008). We repeated the same procedure for both the spruce and the beech datasets.

We used age and DBH as explanatory variables, since DBH is recognized as one of the most important factors influencing TreM occurrence and richness, and often has a relationship with tree age. As our study focused on tree level analyses, we did not include plot characteristics such as topography, climate and disturbance regime in the model. However, to account for the possible differences between study locations, we used region as an additional explanatory variable. As certain TreMs are known to differ between tree species, we used tree species as a categorical explanatory variable with four factors (beech, spruce, fir, maple) but we excluded tree species from models of spruce dataset, since there were very few tree species present other than spruce. We modelled the abundance, TreM richness and richness of TreM groups as a response variable with generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs). To prevent autocorrelation of trees within the same plot that might have more similar characteristics than trees in different plots, we included hierarchical spatial design of our study (plots nested in stands) as a random effect. Since the abundance and richness of TreMs are counts, we built models with the glmmTMB function from glmmTMB package (Brooks et al. 2017) with a Conway-Maxwell Poisson distribution because there were signs of underdispersion and zero-inflation. Additionally, we used a binomial distribution for models of the TreM groups richness which comprised of only presence and absence of one specific TreM (TreM groups such as insect galleries, twig tangles, perennial fungi). We scaled the continuous predictors using the default setting of the scale function in R. We used a stepwise model selection to select the best model using Akaike information criterion (AIC). All statistical analysis took place in R (R Core Team 2016).

5 Results

The dissertation thesis consists of two published manuscripts, one submitted manuscript and one soon-to-be submitted manuscript. The first part focuses on the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on current saproxylic beetle communities (Section 5.1). The second part aims to evaluate the TreM profile across the European primary beech-dominated forests (Section 5.2). The third part presents a comparison of TreM richness in primary and managed forests (Section 5.3), and the fourth part focuses on disentangling the effect of tree age and other tree characteristics on TreM abundance and diversity (Section 5.4)

5.1 Historical disturbances determine current taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of saproxylic beetle communities in temperate primary forests

Published as:

Kozák, D., Svitok, M., Wiezik, M., Mikoláš, M., Thorn, S., Buechling, A., Hofmeister, J.
Matula, R., Trotsiuk, V., Bače, R., Begovič, K., Čada, V., Dušátko, M., Frankovič, M., Horák, J.,
Janda, P., Kameniar, O., Nagel, T.A., Pettit, J.L., Pettit, J.M., Synek, M., Wieziková, A., Svoboda,
M. (2020). Historical Disturbances Determine Current Taxonomic, Functional and Phylogenetic
Diversity of Saproxylic Beetle Communities in Temperate Primary Forests. *Ecosystems*, 1-19.

Historical Disturbances Determine Current Taxonomic, Functional and Phylogenetic Diversity of Saproxylic Beetle Communities in Temperate Primary Forests

Daniel Kozák,¹* Marek Svitok,^{2,3} Michal Wiezik,² Martin Mikoláš,¹ Simon Thorn,⁴ Arne Buechling,¹ Jeňýk Hofmeister,¹ Radim Matula,¹ Volodymyr Trotsiuk,^{1,5} Radek Bače,¹ Krešimir Begovič,¹ Vojtěch Čada,¹ Martin Dušátko,¹ Michal Frankovič,¹ Jakub Horák,⁶ Pavel Janda,¹ Ondrej Kameniar,¹ Thomas A. Nagel,^{1,7} Joseph L. Pettit,¹ Jessika M. Pettit,¹ Michal Synek,¹ Adela Wieziková,² and Miroslav Svoboda¹

¹Department of Forest Ecology, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcka 129, 165 21 Prague, Czech Republic; ²Faculty of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Technical University in Zvolen, T.G. Masaryka 24, 960 01 Zvolen, Slovakia; ³Department of Ecosystem Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská 1760, 370 05 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic; ⁴Field Station Fabrikschelichach, Biocenter, University of Würzburg, Glashüttenstraße 5, 96181 Rauhenebrach, Germany; ⁵Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research WSL, Zürcherstrasse 111, 8903 Birmensdorf, Switzerland; ⁶Department of Forest Protection and Entomology, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcka 129, 165 21 Prague, Czech Republic; ⁷Department of Forestry and Renewable Forest Resources, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Abstract

The expected future intensification of forest disturbance as a consequence of ongoing anthropogenic climate change highlights the urgent need to more robustly quantify associated biotic responses. Saproxylic beetles are a diverse group of

*Corresponding author; e-mail: kozakdaniel12@gmail.com

forest invertebrates representing a major component of biodiversity that is associated with the decomposition and cycling of wood nutrients and carbon in forest ecosystems. Disturbance-induced declines or shifts in their diversity indicate the loss of key ecological and/or morphological species traits that could change ecosystem functioning. Functional and phylogenetic diversity of biological communities is commonly used to link species communities to ecosystem functions. However, our knowledge on how disturbance intensity alters functional and phylogenetic diversity of saproxylic beetles is incomplete. Here, we analyzed the main drivers of saproxylic beetle abundance and diversity using a comprehensive dataset from montane primary forests in Europe. We investigated cascading relationships between 250 years of historical

Received 12 November 2019; accepted 22 March 2020

Electronic supplementary material: The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-020-00502-x) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Authors Contributions: DK, MM, MW, ST, MSvi, MSvo, JHor conceived the ideas and designed study. DK, MW, MM, PJ, RB, VČ, VT, OK, AW, MSy, MD and MF contributed to and organized data collection. MSvi, ST, DK analyzed the data. DK, ST, AB, MM, TAN, JLP, JMP, JHof, RM led the writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed critically to the study and gave final approval for publication.
disturbance mechanisms, forest structural attributes and the taxonomic, phylogenetic and functional diversity of present-day beetle communities. Our analyses revealed that historical disturbances have significant effects on current beetle communities. Contrary to our expectations, different aspects of beetle communities, that is, abundance, taxonomic, phylogenetic and functional diversity, responded to different disturbance regime components. Past disturbance frequency was the most important component influencing saproxylic beetle communities and habitat via multiple temporal and spatial pathways. The quantity of deadwood and its diameter positively influenced saproxylic beetle abundance and functional diversity, whereas phylogenetic diversity was positively influenced by canopy openness. Analyzing historical disturbances, we observed that current beetle diversity is far from static, such that the importance of various drivers might change during further successional development. Only forest landscapes that are large enough to allow for the full range of temporal and spatial patterns of disturbances and post-disturbance development will enable long-term species coexistence and their associated ecosystem functions.

Key words: Disturbance processes; Climate change; Ecological traits; Phylogenetic diversity; Primary forest; Carpathians; Coleoptera.

HIGHLIGHTS

- Disturbance history determines current beetle diversity
- Deadwood amount and canopy openness play key roles
- Diversity measures respond to different disturbance characteristics
- Disturbance effects are diverse across temporal scales

INTRODUCTION

Anthropogenic climate change is expected to have substantial effects on future disturbance frequency and severity in Europe (Seidl and others 2011). The frequency, size and severity of disturbances are expected to increase with climate warming. Changes in disturbance regimes have the potential for both positive and negative effects on forest biodiversity and associated ecosystem function varying by species and their habitat preferences (Thom and others 2017). Scenarios may arise in which forest stands are impacted by multiple contemporaneous or synchronous events such as windthrows and subsequent insect outbreaks (Kulakowski and others 2011). The intensification and potential interaction of future disturbance processes highlights a critical need to better understand associated biotic responses, particularly relationships between species diversity and ecosystem functions (Loreau and others 2001; Thom and Seidl 2016).

Mixed-severity disturbances, characterized by substantial heterogeneity in frequency, size and severity, are predominant in temperate forest ecosystems of Europe (Nagel and others 2014). These processes strongly influence the physical attributes, light environment and associated species composition of forest ecosystems (Hanson and Lorimer 2007). Disturbances create key elements of forest structural complexity, such as canopy gaps, snags, habitat trees and forest-floor deadwood, which in turn provide a range of habitat substrates for specialized organisms including saproxylic insects (Lachat and others 2016). However, the abundance, distribution and persistence of these habitat features, often referred to as legacies of disturbance, are not static but continuously shaped by ongoing successional processes. A complex interplay of disturbance and succession generates an array of habitat conditions that may potentially support a diverse assemblage of invertebrate fauna ranging from early successional species adapted to high-light conditions (Franklin and others 2000) to late-successional, shade-tolerant taxa (Spies and others 2006).

Saproxylic beetle species are a functionally vital constituent of forest invertebrate communities. Many indicator species, due to their obligate and highly specified associations with particular substrate types (Grove 2002), and endangered taxa are only found in primary, unmanaged forests (Lachat and Müller 2018) suggesting a dependence on structural legacies created by intermittent disturbance events. Saproxylic species are, by definition, associated with decay processes and are thus dependent on the availability of deadwood (Alexander 2008). However, the assemblage of saproxylic beetle species at a given site varies according to the physical characteristics of available wood substrates, including size, density, volume and their spatial distribution (Lassauce and others 2011; Stokland and others 2012; Lachat and others 2016). Further, beetle species are differentially adapted to utilize deadwood in varying stages of decomposition (Ulyshen and Hanula 2009; Stokland and others 2012). They are additionally segregated by variation in understory light availability (Lindhe and others 2005). This divergence in habitat preferences indicates that beetle communities are dynamic, changing with stand age and the length of disturbance intervals.

Saproxylic beetle populations make up an important component of trophic food webs and provide an array of essential ecosystem functions including organic matter decomposition and nutrient cycling (Stokland and others 2012). As a consequence of trophic interactions, these functions may ultimately affect site productivity and regional-scale carbon budgets. The specific scope of functions provided by saproxylic beetles depends on the species composition of the respective communities (Pielou 1966). A single species can have strong effects on ecosystem processes by directly mediating energy and nutrient fluxes or by altering abiotic conditions that regulate the rate of these processes (Chapin and others 2000). Evidence suggests that a diverse assemblage of species is required to maintain ecosystem functions (Tilman 2001; Cadotte and others 2009) through either an aggregation of complementary traits associated with multiple taxa, or by functions provided by the presence of a few key species recruited from a regional species pool (Loreau and others 2001). In either case, the provision of ecosystem functions is related to phenotypical trait characters (Tilman 2001; Cadotte and others 2013). Phenotypes are determined, in part, by an individual's environment, but are also an expression of evolutionary ancestry. Thus, in studies exploring relationships between species richness and ecosystem processes, phylogenetic diversity is often used as an indicator and surrogate for the breadth of ecosystem functions provided by a taxonomic group (Ding and others 2012).

Relationships between species diversity, ecosystem functions, and abiotic factors constitute a major research challenge due in part to extensive data requirements (Seibold and others 2016a, b). Significant associations between the extant structural heterogeneity of forests and saproxylic beetle diversity have been previously established (for example, Gossner and others 2013; Seibold and others 2016a, b; Thorn and others 2018a). However, the more complex, long-term and dynamic effects of fluctuating resource availability driven by disturbance interactions with forest structure are less clear. A limited number of studies have documented short-term, decadal-scale effects of disturbance on beetle communities (Müller and others 2008; Winter and others 2015; Beudert and others 2015), but their limited temporal depth constrains the generality of those results.

The overall objective of this study was to determine the long-term, potentially interactive effects of forest disturbance and variation in stand structure on the taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of associated current saproxylic beetle communities. As disturbance processes potentially exert multiple direct and indirect effects on beetle populations, we collected a comprehensive, large-scale dataset quantitatively describing beetle community demography, structural characteristics of forest stands and the associated, centuries-long disturbance history of the surveyed primary forest locations. Tree core samples and dendrochronological analyses were used to quantify various aspects of past disturbance spanning an approximate 250-year period. We sampled current beetle communities using insect traps and identified the taxonomic composition of samples. We compiled data describing corresponding ecological traits and generated a phylogeny for the sampled communities and calculated functional and phylogenetic diversity indices. We restricted data collection to primary forests in montane regions of central Europe. As natural disturbance regimes are still prevalent in these systems (Svoboda and others 2012), we assume that statistical analyses are not confounded by management effects. Further, inferences gained from primary forests may serve as baseline data with which to assess biotic responses in other systems (Kuuluvainen and Aakala 2011; Kulakowski and others 2017).

We investigated evidence for three specific hypotheses: (1) Attributes of the long-term disturbance regime modulate the taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic composition of current beetle communities. (2) Fluctuating, nonsynchronous disturbance processes modulate current beetle populations by generating a spatial mosaic of forest conditions characterized by variable light environments and heterogeneous reservoirs of deadwood. Specifically, forest structure as the result of disturbance timing, severity and frequency in the past determine beetle taxonomic diversity. (3) Variability in the abundance, size and characteristics of deadwood along with heterogeneous light environments-both of which are legacies of the most recent disturbance event-determine the composition and diversity of current beetle communities due to niche specialization among divergent taxa irrespective of the historical disturbance regime.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Area

The study region was restricted to primary forests in the Slovakian portion of the Western Carpathian Mountains (Fig. 1; $48^{\circ} \ 63'-9^{\circ} \ 52'$ N latitude, $19^{\circ} \ 30'-20^{\circ} \ 12'$ E longitude). The Carpathian region supports a substantial component of all remnant primary forest area in Europe (Sabatini and others 2018; Mikoláš and others 2019). The climate is continental with four distinct seasons and a notably absent dry period. Annual precipitation ranges from 1205 to 1365 mm yr⁻¹, which is approximately evenly distributed across seasons. Mean annual temperatures range from 1.6 to 3.4°C. Field surveys were limited to high-elevation areas (1244 to 1534 m) that are occupied by broadly monodominant *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. (Norway spruce) forest. Minor tree species, in terms of abundance, include *Sorbus aucuparia* L.(rowan), *Abies alba* Mill. (silver fir), *Fagus sylvatica* L. (European beech) and *Acer pseudoplatanus* L. (sycamore maple).

Disturbance regimes are highly variable in terms of standard metrics of severity, size and return intervals (Janda and others 2017). Low- and



Fig. 1. Study area and plot locations. Data collection was based on a hierarchical stratified random sampling design. Forest stands (circles) were randomly distributed within remnant primary forest and across broad environmental gradients. Individual survey plots were located within stands (circles). Sample sizes (n) in terms of plot numbers within individual stands ranged from four to six. The color gradient indicates the maximum severity disturbance (color gradient) of the ten stands. The reconstructed disturbance history for all studied stands is based on the growth pattern of 15–25 trees per plot. Red line represents mean disturbance severity of given stands smoothed with kernel density function

moderate-severity gap-forming processes prevail in terms of frequency. At a landscape scale, disturbance processes require between 200 and 300 years (Janda and others 2017) to cause complete canopy replacement within a particular area of forest: a frequency metric termed disturbance rotation. At a plot scale, disturbance events re-occur with an average frequency of ~ 40 years (Fig. 1). Windstorms and population outbreaks of insects, particularly of the native saproxylic bark beetle, Ips typographus L., predominate as disturbance agents (Emborg and others 2000). Fire occurrence is notably rare in the historical record (Meigs and others 2017). Modern disturbance regimes appear to be essentially unaltered by modern management effects, and disturbance process variability remains within historical bounds (Janda and others 2017).

Field data were collected to describe disturbance history, forest structure, associated habitat characteristics, and beetle community demography. Survey locations were based on an existing international network of permanent inventory plots (REMOTE; https://www.remoteforests.org) that span primary forests in Central and Eastern Europe and that are randomly distributed across various environmental and climatic gradients (Meigs and others 2017). Disturbance history was reconstructed using increment cores collected from that plot network. Associated results have been previously published (Janda and others 2017) and are used in this study. Data describing beetle habitat and population demographics were collected within a selected subset (N = 57) of available REMOTE plots located within our target study region and distributed across gradients of disturbance severity and frequency as determined by Janda and others (2017). All data were collected within 0.1 ha circular plots, corresponding to the extent of the original REMOTE plots. Minimum distance between selected plots was 300 m.

Disturbance History

As described previously, we used data from a published, approximately 250-year long, record of disturbance history encompassing our study plots to infer relationships between the variability of past disturbance processes and current patterns of beetle community diversity. Specifically, we acquired disturbance chronologies from Janda and others (2017) that, both, delineate plot-scale past disturbance occurrences with high temporal resolution, and also estimate the magnitude of associated events. These chronologies were derived from analyses of temporal patterns in interannual tree

growth. Growth variation was quantified from measurements of annual radial increment in tree core samples which were collected from the same survey plots used in this study. Disturbance events were reconstructed based on an assumption that disturbance processes affect levels of neighborhood competition and resource supply, and hence, growth responses in extant individuals (Svoboda and others 2014). In brief, statistically anomalous tree growth variation exceeding site-specific thresholds and sustained over minimum pre-defined temporal intervals was attributed to disturbance-driven gap formation events (Frelich 2002; Trotsiuk and others 2014). Corresponding event severity was defined in terms of the proportional area of tree canopy removed by the process, which was estimated using regression methods and allometric equations relating the aggregate present-day size of tree responders (individuals with a disturbance signal) to the original extent of the disturbance-induced canopy gap (Lorimer and Frelich 1989). We used the resulting reconstructed time series of event occurrences and associated severity estimates (Table 1) to derive a total of six disturbance-based metrics that we hypothesized may influence current forest structure and the corresponding composition of saproxylic beetle species assemblages.

Forest Structure

We collected comprehensive inventory data to quantify and classify the variation and abundance of saproxylic beetle habitat comprising all study plots. Field measurements were used to parametrize a total of 15 explanatory variables, in addition to the disturbance-derived variables described previously, for use in statistical analyses (Table 1).

Firstly, we described the coarse structure of stands by precisely mapping all standing trees using laser rangefinders and customized software (Field-Map; Monitoring and Mapping Solutions, Jílové u Prahy, Czech Republic). As tree ontogeny has been associated with the character and availability of substrates (for example, cavities, cracks, bark decay) that potentially support invertebrate occurrence (Vuidot and others 2011), we measured the size (diameter at breast height; DBH) of all adult (> 6 cm DBH) trees and determined ages for a subset of canopy trees (N = 15-25) based on increment core samples. We identified occurrences of distinct substrate or tree-related microhabitat (TreM) types on all live and dead standing trees based on a previously defined typology created to

Category	Explanatory variable	Description	Units
Disturbance	Time since max dist Max dist severity	Time since the occurrence of the most severe disturbance event Maximum severity of any disturbance event in a chronology in terms of CA*	Years Percent
	Dist freq	Mean frequency of disturbance events	No. events
	Time since last dist	Time since most recent disturbance event	Years
	Last dist severity	Severity of most recent disturbance event in terms of CA	Percent
	Dist index	Shannon index based on the cumulative sum of CA per decade from 1800 to 1980	NA
Stand struc- ture	Mean tree age	Mean age of all adult trees	Years
	DW RMS DBH	Root mean square of DBH for standing DW^\pm	mm
	Standing DW BA	Basal area standing DW	m²/ha
	Standing DW vol- ume	Total volume standing DW	m³/ha
	TreM Diversity	Shannon's diversity index for 11 microhabitat (TreM) types	NA
	TreM Density	Spatial density of TreM bearing trees	trees/ha
	Canopy openness mean	Mean canopy openness (see Methods)	Percent
	Canopy openness gini	Gini coefficient of openness (0-1)	NA
	Logs volume decay	Volume of lying DW calculated for 5 discrete decay classes (5 variables)	m³/ha
	Logs volume	Total volume lying DW	m ³ /ha
	total DW volume	Standing DW volume + lying DW volume	m ³ /ha

Table 1. Explanatory Variables Derived From Reconstructed Chronologies of Disturbance Events and Measurements of Structural Habitat

Disturbance-based variables were computed for disturbance events with severities that exceeded a 15 percent threshold level in terms of percent canopy removed. Stand structural variables were derived from data for adult trees with a minimum DBH of 60 mm and minimum height of 1.3 m

* CA Canopy area removed by disturbance as a percent of the total canopy area of the stand

 $^\pm$ DW Standing dead trees (snags) or forest floor deadwood

standardize field inventories (Larrieu and others 2018). We subsequently aggregated observations of individual TreM types (N = 29) into broader categories (Table S1; N = 11; Paillet and others 2017) and then calculated two plot-scale indices (Table 1) of microhabitat diversity based on the relative abundance of aggregated TreM classes. Specifically, we calculated Shannon's diversity index, as well as a density metric based on the sample size (per ha) of all TreM-bearing trees on a plot (for example, Paillet and others 2017; Kozák and others 2018).

Forest canopy architecture and the associated understory light environment were quantified with 180°-field-of-view hemispherical photographs collected at six predetermined locations within each plot. The collected digital photographs were processed and analyzed using image processing software (WinSCANOPY; Regent Instruments, Ste-Foy, Quebec, Canada). Individual image pixels were classified into sky- or leaf-dominated classes based on their spectral properties. Pixel classification results were aggregated to determine the overall mean sky fraction of a plot canopy and the spatial continuity or evenness of canopy openness.

Finally, we described the diversity, quantity and quality of habitat substrates available on the forest floor. All lying deadwood material was mapped and measured to determine size and volume. We categorized the associated structural integrity and state of decomposition of this material based on a hypothesis that variation in size and decay class segregates beetle taxa (Thorn and others 2018a). We used a five-category decay classification system (Stokland 2001) to categorize wood condition and computed the volume of wood in each class (Table 1).

Beetle Surveys

We sampled current saproxylic beetle populations in each survey plot using insect traps to characterize the taxonomic composition and species richness of local communities. We used flight intercept (window) traps to collect beetle specimens due to their efficacy in previous quantitative studies (Hyvärinen and others 2006; Gossner and others 2013; Økland 1996). Comparative analyses of trap performance have shown that window traps facilitate the collection of large sample sizes and a wide range of taxa compared with other methods (Alinvi and others 2006). A single trap was mounted on two metal rods approximately 1 m above the ground at the center of each plot. We avoided the use of insect bait to minimize the collection of random, long-distance dispersers that would bias estimates of local species diversity. Traps were installed continuously from May to September 2017 and emptied monthly. The taxonomic identity of all beetle specimens was determined to species level, excluding specimens in the family Staphylinidae, which were omitted from further analysis following previous studies (Parmain and others 2015). After taxonomic classification of the remaining specimens, individual species were aggregated into four separate, nonmutually exclusive subgroups comprised of: (1) all taxa; (2) species only associated with coniferous trees; (3) endangered or red-listed species as classified by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN 2019); and (4) species that are both redlisted and conifer-tree specialists (Schmidl and Büche 2016; Seibold and others 2015).

Diversity Metrics

Our goal in this study was to understand the nature of disturbance and habitat effects on not only the composition of current saproxylic beetle communities, but also on the breadth of ecosystem functions provided by associated communities. Thus, we selected various standard diversity indices from the ecological literature to quantify a range of compositional (taxonomic) as well as functional and phylogenetic metrics that were subsequently used as response variables in regression models.

Compositional attributes of beetle communities were quantified using three diversity metrics: (1) overall abundance for all taxa combined; (2) species richness; and (3) Shannon diversity (Jost 2006). We used trap data to compute each of the selected diversity indices at a plot scale for each of the previously described species subgroups. However, since sample sizes for beetle trap collections varied substantially among plots (N = 5-705 individuals/plot), we standardized all trap data before calculating diversity indices following protocols

associated with a unified framework for extrapolation and rarefaction based on an effective number of species (Hill numbers; Chao and others 2014). Trap data in a particular plot were standardized on the basis of the overall mean per plot sample size.

We calculated functional and phylogenetic diversity, both based on proxy information, using the following approaches: (1) We acquired selected key ecological traits data to estimate the relative distribution of species in a composite traits or niche space and used species-specific mean niche positions within this construct to quantify an associated trait or functional diversity index; and (2) we compiled data describing phylogenetic relationships between surveyed beetle taxa and computed a diversity index based on the overall complexity and depth of the derived evolutionary tree.

The functional diversity was derived from previously assembled and published comprehensive species-specific datasets representing life history and reproductive qualities for saproxylic beetles (Möller 2009; Gossner and others 2013; Seibold and others 2015). Specifically, we selected and acquired data for fundamental trait characteristics: mean body size, diameter of deadwood in which a species is known to occur, decay stage of deadwood, canopy cover and elevational distribution of forests in which the species is known to occur. Relative distributions of species across the five selected multivariate trait axes were computed using Gower distance (Gower 1971), which accounts for both categorical and continuous variable types.

The phylogenetic richness index was similarly generated using previously published data. We extracted phylogenetic relationships for sampled beetle species based on a comprehensive genetic phylogeny for all taxa within the order Coleoptera originally developed by Hunt and others (2007) and extended by Gossner and others (2013) and Seibold and others (2015). Observed, local phylogenetic richness was subsequently determined by summing total phylogenetic branch lengths (that is, Faith's D; Faith 1992).

Both the functional trait and phylogenetic richness metrics are correlated with species numbers (Winter and others 2013). Thus, we used null models that compare observed levels of diversity across multiple sampling locations to levels expected when species are randomly selected from a regional species pool (Gotelli 2000). Null models provide a standardized effect size which represents the difference between observed mean similarities and expected similarities for 999 artificial assemblages. The regional species pool of the present study was defined as all species recorded in our

study. Resulting null model effect size values above 0 indicate higher diversity per number of species than expected by chance; effect size values below 0 indicate lower diversity per number of species than expected by chance (Pausas and Verdú 2010). Consequently, null model effects were used in subsequent modeling analyses to represent standardized species-specific functional and phylogenetic diversity metrics (Thorn and others 2018a).

Data Analysis

Our main hypothesis is that past disturbance frequency and magnitude indirectly modulate current beetle communities by shaping the physical structure of forests and availability of deadwood substrates for beetle colonization. We explored the strength of evidence supporting our hypotheses using linear mixed-effect models (LMMs). A suite of models was formulated to quantify community responses in terms of the range of previously described indices of diversity, including the three taxonomic-based measures (abundance, species richness and Shannon diversity), functional and phylogenetic diversity. Disturbance parameters (Table 1) were used as explanatory variables to estimate their direct effects on both forest structure (habitat) and, in alternate models, beetle diversity. Additional models were formulated to estimate the effects of habitat on beetle diversity. Forest stands were treated as random effects in all models to account for the hierarchical nature of the sampling design (see Fig. 1). Because a high degree of redundancy was observed among the 15 structural explanatory variables (Table S2), correlated terms were excluded from the analyses and a subset of seven parameters were used to formulate models (Table S1) to prevent multicollinearity problems. We evaluated variance inflation factors (VIFs, Quinn and Keough 2002) of each model and did not find any serious multicollinearity pattern (all VIFs < 3.5). Residuals of all models were checked for normality and homoscedasticity. Abundances were log-transformed to reduce skewness. Full models were simplified in a backward elimination procedure based on F tests with Satterthwaite approximation to degrees of freedom (Kuznetsova and others 2017). To compare the relative importance of significant variables retained in the final LMMs, we calculated standardized regression coefficients and their 95% parametric bootstrap confidence intervals. Marginal (R_m^2) and conditional (R_c^2) determination coefficients were calculated for the final LMMs to quantify the proportion of the total variance explained by the fixed effects and by both fixed and random effects, respectively (Nakagawa and others 2017). To further explore evidence for potential synergies or interactions between processes that shape current beetle communities, associations between disturbance effects and habitat condition, and relationships between habitat effects and beetle diversity, were integrated in a network of confirmatory path analysis (Shipley 2009).

All data management and analyses were conducted in R (R Core Team 2019). We used the function daisy from the cluster package to compute Gower distances. The function ses.mpd from the picante package (Webb and others 2002) was used to develop null models. Modeling analyses were performed using the R-dependent packages car (Fox and Weisberg 2011), iNEXT (Hsieh and others 2019), nlme (Pinheiro and others 2019).

RESULTS

Disturbance and Current Beetle Communities

Modeling analyses reveal that historical disturbance processes had significant and strong effects on current beetle communities in addition to the interactions with habitat described previously. Associated LMMs explained between about 7 and 22 percent of variance according to marginal determination coefficients (Table 2). Time since disturbance was arguably the most important determinant of beetle community attributes having strong, inverse effects on the species richness of beetles in every species subgroup, except the redlisted conifer specialist assemblage. Although the severity of maximum disturbance event in the last 250 years negatively affected species richness of the current beetle community, the severity of the last disturbance event had a positive effect (Fig. 2).

Disturbance frequency also had similar unexpectedly negative direct effects on taxonomic diversity; more frequent disturbance occurrences were associated with fewer observed beetle taxa (Table 2). However, this pattern was only observed for conifer specialist species.

Functional and phylogenetic diversity was mostly not significantly affected by the range of disturbance processes that were modeled. A single significant effect was identified; functional diversity was found to decline with the magnitude of the last severe disturbance in the historical record. The corresponding effect size was among the lowest of any disturbance variable tested (0.27; Table 2) and significant only for conifer specialist beetles.

Diversity	ı											ı
Species subgroup		Model response (Beetle diversity index) diversity index		Time since max. disturbance		M se	Max. disturbance severity	ince	Distu	Disturbance frequency	equency.	
				β (95%CL)	F p		β (95%CL) H	F p	β (95	β (95%CL)	F	d
All species		Richness		0.40 (0.05, 0.75)	5 0	0.03 –	0.40 4 (- 0.79, - 0.02)	4.1 0.049				
		Shannon diversity Functional trait diversity Phylogenetic diversity Abundance										
Conifer specialists		Richness		0.35 (0.01, 0.64)	4.2 0	0.046			-0.39	0.39 /0.690.09)	6.7	0.012
		Shannon diversity		0.33 (0.01, 0.66)	4.2 0	0.047			-0.55 (-0.55	(-0.55) (-0.27) (-0.27)		< 0.001
All red-listed species	cs	Functional diversity Phylogenetic diversity Abundance Richness							-			
Conifer red-listed snecialists	snecialists	shannon aiversity Abundance Richmess										
	cicinizado	Shannon diversity							-0.27	0.27 (- 0.55, - 0.01)		4.07 0.049
		Abundance							-		~	
Species subgroup	Model res	Model response (Beetle	Time sir	Time since last disturbance	e		Last disturbance	rbance		Stand	рг	$R_{\rm m}^{2}/R_{\rm c}^{2}$
	חועכואוו	א ווועכא) שועכואונץ ווועכא	β (95%CL)	CL)	F	d	β (95%CL)	(F p	χ^{2}	d	
All species	Richness Shannon diversity Functional trait di Phylogenetic diver Abundance	Richness Shannon diversity Functional trait diversity Phylogenetic diversity Abundance	- 0.54 (- 0.87, - 0.31 (- 0.58,	$\begin{array}{l} -0.54 \ (-0.87, \ -0.21) \\ -0.31 \ (-0.58, \ -0.04) \end{array}$	10.5 5.58	0.002 0.022	0.49 (0.07, 0.91)	r, 0.91)	5 0.03	 2.1 0.2 1.1 0.6 0.7 	0.147 0.693 0.304 0.448 0.393	18.2/31.5 9.2/12.8 -/9.6 -/11.2

Species subgroup	Model response (Beetle diversity index)	Time since last disturbance	urbance		Last disturbance severity			Stand		$R_{ m m}^2/{ m R}_{ m c}^2$
	diversity index	β (95%CL)	F	d	β (95%CL)	F	d	χ^2	d	
Conifer specialists	Richness	-0.45 (-0.80, -0.05)	5.9	0.019				1	0.33	13.9/24.8
	Shannon diversity	- 0.57 (- 0.94, - 0.18)	10.1	0.003				2.9	0.087	22.3/43.0
	Functional diversity				-0.27 (-0.54, -0.02)	4.41	0.04	1.8	0.182	7.1/20.6
	Phylogenetic diversity							0.2	0.646	-/4.3
	Abundance							1.3	0.248	-/13.5
All red-listed species	Richness							0.3	0.514	-/6.3
	Shannon diversity	- 0.29	5	0.03				< 0.1	0.975	8.3/8.5
		(-0.55, -0.01)								
	Abundance							0.8	0.38	-/9.9
Conifer red-listed specialists	Richness							< 0.1	1	-/< 0.1
	Shannon diversity							< 0.1	0.985	6.9/7.1
	Abundance							1.2	0.277	-/12.8
Alternate models were fit to quantify disturbance effects on both taxonomic effect. Shown are standardized regression coefficients (β) along with their conditional (R_2°) determination coefficients were computed for each model.		tctional (traits and phylogeneti arametric bootstrap confidence at the disturbance index (dist i	c) based me limits (95% dex in Tal	asures of div 6 CL), test s ole 1) was nu	and functional (traits and phylogenetic) based measures of diversity. Independent models were fit for 4 species subgroups. Forest stand was used as a random 95% parametric bootstrap confidence limits (95% CL), test statistics (F, χ^2), and significance values (p) for all significant effect terms. Marginal (R_m^2) and Note that the disturbance index (dist index in Table 1) was not a significant predictor for any subgroup and is not shown	e fit for 4 s values (p subgroup	vecies subgr) for all sig and is not	oups. Forest nificant effec shown	stand was us t terms. Man	gir

Table 2. continued



Fig. 2. Magnitude of disturbance effects on the taxonomic richness of current beetle communities based on linear mixed effects models. Each effect plot shows expected response to a particular variable keeping other variables constant at their mean value. Gray shading delineates 95% confidence limits

Disturbance and Forest Structure

Results from regression analyses reveal a range of important disturbance effects on various structural attributes of sampled forest stands, specifically deadwood amounts and canopy openness. Fixed effects in associated models explained between about 10 and 22 percent of relative variance in the observational data, excluding the forest age model which was much stronger (Fig. 3). Frequency was arguably the most important attribute of the disturbance regime, influencing the temporal and spatial heterogeneity of beetle habitat in several ways. For example, increases in disturbance event frequency were positively related to both the volume of logs on the forest floor and total volume of all (standing and lying) deadwood with relatively large positive standardized regression coefficients of 0.33 and 0.56, respectively (Table S4). Canopy openness declined with disturbance frequency, though this was perhaps a minor effect (β = - 0.26).

In addition to disturbance occurrence frequency, the length of disturbance-free intervals significantly influenced forest structure. Canopy openness decreased with time since the last disturbance ($\beta = -0.28$) due to promoted growth of the trees and associated canopy gaps filling. Also, the mean size of standing deadwood varied as, over time, standing dead trees deteriorated and fell to the forest floor. Positive relationships ($\beta = 0.31$) indicate that larger diameter dead trees persisted for longer periods as compared with smaller snags. The total reservoir of deadwood increased with time in the absence of disturbance.

Disturbance severity had strong effects on the amount of deadwood supplies. The overall volume

of deadwood strongly covaried with event severity $(\beta = 0.59)$; in other words, stronger disturbances (last disturbance severity; Table S4) caused greater tree mortality and produced more deadwood. Negative relationships ($\beta = -0.27$) between the most severe events (maximum disturbance severity; Table S4) at our study plots and the mean size of the standing reservoir of deadwood suggest that a majority of these events happened several decades ago (mean time since maximum severity disturbance was 147 years; Table S5) and due to postdisturbance development, the snags most likely decayed and forest patches affected with historical high severity events became relatively homogenous with a poor deadwood pool. This effect was, however, only marginally significant (p = 0.049; Table S4).

We did not detect evidence for a corresponding increase in microhabitat (TreM) diversity associated with the frequency or severity of disturbances.

Habitat and Current Beetle Communities

Modeling results reveal that a range of forest stand structural attributes significantly influenced the current saproxylic beetle communities in this study, consistent with our hypotheses. Depending on the species subgroup and response variable, alternate models having significant fixed effects explained between about 8 and 16 percent of the variance in the observational data according to marginal determination coefficients. Our model selection process resulted in single-factor models for all diversity-based response variables (Table S3). A total of four different explanatory variables were important in the final most parsimonious models. All selected variables had positive effects on corre-



Fig. 3. Directed acyclic graph of confirmatory path analysis linking historical disturbances and forest structure with abundance and diversity of current saproxylic beetle communities. Models were fit with data from four subgroups. Arrows represent significant (p < 0.05) positive (solid line) and negative (dashed line) relationships between predictors and responses. Width of the arrows is proportional to standardized regression coefficients. Relative proportion of variance explained by fixed effects (R_m^2) is given in parentheses. Note that variables without any significant link are omitted for brevity. Further details can be found in Tables S1 and S2

sponding diversity measures (Fig. 3). Different aspects of beetle community diversity, that is, total abundance, taxonomic richness, phylogenetic and functional diversity, responded to different, unique features of the environment. For example, the volume of deadwood on the plot and the length of disturbance-free intervals (Table S4) were the consistent predictors of beetle abundance, influencing abundance in each subgroup ($\beta = 0.34$ – 0.41). Models indicate that species diversity was associated only with the range of microhabitats available at a site. This TreM relationship was valid for the all-inclusive species subgroup and not for

conifer specialist species (Table S3). The diversity of TreM types was not significantly determined by any disturbance process (Fig. 3), thus indicating that, at least for the variables tested, we did not detect a common indirect disturbance effect that could result in covariation between abundance and species diversity.

Similarly, model results show that phylogenetic diversity was significantly influenced only by canopy openness. Lastly, the functional diversity was associated only with the mean size of standing dead trees. In this case, attributes of the disturbance regime, specifically disturbance-free interval length and maximum event severity, may similarly influence both functional trait diversity and total species abundance through congruent indirect effects on forest structure (Fig. 3).

DISCUSSION

Elucidating mechanisms of how disturbance influences structure of ecological communities and facilitates species coexistence and associated ecosystem functions is central to ecological theory (Shea and others 2004). Our comprehensive dataset covering 250 years of disturbance history and associated changes in forest structure expanded the current knowledge about the effect of disturbance regimes on current beetle communities. Disturbances played an important role in determining the diversity of saproxylic beetle communities, with the frequency and time since disturbance as the most important factors. Our results further demonstrate that the dynamics of natural disturbance determine heterogeneity in resources, most importantly deadwood supplies and canopy openness, which positively contributed to the maintenance of diverse beetle assemblages.

Effect of Natural Disturbances on Saproxylic Beetle Communities

We demonstrated that the more recently the disturbance occurred, the more species-rich the current communities of saproxylic beetles were. This effect was observed for the diversity of all beetles and for conifer specialists separately. The observed pattern might be an effect of higher canopy openness immediately following a disturbance event as saproxylic beetle communities are often more species-rich in gaps than under a closed canopy (Seibold and others 2016a, b). Another possibility is that this observation is a transient effect and caused by the higher proportion of fast-developing freshwood dwellers present in post-disturbance beetle communities, such as bark beetles and species associated with them (Saint-Germain and others 2007). Decreasing amounts of nutrients in decaying woody debris decreases the attractiveness of deadwood over time (especially coniferous wood; Saint-Germain and others 2007) for saproxylic beetles (Kopf and Funke 1998). Similar findings were observed by Winter and others (2015) with the highest numbers of saproxylic beetles preferring wood of early decay stages in the initial early-seral stage following the availability of fresh deadwood. As observed by Gossner and others (2016), for Picea abies, species richness of saproxylic beetles was highest in the first year of decay followed by a decrease in species richness. Moreover, species richness increased with the severity of the last disturbance, probably as a result of deadwood pool enrichment across disturbed plots (Table S4).

The severity of the last historical disturbance (events occurred on average 120 years ago; Table S5) negatively affected functional diversity of conifer specialists. This finding might be explained by the post-disturbance development and highlights the need to understand long-term disturbance effects on biological communities. Gaps or patches after high-severity disturbance close between 50 and 100 years following a disturbance (Svoboda and others 2014), and as a result, forest stands become more homogenous and the structural elements, for example deadwood, decline. Thus, altered environmental conditions may exclude functionally diverse early and mid-successional species and lead to the co-occurrence of functionally similar species that are adapted to changing habitat conditions (Winter and others 2017; Thorn and others 2018a). Our findings agree with the results of Hilmers and others (2018) which showed a U-shaped response of beetle communities to forest succession.

Predicting the effect of future disturbance regimes on forest diversity, Thom and others (2017) observed that an increase in disturbance frequency and severity had consistently positive effects on biodiversity. High disturbance severity and increasing disturbance frequency create a complex pattern of open areas, forest edges and remaining closed canopy forests, increasing the variation in environmental conditions (Perry and others 2011; Lehnert and others 2013). However, these findings only partially match ours, which could be because Thom and others (2017) did not specifically focus on spruce-dominated forests. Although the severity of the last disturbance was associated with an increase in species richness for all species, the increases in the maximum detected disturbance severity were related to declines in species richness. The high-severity disturbances cause higher tree mortality which might lead to more homogenous forest structure with limited amounts of forest edges and old-growth structures (Svoboda and others 2014), making such a forest unfavorable for certain beetle species.

We observed a negative impact of disturbance frequency on conifer specialist species richness and diversity. Higher disturbance frequencies generate more gaps that support more diverse tree species, including broad-leaved species, which might cause a decline of conifer specialists as the deadwood pool contains more diverse tree species composition. Environmental changes such as the removal of the overstory forest canopy and the subsequent effect on the light regime may favor some species, while creating suboptimal or intolerable conditions for other species (Swanson and others 2011): for example, species that prefer shaded deadwood (Lachat and others 2016). Devictor and Robert (2009) showed that generalist species might benefit strongly from disturbance events while specialists and late-seral species could be affected negatively. Possibly, other drivers not included in our data, such as microclimate, shrub and herb layer vegetation, and fungal occurrence may explain diversity patterns of beetle communities present at the studied plots.

Effect of Disturbance-Related Structural Characteristics on Saproxylic Beetles

Saproxylic beetle communities are largely reliant on structural characteristics created by natural disturbance. Our results support previous findings that beetle abundance and diversity are associated with heterogeneous and dynamic forests with high amounts of deadwood and canopy gaps (for example, Wermelinger and others 2002; Müller and others 2010).

Deadwood is an important component of forest ecosystems, biogeochemical cycles, trophic chains and provides key niches for many species (Vandekerkhove and others 2009). The total amount of deadwood was the most important structural characteristic, positively influencing the abundance of all studied subgroups. Similarly, Müller and others (2010) observed a positive response of beetle populations to deadwood amount which was also true for the specialized and red-listed species.

Mean canopy openness positively influenced the phylogenetic diversity of all beetles and conifer specialists. Mountain spruce forests of the Carpathians are characterized by mixed-severity disturbance dynamics (Svoboda and others 2011, 2014) of wind and bark-beetle origin, which provide periodically a large amount of freshly killed trees with lots of canopy openings and thus might have favored the evolution of species adapted to utilize sun-exposed deadwood (Gossner and others 2016). Another possibility is that changed light conditions in canopy gaps attract more flower-visiting beetles and higher temperatures of sun-exposed deadwood allow emergence of beetles from different phylogenetic lineages.

Amount of deadwood, particularly of large diameter and in a late decay stage, influences the

functional composition of saproxylic beetles (Gossner and others 2013). We observed that functional diversity of all saproxylics and conifer specialists was positively influenced by the diameter of standing deadwood. These findings confirm the importance of the high-diameter standing deadwood for saproxylic beetles as they can provide diverse habitats for functionally diverse assemblages (Stokland and others 2012; Larrieu and others 2012; Martikainen and others 2000). Moreover, our results support earlier findings which emphasize the positive effect of bark-beetle infestations on saproxylic beetle communities (Müller and others 2010). Finally, we observed the significant positive influence of tree-related microhabitat diversity on overall and red-listed beetle diversity. This finding is consistent with studies emphasizing the role of tree-related microhabitats as important habitat for saproxylic beetles (Parisi and others 2019).

Effect of Natural Disturbances on Forest Structure

We observed a significant influence of historical disturbance variables on structural characteristics in terms of deadwood volume and canopy openness. Such observation suggests that the effect of historical disturbance regimes on forest structure persists in the form of structural characteristics and may still be visible after several decades or even centuries from the disturbance event. These findings are consistent with the findings of Winter and others (2015) that structural changes such as reduced canopy cover and high volumes of deadwood after windthrow and bark-beetle outbreak remain high or even higher after multiple decades of succession, suggesting persistence of early-seral heterogeneity into succession.

We found a positive effect of the time since last disturbance on total deadwood volume and diameter of standing deadwood, suggesting that trees dying during a disturbance event are available habitat for several decades, as was observed by Spies and Franklin (1988), or even for a century. The observed increases in total deadwood volume during disturbance-free periods further suggest that decay processes in spruce wood are comparatively gradual, at least relative to decomposition rates in angiosperm-derived substrates (Weedon and others 2009) and that disturbance impacts on deadwood supply have substantial temporal persistence.

In primary forests, post-disturbance succession is frequently influenced by other disturbances of various severities which can continuously replenish the deadwood pool (Hansen and others 1991). Our results support those findings, since disturbance frequency positively influenced the total deadwood volume and lying deadwood volume. However, mean canopy openness decreased with increasing disturbance frequency and with longer times since disturbance, probably as part of the canopy trees survived frequent disturbance events and partly due to conditions favoring seedling recruitment and growth after disturbance events (Winter and others 2015).

Finally, natural disturbance characteristics did not significantly affect the tree-related microhabitat diversity. This supports the findings of Larrieu and others (2014) that tree-related microhabitat availability remained stable throughout the forest succession, both in terms of their quantity and diversity.

Varying Responses of Different Diversity Metrics to Disturbance History

Our studied diversity metrics of current saproxylic beetle communities responded to different disturbance and structural characteristics. Each historical disturbance characteristic influenced at least a part of the current beetle diversity, with frequency and time since the last disturbance event being the most important factors. With respect to saproxylic beetle richness, we observed contrasting effects between maximum disturbance severity (negative) and severity of the last disturbance (positive); a contrast was also observed between the effects of time since most recent disturbance (negative) and time since maximum disturbance (positive). Disturbances, habitat fluctuations and changes in environmental conditions cause variations in ecosystem properties and variable responses of different components of biodiversity (Cadotte 2007). Thus, the observed influence of disturbance on current beetle diversity may be caused by beetle species inhabiting temporary niches created by forest succession after disturbance. Saproxylic beetle communities show pronounced successional changes with ongoing decay of deadwood material (Jonsell 2008) due to changes in the physical structure and nutritional quality of deadwood (Wende and others 2017). For instance, the presence of late-successional species often depends upon earlier colonists creating suitable conditions by initiating deadwood decomposition (Jacobsen and others 2015).

Composition of a saproxylic beetle communities also depends on the ratio of different functional groups such as xylophages, fungivores and predators. For example, xylophages are highly abundant in early successional phases of deadwood colonization, whereas fungivores and predators are commonly present later in the successional food chain (Grove 2002). Thus, the heterogeneous arrangement and decomposition of deadwood resources, both spatially and temporally, might influence taxonomic and functional diversity of the current saproxylic beetle communities.

Implications for Forest Management

Our results demonstrate that natural disturbances are an indispensable part of forest ecosystems and provide a diverse range of habitat conditions for the beetle community. Saproxylic beetles provide important ecosystem functions that depend on the species composition of the beetle community (Pielou 1966). Evidence suggests that a diverse assemblage of species is required to maintain ecosystem functions (Tilman 2001; Cadotte and others 2009). Thus, our results further suggest that diverse natural disturbance components that act across different timescales are necessary to create heterogeneous habitats and maintain taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity and consequently the ecosystem functioning. The disturbance regime influences the spatiotemporal variation of deadwood, on both the stand and landscape scale (Jonsson and others 2005), and this variation may influence the occurrence of saproxylic beetle species (Stokland and others 2012).

Various species have different habitat requirements and thus need to be able to disperse across the landscape when an area is no longer suitable (Jonsson and others 2005). Previous studies suggest that total amount of deadwood available within a given landscape is the main driver of the number of saproxylic beetle species and that the spatial arrangement of deadwood, that is, connectivity, plays no or only a minor role (Seibold and Thorn 2018). In our study, we focused on plot-scale effects of disturbance on alpha diversity of saproxylic beetles. However, when we consider the standscale or landscape perspective, shifting mosaics of forest structures developing after disturbance in space and time may lead to high species turnover (Gossner and Müller 2011). Some species require open areas with high amounts of deadwood and thus have a rapid increase in their population following a high-severity disturbance. Subsequently, a major decline follows in conjunction with succession in disturbed patches, but species should be able to persist when a nearby forest stand undergoes natural disturbance.

The adverse effect of homogenized forest structure on forest biodiversity and survival of specialized forest species has strong implications on active forest management. Large-scale homogenization and simplification of forest structure, and consequent biodiversity decline, is often a characteristic feature of intensive forestry practices (but see Schall and others 2018). This is particularly relevant following large-scale clearing of disturbance legacies due to salvage and sanitary logging after wind and insect disturbance (Thorn and others 2017, 2018b). In the Carpathian region, the situation is especially critical and controversial because such treatments regularly occur in protected areas, such as national parks (Mikoláš and others 2017a), which have presumably been established to protect native biodiversity and maintain natural processes.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study documented that disturbance-created structures promote species-rich communities of saproxylic beetles. Species-rich beetle communities were favored by the structure created by historical disturbances that increase the structural heterogeneity, whereas historical disturbances which homogenized the forest environment appear to have unfavorable present-day forest structure. Present-day forest structure such as the amount and diameter of deadwood and changed light conditions positively influenced the abundance and diversity of beetle communities. We should acknowledge that current beetle diversity is far from temporally static so that the importance of these aspects might be changed during further successional development. Ongoing climate change will likely increase disturbance frequency and severity in many parts of the world (Thom and others 2017). Our results suggest that climate-induced changes in natural disturbance regimes may temporarily impact saproxylic beetle communities, whereas these changes are highly dependent on post-disturbance successional pathways. The timescale and long-term post-disturbance development trajectories may pose a challenge for local conservation planning. Therefore, we emphasize the importance of setting aside large areas (strictly protected forest landscapes) where wide range of timing and severity of disturbance can act and create a heterogeneous environment that can support a full array of biodiversity (Mikoláš and others 2017b; Nagel and others 2017; Watson and others 2018). When the area on which natural disturbances operate is too small, large-scale disturbances may change the habitat across small protected forests to conditions that are not appropriate for certain species.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project was supported by the institutional project MSMT (No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/000803), by the Czech University of Life Sciences (Grant IGA No. A_19_33 and CIGA No. 20184301), by the Operational Programme Research and Innovation (NFP: 313010T721) and by the Grant of the Slovak Grant Agency for Science (VEGA no.1/0104/19).

REFERENCES

- Alinvi O, Ball JP, Danell K, Hjälten J, Pettersson RB. 2006. Sampling saproxylic beetle assemblages in dead wood logs: comparing window and eclector traps to traditional bark sieving and a refinement. J Insect Conserv 11:99–112.
- Alexander KNA. 2008. Tree biology and saproxylic coleoptera: issues of definitions and conservation language. Revue d'écologie 63(10):9–13.
- Beudert B, Bässler C, Thorn S, Noss R, Schröder B, Dieffenbach-Fries H, Foullois N, Müller J. 2015. Bark beetles increase biodiversity while maintaining drinking water quality. Conservation Letters 8(4):272–81.
- Cadotte MW. 2007. Competition–colonization trade-offs and disturbance effects at multiple scales. Ecology 88(4):823–9.
- Cadotte MW, Cavender-bares J, Tilman D, Oakley THT. 2009. Using phylogenetic, functional and trait diversity to understand patterns of plant community productivity. PLoS One 4:e5695.
- Cadotte M, Albert CH, Walker SC. 2013. The ecology of differences: assessing community assembly with trait and evolutionary distances. Ecol Lett 16:1234–44.
- Chao A, Gotelli NJ, Hsieh TC, Sander E, Ma KH, Colwell RK, Ellison AM. 2014. Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: a framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. Ecol Monogr 84(1):45–67.
- Chapin FSIII, Zavaleta ES, Eviner VT, Naylor RL, Vitousek PM, Reynolds HL, Hooper DU, Lavorel S, Sala OE, Hobbie SE, Mack MC, Díaz S. 2000. Consequences of changing biodiversity. Nature 405(6783):234–42.
- Devictor V, Robert A. 2009. Measuring community responses to large-scale disturbance in conservation biogeography. Divers Distrib 15(1):122–30.
- Ding Y, Zang R, Letcher SG, Liu S, He F. 2012. Disturbance regime changes the trait distribution, phylogenetic structure and community assembly of tropical rain forests. Oikos 121(8):1263–70.
- Emborg J, Christensen M, Heilmann-Clausen J. 2000. The structural dynamics of Suserup Skov, a near-natural temperate deciduous forest in Denmark. For Ecol Manag 126(2):173– 89.
- Faith DP. 1992. Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. Biol Cons 61:1–10.
- Fox J, Weisberg W. 2011. An R Companion to Applied Regression. 2nd edn. Thousand Oaks: SAGE. p 570.
- Franklin JF, Lindenmayer DB, MacMahon JA, McKee A, Magnusson J, Perry DA, Waide R, Foster DR. 2000. Threads of

continuity: ecosystem disturbances, biological legacies, and ecosystem recovery. Conserv Biol Pract 1:8–16.

- Frelich LE. 2002. Forest dynamics and disturbance regimes: studies from temperate evergreen-deciduous forests. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 280.
- Gossner MM, Müller J. 2011. The influence of species traits and q-metrics on scale-specific β -diversity components of arthropod communities of temperate forests. Landsc Ecol 26(3):411–24.
- Gossner MM, Lachat T, Brunet J, Isacsson G, Bouget C, Brustel H, Brandl R, Weisser WW, Müller J. 2013. Current near-to nature forest management effects on functional trait composition of saproxylic beetles in beech forests. Conserv Biol 27:605–14.
- Gossner MM, Wende B, Levick S, Schall P, Floren A, Linsenmair KE, Steffan-Dewenter I, Schulze E-D, Weisser WW. 2016. Deadwood enrichment in European forests–Which tree species should be used to promote saproxylic beetle diversity? Biol Cons 201:92–102.
- Gotelli NJ. 2000. Null model analysis of species co-occurrence patterns. Ecology 81:2606–21.
- Gower JC. 1971. A general coefficient of similarity and some of its properties. Biometrics 27:857–71.
- Grove SJ. 2002. Saproxylic insect ecology and the sustainable management of forests. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 33(1):1–23.
- Hanson JJ, Lorimer CG. 2007. Forest structure and light regimes following moderate wind storms: implications for multi-cohort management. Ecol Appl 17:1325–40.
- Hansen AJ, Spies TA, Swanson FJ, Ohmann JL. 1991. Conserving biodiversity in managed forests. Bioscience 41(6):382– 92.
- Hilmers T, Friess N, Bässler C, Heurich M, Brandl R, Pretzsch H, Müller J. 2018. Biodiversity along temperate forest succession. J Appl Ecol 55(6):2756–66.
- Hsieh TC, Ma KH, Chao A. 2019. iNEXT: iNterpolation and EXTrapolation for species diversity. R Package Version 2:17.
- Hunt T, Bergsten J, Levkanicova Z, Papadopoulou A, St. John O, Wild R, Hammond PM, Ahrens D, Balke M, Caterino MS, Gómez-Zurita J, Ribera I, Barraclough TG, Bocakova M, Bocak L, Vogler AP. 2007. A comprehensive phylogeny of beetles reveals the evolutionary origins of a superradiation. Science 318:1913–16.
- Hyvärinen E, Kouki J, Martikainen P. 2006. A comparison of three trapping methods used to survey forest-dwelling Coleoptera. Eur J Entomol 103(2):397.
- IUCN. 2019. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species.Version 2019-2.* http://www.iucnredlist.org. Downloaded on 18 July 2019.
- Jacobsen RM, Birkemoe T, Sverdrup-Thygeson A. 2015. Priority effects of early successional insects influence late successional fungi in dead wood. Ecol Evol 5(21):4896–905.
- Janda P, Trotsiuk V, Mikoláš M, Bače R, Nagel TA, Seidl R, Seedre M, Morrissey RC, Kucbel S, Jaloviar P, Jasík M, Vysoký J, Šamonil P, Čada V, Mrhalová H, Lábusová J, Nováková MH, Rydval M, Matěju L, Svoboda M. 2017. The historical disturbance regime of mountain Norway spruce forests in the Western Carpathians and its influence on current forest structure and composition. For Ecol Manag 388:67–78.
- Jonsell M. 2008. Saproxylic beetle species in logging residues: which are they and which residues do they use? Norweg J Entomol 55(1):109.

- Jonsson BG, Kruys N, Ranius T. 2005. Ecology of species living on dead wood–lessons for dead wood management. Silva Fennica 39(2):289–309.
- Jost L. 2006. Entropy and diversity. Oikos 113(2):363-75.
- Kopf A, Funke W. 1998. Xylobionte arthropoden. Die Entwicklung von Wald-Biozönosen nach Sturmwurf. Landsberg Ecomed 1:282–91.
- Kozák D, Mikoláš M, Svitok M, Bače R, Paillet Y, Larrieu L, Nagel TA, Begovič K, Čada V, Diku A, Frankovič M, Janda P, Kameniar O, Keren S, Kjučukov P, Lábusová J, Langbehn T, Málek J, Mikac S, Morrissey RC, Nováková MH, Schurrman JS, Svobodová K, Synek M, Theodosiu M, Toromani E, Trotsiuk V, Vítková L, Svoboda M. 2018. Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests. For Ecol Manag 429:363–74.
- Kulakowski D, Bebi P, Rixen C. 2011. The interacting effects of land use change, climate change and suppression of natural disturbances on landscape forest structure in the Swiss Alps. Oikos 120(2):216–25.
- Kulakowski D, Seidl R, Holeksa J, Kuuluvainen T, Nagel TA, Panayotov M, Svoboda M, Thorn S, Vacchiano G, Whitlock C, Wohlgemuth T, Bebi P. 2017. A walk on the wild side: Disturbance dynamics and the conservation and management of European mountain forest ecosystems. For Ecol Manag 388(15):120–31.
- Kuuluvainen T, Aakala T. 2011. Natural forest dynamics in boreal Fennoscandia: a review and classification. Silva Fennica 45(5):823–41.
- Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, Christensen RHB. 2017. ImerTest package: Tests in linear mixed effects models. J Stat Softw 82:1–26.
- Lachat T, Chumak M, Chumak V, Jakoby O, Müller J, Tanadini M, Wermelinger B. 2016. Influence of canopy gaps on saproxylic beetles in primeval beech forests: a case study from the Uholka-Shyrokyi Luh forest. Ukraine. Insect conservation and diversity 9(6):559–73.
- Lachat T, Müller J. 2018. Importance of primary forests for the conservation of saproxylic insects. In: Ulyshen MD, Ed. Saproxylic insects. Cham: Springer. p 581–605.
- Larrieu L, Cabanettes A, Delarue A. 2012. Impact of silviculture on dead wood and on the distribution and frequency of tree microhabitats in montane beech-fir forests of the Pyrenees. Eur J For Res 131(3):773–86.
- Larrieu L, Cabanettes A, Brin A, Bouget C, Deconchat M. 2014. Tree microhabitats at the stand scale in montane beech-fir forests: practical information for taxa conservation in forestry. Eur J For Res 133(2):355–67.
- Larrieu L, Paillet Y, Winter S, Bütler R, Kraus D, Krumm F, Lachat T, Michel AK, Regnery B, Vandekerkhove K. 2018. Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: A hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. Ecol Ind 84:194–207.
- Lassauce A, Paillet Y, Jactel H, Bouget C. 2011. Deadwood as a surrogate for forest biodiversity: meta-analysis of correlations between deadwood volume and species richness of saproxylic organisms. Ecol Ind 11(5):1027–39.
- Lindhe A, Lindelöw Å, Åsenblad N. 2005. Saproxylic beetles in standing dead wood density in relation to substrate sun-exposure and diameter. Biodivers Conserv 14(12):3033–53.
- Lehnert LW, Bässler C, Brandl R, Burton PJ, Müller J. 2013. Conservation value of forests attacked by bark beetles: Highest

number of indicator species is found in early successional stages. J Nat Conserv 21(2):97–104.

- Loreau M, Naeem S, Inchausti P, Bengtsson J, Grime JP, Hector A, Hooper DU, Huston MA, Raffaelli D, Schmid B, Tilman D. 2001. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. Science 294:804–8.
- Lorimer CG, Frelich LE. 1989. A methodology for estimating canopy disturbance frequency and intensity in dense temperate forests. Can J For Res 19(5):651–63.
- Martikainen P, Siitonen J, Punttila P, Kaila L, Rauh J. 2000. Species richness of Coleoptera in mature managed and oldgrowth boreal forests in southern Finland. Biol Cons 94(2):199–209.
- Meigs GW, Morrissey RC, Bače R, Chaskovskyy O, Čada V, Després T, Donato DC, Janda P, Lábusová J, Seedre M, Mikoláš M, Nagel TA, Schurman JS, Synek M, Teodosiu M, Trotsiuk V, Vítková L, Svoboda M. 2017. More ways than one: Mixed-severity disturbance regimes foster structural complexity via multiple developmental pathways. For Ecol Manag 406:410–26.
- Mikoláš M, Tejkal M, Kuemmerle T, Griffiths P, Svoboda M, Hlásny T, Leitão PJ, Morrissey RC. 2017a. Forest management impacts on capercaillie (Tetrao urogallus) habitat distribution and connectivity in the Carpathians. Landsc Eco 32(1):163– 79.
- Mikoláš M, Svitok M, Bollmann K, Reif J, Bače R, Janda P, Trotsiuk V, Čada V, Vítková L, Teodosiu M, Coppes J, Schurman JS, Morrissey RC, Mrhalová H, Svoboda M. 2017b. Mixed-severity natural disturbances promote the occurrence of an endangered umbrella species in primary forests. For Ecol Manag 405:210–8.
- Mikoláš M, Ujházy K, Jasík M, Wiezik M, Gallay I, Polák P, Vysoký J, Čiliak M, Meigs GW, Svoboda M, Trotsiuk V. 2019. Primary forest distribution and representation in a Central European landscape: Results of a large-scale field-based census. For Ecol Manag 449:117466.
- Möller G. 2009. Struktur- und Substratbindung holzbewohnender Insekten, Schwerpunkt Coleoptera - Käfer. Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades des Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.). Freie Universität, Berlin.
- Müller J, Bußler H, Goßner M, Rettelbach T, Duelli P. 2008. The European spruce bark beetle Ips typographus in a national park: from pest to keystone species. Biodivers Conserv 17:2979–3001.
- Müller J, Noss RF, Bussler H, Brandl R. 2010. Learning from a "benign neglect strategy" in a national park: Response of saproxylic beetles to dead wood accumulation. Biol Cons 143(11):2559–69.
- Nakagawa S, Johnson PC, Schielzeth H. 2017. The coefficient of determination R2 and intra-class correlation coefficient from generalized linear mixed-effects models revisited and expanded. J R Soc Interface 14(134):20170213.
- Nagel TA, Svoboda M, Kobal M. 2014. Disturbance, life history traits, and dynamics in an old-growth forest landscape of southeastern Europe. Ecol Appl 24(4):663–79.
- Nagel TA, Firm D, Mihelic T, Hladnik D, de Groot M, Rozenbergar D. 2017. Evaluating the influence of integrative forest management on old-growth habitat structures in a temperate forest region. Biol Cons 216:101–7.
- Økland B. 1996. A comparison of three methods of trapping saproxylic beetles. European Journal of Entomology 93:195– 210.

- Paillet Y, Archaux F, Boulanger V, Debaive N, Fuhr M, Gilg O, Gosselin F, Guilbert E. 2017. Snags and large trees drive higher tree microhabitat densities in strict forest reserves. For Ecol Manage 389:176–86.
- Parisi F, Di Febbraro M, Lombardi F, Biscaccianti AB, Campanaro A, Tognetti R, Marchetti M. 2019. Relationships between stand structural attributes and saproxylic beetle abundance in a Mediterranean broadleaved mixed forest. For Ecol Manag 432:957–66.
- Parmain G, Bouget C, Müller J, Horak J, Gossner MM, Lachat T, Isacsson G. 2015. Can rove beetles (Staphylinidae) be excluded in studies focusing on saproxylic beetles in central European beech forests? Bull Entomol Res 105(1):101–9.
- Pausas JG, Verdú M. 2010. The jungle of methods for evaluating phenotypic and phylogenetic structure of communities. Bioscience 60(8):614–25.
- Perry DA, Hessburg PF, Skinner CN, Spies TA, Stephens SL, Taylor AH, Franklin JF, McComb B, Riegel G. 2011. The ecology of mixed severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California. For Ecol Manag 262(5):703–17.
- Pielou EC. 1966. The measurement of diversity in different types of biological collections. J Theor Biol 13:131–44.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team 2019. nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-139.
- Quinn GP, Keough MJ. 2002. Experimental design and data analysis for biologists. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Saint-Germain M, Drapeau P, Buddle CM. 2007. Host-use patterns of saproxylic phloeophagous and xylophagous Coleoptera adults and larvae along the decay gradient in standing dead black spruce and aspen. Ecography 30(6):737– 48.
- Sabatini FM, Burrascano S, Keeton WS, Levers C, Lindner M, Pötzschner F, Verkerk PJ, Bauhus J, Buchwald E, Chaskovsky O, Debaive N, Horváth F, Garbarino M, Grigoriadis N, Lombardi F, Marques Duarte I, Meyer P, Midteng R, Mikac S, Mikoláš M, Motta R, Mozgeris G, Nunes L, Panayotov M, Ódor P, Ruete A, Simovski B, Stillhard J, Svoboda M, Szwagrzyk J, Tikkanen OP, Volosyanchuk R, Vrska T, Zlatanov T, Kuemmerle T. 2018. Where are Europe's last primary forests? Divers Distrib 24:1426–39.
- Schall P, Gossner MM, Heinrichs S, Fischer M, Boch S, Prati D, Jung K, Baumgartner V, Blaser S, Böhm S, Buscot F, Daniel R, Goldmann K, Kaiser K, Kahl T, Lange M, Müller J, Overmann J, Renner SC, Schulze E-D, Sikorski J, Tschapka M, Türke M, Weisser WW, Wemheuer B, Wubet T, Ammer Ch. 2018. The impact of even-aged and uneven-aged forest management on regional biodiversity of multiple taxa in European beech forests. J Appl Ecol 55(1):267–78.
- Schmidl J, Büche B. 2016. Die Rote Liste und Gesamtartenliste der Käfer (Coleoptera, exkl. Lauf- und Wasserkäfer) Deutschlands im Überblick. Naturschutz und Biologische Vielfalt 70.
- Seidl R, Fernandes PM, Fonseca TF, Gillet F, Jönsson AM, Merganičová K, Netherer S, Arpaci A, Bontemps J-D, Bugmann H, González-Olabarria JR. 2011. Modelling natural disturbances in forest ecosystems: a review. Ecol Model 222(4):903–24.
- Seibold S, Bässler C, Brandl R, Büche B, Szallies A, Thorn S, Ulyshen MD, Müller J. 2016a. Microclimate and habitat

heterogeneity as the major drivers of beetle diversity in dead wood. J Appl Ecol 53(3):934–43.

- Shea K, Roxburgh SH, Rauschert ES. 2004. Moving from pattern to process: coexistence mechanisms under intermediate disturbance regimes. Ecol Lett 7(6):491–508.
- Shipley B. 2009. Confirmatory path analysis in a generalized multilevel context. Ecology 90(2):363–8.
- Seibold S, Brandl R, Buse J, Hothorn T, Schmidl J, Thorn S, Müller J. 2015. Association of extinction risk of saproxylic beetles with ecological degradation of forests in Europe. Conserv Biol 29:382–90.
- Seibold S, Bässler C, Brandl R, Büche B, Szallies A, Thorn S, Ulyshen MD, Müller J. 2016b. Microclimate and habitat heterogeneity as the major drivers of beetle diversity in dead wood. J Appl Ecol 53:934–43.
- Seibold S, Thorn S. 2018. The importance of dead-wood amount for saproxylic insects and how it interacts with dead-wood diversity and other habitat factors. In: Ulyshen MD, Ed. saproxylic insects. Cham: Springer. p 607–37.
- Stokland JN. 2001. The coarse woody debris profile: an archive of recent forest history and an important biodiversity indicator. Ecological Bulletins 1:71–83.
- Stokland JN, Siitonen J, Jonsson BT. 2012. Biodiversity in dead wood. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. p 524.
- Spies TA, Franklin JF. 1988. Old growth and forest dynamics in the Douglas-fir region of western Oregon and Washington. Nat Areas Jl 8(3):190–201.
- Spies TA, Hemstrom MA, Youngblood A, Hummel S. 2006. Conserving old-growth forest diversity in disturbance-prone landscapes. Conserv Biol 20(2):351–62.
- Swanson ME, Franklin JF, Beschta R, Crisafulli ChM, DellaSala DA, Hutto RL, Lindenmayer DB, Swanson FJ. 2011. The forgotten stage of forest succession: early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. Front Ecol Environ 9(2):117–25.
- Svoboda M, Janda P, Nagel TA, Fraver S, Rejzek J, Bače R. 2011. Disturbance history of an old-growth sub-alpine Picea abies stand in the Bohemian Forest, Czech Republic. J Veg Sci 23(1):86–97.
- Svoboda M, Janda P, Nagel TA, Fraver S, Rejzek J, Bače R. 2012. Disturbance history of an old-growth sub-alpine Picea abies stand in the Bohemian Forest, Czech Republic. J Veg Sci 23(1):86–97.
- Svoboda M, Janda P, Fraver S, Nagel TA, Rejzek J, Mikoláš M, Douda J, Boubl K, Šamonil P, Trotsiuk V, Uzel P, Teodosiu M, Bouriaud O, Biris AI. 2014. Landscape-level variability in historical disturbance in primary Picea abies mountain forests of the Eastern Carpathians, Romania. J Veg Sci 25:386–401.
- Thom D, Seidl R. 2016. Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem functions and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. Biol Rev 91(3):760–81.
- Thom D, Rammer W, Dirnböck T, Müller J, Kobler J, Katzensteiner K, Helm N, Seidl R. 2017. The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape. J Appl Ecol 54(1):28–38.
- Thorn S, Bässler C, Svoboda M, Müller J. 2017. Effects of natural disturbances and salvage logging on biodiversity–Lessons from the Bohemian Forest. For Ecol Manag 388:113–19.
- Thorn S, Förster B, Heibl C, Müller J, Bässler C. 2018a. Influence of macroclimate and local conservation measures on taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic diversities of saproxylic

beetles and wood-inhabiting fungi. Biodivers Conserv 27(12):3119–35.

- Thorn S, Bässler C, Brandl R, Burton PJ, Cahall R, Campbell JL, Castro J, Choi Ch-Y, Cobb T, Donato DC, Durska E, Fontaine JB, Gauthier S, Hebert Ch, Hothorn T, Hutto RL, Lee E-J, Leverkus AB, Lindenmayer DB, Obrist MK, Rost J, Seibold S, Seidl R, Thom D, Waldron K, Wermelinger B, Winter M-B, Zmihorski M, Müller J. 2018b. Impacts of salvage logging on biodiversity: A meta-analysis. J Appl Ecol 55(1):279–89.
- Tilman D. 2001. Functional diversity. Encycl Biodivers 3(1):109–20.
- Trotsiuk V, Svoboda M, Janda P, Mikolas M, Bace R, Rejzek J, Samonil P, Chaskovskyy O, Korol M, Myklush S. 2014. A mixed severity disturbance regime in the primary *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. forests of the Ukrainian Carpathians. For Ecol Manag 334:144–53.
- Ulyshen MD, Hanula JL. 2009. Habitat associations of saproxylic beetles in the southeastern United States: A comparison of forest types, tree species and wood postures. For Ecol Manag 257:653–64.
- Vandekerkhove K, Keersmaeker LD, Menke N, Meyer P, Verschelde P. 2009. When nature takes over from man: Dead wood accumulation in previously managed oak and beech woodlands in North-western and Central Europe. For Ecol Manag 258:425–35.
- Vuidot A, Paillet Y, Archaux F, Gosselin F. 2011. Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree micro-habitats. Biol Cons 144:441–50.
- Watson JE, Evans T, Venter O, Williams B, Tulloch A, Stewart C, Thompson I, Ray JC, Murray K, Salazar A, McAlpine C, Potapov P, Walston J, Robinson JG, Painter M, Wilkie D, Filardi Ch, Laurence WF, Houghton RA, Maxwell S, Grantham H, Samper C, Wang S, Laestadius L, Runting RK, Silva-Chávez GA, Ervin J, Lindenmayer D. 2018. The exceptional value of intact forest ecosystems. Nat Ecol Evol 2(4):599–610.
- Webb CO, Ackerly DD, McPeek MA, Donoghue MJ. 2002. Phylogenies and community ecology. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 33:475–505.
- Weedon JT, Cornwell WK, Cornelissen JH, Zanne AE, Wirth C, Coomes DA. 2009. Global meta-analysis of wood decomposition rates: a role for trait variation among tree species? Ecol Lett 12(1):45–56.
- Wende B, Gossner MM, Grass I, Arnstadt T, Hofrichter M, Floren A, Linsenmair KE, Weisser WW, Steffan-Dewenter I. 2017. Trophic level, successional age and trait matching determine specialization of deadwood-based interaction networks of saproxylic beetles. Proc R Soc B: Biol Sci 284(1854):20170198.
- Wermelinger B, Duelli P, Obrist MK. 2002. Dynamics of saproxylic beetles (Coleoptera) in windthrow areas in alpine spruce forests. For Snow Landsc Res 77:133–48.
- Winter M, Devictor V, Schweiger O. 2013. Phylogenetic diversity and nature conservation: where are we? Trends Ecol Evol 28(4):199–204.
- Winter MB, Ammer Ch, Baier R, Donato DC, Seibold S, Müller J. 2015. Multi-taxon alpha diversity following bark beetle disturbance: Evaluating multi-decade persistence of a diverse early-seral phase. For Ecol Manag 338:32–45.
- Winter MB, Bässler C, Bernhardt-Römermann M, Krah F-S. 2017. Schäfer H, Seibold S, Müller. J Eur J For Res 136:357–73.

5.2 Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests

Published as:

Kozák, D., Mikoláš, M., Svitok, M., Bače, R., Paillet, Y., Larrieu, L., Nagel, T.A., Begovič, K., Čada, V., Diku, A., Frankovič, M., Janda, P., Kameniar, O., Keren, S., Kjučukov, P., Lábusová, J., Langbehn, T., Málek, J., Mikac, S., Morrisey, R.C., Nováková, M.H., Schurrman, J.S., Svobodová, K., Synek, M., Teodosiu, M., Toromani, E., Trotsiuk, V., Vítková, L., Svoboda, M. (2018). Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 429, 363-374. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/foreco

Forest Ecology and Management

Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests

Check for updates

Daniel Kozák^{a,*,1}, Martin Mikoláš^{a,b,1}, Marek Svitok^{c,d}, Radek Bače^a, Yoan Paillet^e, Laurent Larrieu^{f,g}, Thomas A. Nagel^{a,h}, Krešimir Begovič^a, Vojtěch Čada^a, Abdulla Dikuⁱ, Michal Frankovič^a, Pavel Janda^a, Ondrej Kameniar^a, Srđan Keren^j, Peter Kjučukov^a, Jana Lábusová^a, Thomas Langbehn^a, Jakub Málek^a, Stjepan Mikac^k, Robert C. Morrissey^a, Markéta H. Nováková^a, Jonathan S. Schurrman^a, Kristýna Svobodová^a, Michal Synek^a, Marius Teodosiu^{l,m}, Elvin Toromaniⁿ, Volodymyr Trotsiuk^{a,o,p,q}, Lucie Vítková^a, Miroslav Svoboda^a

^a Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Kamýcká 129, Praha 6, Suchdol 16521, Czech Republic

^b PRALES, Odtrnovie 563, 013 22 Rosina, Slovakia

^c Department of Biology and General Ecology, Faculty of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Technical University in Zvolen, Masaryka 24, 96053 Zvolen, Slovakia

- ^d Department of Ecosystem Biology, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Branišovská 1760, 37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic
- ^e Irstea, UR EFNO, Domaine des Barres, 45290 Nogent-sur-Vernisson, France

^f INRA, UMR1201 DYNAFOR, Chemin de Borde Rouge, Auzeville, CS 52627, 31326 Castanet Tolosan Cedex, France

⁸ CRPFOcc, 7 chemin de la Lacade, 31320 Auzeville Tolosane, France

h Department of Forestry and Renewable Forest Resources, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

ⁱ PSEDA-ILIRIA organization, Tirana 1000, Albania

^j Department of Biometry and Forest Productivity, Faculty of Forestry, University of Agriculture in Krakow, al. 29-Listopada 46, 31-425 Krakow, Poland

^k University of Zagreb, Forestry Faculty, Department of Forest Ecology and Silviculture, Svetošimunska 25, 10002 Zagreb, Croatia

¹ "Marin Drăcea" National Research-Development Institute in Forestry, Station Câmpulung Moldovenesc, Calea Bucovinei 73b, 725100 Câmpulung Moldovenesc, Suceava, Romania

Keywords:

Old-growth

Habitat tree

TreMs

Snags

 $^{\rm m}$ Ștefan cel Mare Universit
y of Suceava, Universității 13, 720229 Suceava, Romania

ⁿ Agricultural University of Tirana, Faculty of Forestry Sciences, 1029 Koder-Kamez, Albania

° Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research WSL, CH-8903 Birmensdorf, Switzerland

^pSwissForestLab, CH-8903 Birmensdorf, Switzerland

^q Institute of Agricultural Sciences, ETH Zurich, CH-8092 Zurich, Switzerland

ARTICLE INFO

Biodiversity indicators

Mountain beech forest

ABSTRACT

Tree-related microhabitats (TreMs) are important features for the conservation of biodiversity in forest ecosystems. Although other structural indicators of forest biodiversity have been extensively studied in recent decades, TreMs have often been overlooked, either due to the absence of a consensual definition or a lack of knowledge. Despite the increased number of TreM studies in the last decade, the role of drivers of TreM profile in primary forests and across different geographical regions is still unknown. To evaluate the main drivers of TreM density and diversity, we conducted the first large-scale study of TreMs across European primary forests. We established 146 plots in eight primary forests dominated by European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) in the Carpathian and Dinaric mountain ranges. Generalized linear mixed effect models were used to test the effect of local plot characteristics and spatial variability on the density and diversity (alpha, beta, and gamma) of TreMs. Total TreM density and diversity were significantly positively related with tree species richness and the proportion of snags. Root mean square tree diameters were significantly related to alpha and gamma diversity of TreMs. Both regions reached similarly high values of total TreM densities and total TreM densities and diversity were not significantly different between the two regions; however, we observed between the two regions significant differences in the densities of two TreM groups, conks of fungi and epiphytes. The density and diversity of TreMs were very high in beech-dominated mountain primary forests, but their occurrence and diversity was highly

E-mail addresses: kozakd@fld.czu.cz (D. Kozák), laurent.larrieu@inra.fr (L. Larrieu).

¹ These authors contributed equally to the work.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.07.021

Romania

^{*} Corresponding author at: Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Kamýcká 129, Praha 6, Suchdol 16521, Czech Republic.

Received 29 March 2018; Received in revised form 2 July 2018; Accepted 8 July 2018 0378-1127/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

variable within the landscapes over relatively short spatial gradients (plot and stand levels). Understanding these profile provides a benchmark for further comparisons, such as with young forest reserves, or for improving forest management practices that promote biodiversity.

1. Introduction

The natural development and the varied timing and intensity of disturbances within primary forests often results in high levels of structural heterogeneity (Bauhus, 2009). Certain structural elements, such as high volumes of accumulated standing and lying deadwood (Nagel et al., 2017), large canopy (veteran) trees (Commarmot et al., 2013), and a diverse array of tree-related microhabitats (TreMs; Larrieu et al., 2018), are often abundant in primary forests. These structural elements are important features for the maintenance and conservation of biodiversity (Lindenmayer et al., 2006), and they are widely recognized as an important feature of conservation management plans (Kraus and Krumm, 2013). Although structural indicators of forest biodiversity have been a major research topic in recent decades, TreMs have often been overlooked, either due to the absence of a consensual definition or a lack of knowledge (Paillet et al., 2017). Larrieu et al. (2018) defined TreMs as a distinct, well-delineated structure occurring on living or standing dead trees that constitute a particular and essential substrate or life site for species or communities to develop, feed, shelter, or breed during at least a part of their life cycle. They are specific aboveground tree morphological singularities that are not found on every tree. The origins of TreMs encompass both endogenous modifications, caused by biotic and abiotic factors, such as intrusions, lesions, and breakages that expose sap and heartwood and initialize outgrowth structures and wood decay (saproxylic TreM), as well as exogenous elements that are physically linked to the tree (epixylic TreM).

Many recent TreM studies have largely been conducted in managed forests or forest reserves historically influenced by harvesting (e.g., Paillet et al., 2017; Regnery et al., 2013a; Vuidot et al., 2011), and studies have been largely restricted to a few distinct forest types in the Mediterranean, Western Europe, and the USA (Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012; Michel and Winter, 2009; Regnery et al., 2013b; Winter, 2015). Forest management often encourages the production of uniform stands through the logging of high value trees and the removal of damaged or large trees with limited economic value. Conventional forest management systems sometimes create TreMs, such as dendrothelms or bark loss, due to damage during harvesting operations (Larrieu et al., 2012; Vuidot et al., 2011). However, most of the TreM types are typically removed or never develop (Paillet et al., 2017). It is widely documented that TreMs are more abundant and diverse in unmanaged stands (e.g., Paillet et al., 2017; Winter and Moller, 2008; Winter, 2015). The negative effects of forest management on the occurrence of TreMs can largely be explained by the lack of structural features and differences in tree species composition (Keren et al., 2017). Many of these structural components, such as snags and large trees, are considered to be important drivers of TreM diversity and abundance (Keren and Diaci, 2018; Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012; Michel and Winter, 2009; Vuidot et al., 2011). Only a few studies have been conducted in forests that have developed naturally for at least a century (Larrieu et al., 2014a,b; Courbaud et al., 2017). Primary forests may serve as suitable reference points compared to forests with former management because they tend to have more complex structure and are thus more favorable for many forest-dwelling species (Hunter, 1999; Peterken, 1996).

The importance of studies carried out in primary forests has increasingly been recognized (Commarmot et al. 2013), however, the temperate forests of Europe have a complex land use history, as they have been used for a variety of purposes, such as for fuel wood, pasture, and timber extraction, since ancient times (Sabatini et al., 2018; Veen et al., 2010). Despite extensive forest exploitation in the middle ages and intensive commercial forest management more recently, large patches of primary forests were spared in some remote mountainous areas of central, eastern, and southeastern European countries (Veen et al., 2010). Within Europe, the southeastern European mountain ranges (Carpathians, Dinarides) contain some of the largest areas of well-preserved primary forests, primarily in old-growth stages of development, dominated by European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) (Meyer et al., 2003; Standovár and Kenderes, 2003). There are currently few censuses of TreMs from primary forests because these forests are rare in Europe and they are usually located in remote mountain regions (Parviainen, 2005; Sabatini et al., 2018).

Despite the increased number of TreM studies in the last decade, the role of drivers of TreM densities and diversity is still unknown at the plot and stand scales across different geographical regions (Paillet et al., 2017). Differences in precipitation, temperature, topography, soils, and bedrock play an important role in the development of forest structure, and TreMs develop at differing rates (Paillet et al., 2017). Natural disturbance regimes are another important driver of stand structure in primary forests (Schurman et al., 2018), and studying remnants of primary forests may help us understand the spatial distribution of TreMs under natural conditions (Larrieu et al. 2018). External biotic factors, such as population dynamics of woodpeckers that create cavities, may also influence the production of certain TreMs (Remm and Lõhmus 2011).

This study examines TreM profile from temperate primary forests dominated by European beech in two distinct mountainous regions – the Carpathians and Dinarides. Our objectives were: (i) to provide reference values of TreM density and diversity measures in mountainous mixed beech primary forests and (ii) to evaluate the importance of local plot structure and spatial variability for TreM density and diversity.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area and site selection

We refer to "primary forest" as a forest without signs of direct human impact (Fig. 1, Table 1), and where natural disturbances are the primary driver of forest structure and composition. These forests not only include old growth, but also the early seral stages of development. Potential study forests were selected using previous inventories of primary forest remnants when available (e.g., Veen et al., 2010), searching the available archival information, and historical data regarding the land use history of these areas. Almost all study forests are parts of formally protected areas (i.e., national parks, natural parks, strict forest reserves, UNESCO World Heritage sites), or they are proposed to soon be part of protected areas (i.e., Curai i Eperm, Ramino Korito). During the initial field surveys, all forests were inspected for various indicators of naturalness (e.g., coarse woody debris in various stages of decay, pitand-mound topography, large trees, natural tree species composition) and signs of human impact; forests with evidence of past logging and grazing and those in close proximity (ca. 500 m) to formerly grazed areas were avoided. Preliminary dendrochronological analysis of selectively chosen tree cores from the study stands (30-40 trees per stand) revealed that a significant number of trees in each stand were older than 350 years, and one tree was even more than 450 years old (located at Perućica).

We selected four primary European beech-dominated mountain forests from both regions. Stands from the Carpathian Mountains spanned Slovakia and Romania, and those from the Dinarides were located in Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Albania. The dominant



Fig. 1. Locations of primary forest study areas in the Carpathians and Dinarides.

tree species in these forests was European beech, mixed with mainly silver fir (Abies alba Mill.), maples (Acer spp. L.), and ashes (Fraxinus spp. L.).

In the Carpathians, the Slovakia Havešová (HAV) study site was located in the Bukovské Mountains. Havešová lies within Poloniny National Park and it is part of the UNESCO World Heritage - Primeval Beech Forests of the Carpathians and the Ancient Beech Forests of Germany. In Romania, the selected study forests, Bistra Valley (BIS), Criva (CRI), and Paulic (PAU), were located in the Maramures Mountains, which are formally protected within Maramures Natural Park, located on the Romanian-Ukrainian border.

In the Dinarides, the Ramino Korito (RAM) study site is situated in Velebit Nature Park in the Velebit Mountains of Croatia. The Curraj i Eperm (CUR) and Lumi i Gashit (LUM) sites are part of Nikaj-Mërtur Regional Nature Park located in the Albanian Alps. Lumi i Gashit (Gashi River) is also part of the UNESCO World Heritage - Primeval Beech Forests of the Carpathians and Other Regions of Europe. The site in Bosnia and Herzegovina was located in the Perućica primary forest (PER), which is part of Sutjeska National Park.

There are broad environmental differences between our study sites of the Eastern Carpathians and the Dinarides that are important to point out (Table 1). The average annual precipitation and temperature are higher in the Dinaric region compared to the Carpathian sites. Bedrock in the Dinaric sites is primarily limestone, while in the Carpathians sites it is primarily flysch and gneiss. The sites in the Carpathians were also located on steeper slopes.

2.2. Stand structural data

For the selection of permanent study plots, a polygon network (10 ha each) was created using the ArcView 9.3 Environment (ESRI ArcGIS, 2011). Within each 10-ha polygon we generated a random point to establish sampling points where we established two plots. The paired plots consisted of two 1500 m² circular plots (radius of 21.85 m); each plot center was located 40 m in opposite directions from the random sample point and parallel to the slope contour (Appendix 1). We established 146 permanent sample plots nested within 73 pairs of

Study stan 2009). Me	d characteristics an temperature	from the Dina and mean ann	aric (CUR, LUM, PE) nual precipitation w	Study stand characteristics from the Dinaric (CUR, LUM, PER, RAM) and Carpathian (CRI, HAV, BIS, PAU) mountain 2009). Mean temperature and mean annual precipitation were calculated using measurements from 1901 to 2016.	m (CRI, HAV, BIS, PA measurements from 1	U) mountain ra 901 to 2016.	inges. Climate cl	haracteristics were obt	ained using th	Study stand characteristics from the Dinaric (CUR, LUM, PER, RAM) and Carpathian (CRI, HAV, BIS, PAU) mountain ranges. Climate characteristics were obtained using the KNMI Climate Explorer (Van Oldenborgh et al., 2009). Mean temperature and mean annual precipitation were calculated using measurements from 1901 to 2016.	Van Oldenborgh et al.,
Country Forest	Forest	Number of plots	Number of Elevation range plots (m a.s.L.)	Mean annual precipitation (mm)	Mean temperature range (°C)	Average slope (°)	DBH mean (DBH max) (cm)	Broadleaved- Coniferous ratio (%)	Snags (% from all trees)	Mean number of trees per ha (DBH > 6 cm)	Mean number of TreM-bearing trees per ha
	Dinarides										
Albania	Albania Curraj i Eperm (CUR)	14	1019–1287	1237	7.1–8.4	19.6	24.9 (124.1)	99:1	13	878	306.7
Albania	Lumi i Gashit (LUM)	14	1223-1682	1162	5.9-7.9	27.4	26.1 (135)	58:42	8	820	247.6
Bosnia	Perućica (PER)	48	1057 - 1450	1157	5-7.2	24.7	24.4 (134.5)	60:40	12	951	321.4
Croatia	Ramino Korito (RAM)	16	820-984	1299	8.1–8.9	15.4	32.1 (97.9)	91:9	16	518	281.6
	Carpathians										
Romania	Romania Criva (CRI)	14	874-1147	862	4.2-5.6	34.7	28.1 (120)	77:23	7	533	311.4
Romania	Romania Paulic (PAU)	12	942-1097	830	4.4-5.2	33.7	32.2 (163)	76:24	17	559	350.6
Romania	Romania Bistra (BIS)	14	959-1154	830	4.1-5.1	35.4	32.2 (107.6)	69:31	6	477	176.7
Slovakia	Slovakia Havešová	14	615-710	815	6-6.5	23.4	25.5 (130)	100:0	13	572	226.7
	(HAV)										

³⁶⁵ 56

Table

plots across 8 forest stands. For each tree with diameter at breast height (DBH) \geq 6 cm, the status of all trees (live or snag), tree species, and TreM presence/absence were recorded.

2.3. TreM data

For all study plots, each tree, including the stem and crown, was visually inspected for TreMs by two observers. Based on the typology of Vuidot et al. (2011), we created a list of 30 TreM types that we used to classify TreMs on our plots. All living trees with a DBH > 6 cm and snags located within the plots were searched for presence of TreMs (Appendix 2); we surveyed 13,640 living trees and snags in total. We arranged the TreM types into 12 groups for further analysis according to Paillet et al. (2017): crown deadwood, broken tops, conks of fungi, woodpecker cavities, non-woodpecker cavities, base cavities, bark characteristics, cracks, outgrowths, patches with exudates, epiphytes, and dendrothelms. All TreMs were surveyed in 2015 and 2016 during the period of June to September.

2.4. TreM characteristics

Diversity and density measures of TreMs were quantified for each sample plot. To reflect the diversity of TreM types, diversity was defined in terms of the number of TreM types occurring within the plot. Alpha diversity was defined as the average number of TreM types per tree in a given plot. Because the number of trees varied widely among plots (27–277 trees per plot), gamma diversity was calculated as the total number of TreM types per plot standardized by rarefaction to a common abundance level (n = 27 trees) to ensure comparability across plots (Chao et al., 2014). Beta diversity was defined as the ratio of gamma to alpha diversity, as originally proposed by Whittaker (1960); this ratio measures the degree to which TreM composition changes from tree to tree within a given plot.

To identify TreM densities, we used the index proposed by Paillet et al. (2017), i.e. the density of TreM-bearing trees, which allowed us to compare our results with other studies that used the same indices. Density of TreMs was quantified as the sum of TreM-bearing trees extrapolated to one hectare (Paillet et al., 2017). To determine the number of trees per plot bearing a given TreM type, each TreM type found on a tree was counted only once, even if it was present in greater numbers. Diversity and density measures were also calculated for several broad groups of TreM types (Table 2), in which case when we refer to density, it defines the density of trees bearing a particular TreM type. A major advantage of this sampling design was the minimal amount of time an observer needed to access TreMs in the field. Although we did not record the true abundance of all TreM types, our approach allowed

us to compare our TreM data with other studies that used the same method (e.g., Paillet et al., 2017; Vuidot et al. 2011).

2.5. Data analyses

Generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) were used to assess the effect of local plot structure and spatial variability on diversity and density characteristics of TreMs. Fixed effects included tree species richness (i.e., total number of tree species per plot), RMS DBH (root mean square diameter of trees at breast height in a given plot), proportion of snags (proportion of snags per plot versus total number of trees), and region (Dinarides and Carpathians). The random effects structure mirrored the spatial hierarchical nature of the sampling design, including plots nested within pairs of plots, which were nested within stands nested within regions. In the models of TreM density, the tree density per plot was treated as a nuisance variable to account for a trivial positive relationship between tree density and TreM density. Because diversity and density of TreMs are strictly positive and continuous variables, we used GLMMs with a gamma error distribution and log link function (McCullagh and Nelder, 1989). Model parameters were estimated using Laplace approximation and their significance was tested using likelihood ratio tests (Bolker et al., 2009). There was no serious multicollinearity observed in the models (all VIFs < 2.3). To compare the relative importance of the fixed effects, we calculated semi-partial marginal determination coefficients (R_m²; Nakagawa et al., 2017) derived from a commonality analysis (Ray-Mukherjee et al., 2014). The intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) were used to quantify the proportion of variance explained by each of the hierarchical spatial levels. All analyses were performed in R language version 3.4.3 (R Core Team, 2017) using the lme4 library (Bates et al., 2015).

3. Results

3.1. Total TreM densities

Total mean density of TreM-bearing trees (number of trees bearing at least one TreM) was similar in the Carpathians (266.4 bearing-trees ha⁻¹) and Dinarides (289.3 bearing-trees ha⁻¹). The average density of TreM-bearing trees for all stands was 277.8 TreM-bearing trees ha⁻¹. Epiphytes (128.8 bearing-trees ha⁻¹), bark characteristics (101.2 bearing-trees ha⁻¹), base cavities (65.2 bearing-trees ha⁻¹), and nonwoodpecker cavities (41.3 bearing-trees ha⁻¹) had the highest TreM densities in both regions (Table 2). The lowest densities were observed for outgrowths (9.9 bearing-trees ha⁻¹) and dendrothelms (4.6 bearingtrees ha⁻¹). In the Carpathians, bark characteristics (112.7 bearing-

Table 2

Tree-related microhabitat densities for different TreM groups for the Carpathian and Dinaric mountain ranges, including total, living trees, and snags. All densities are presented as ha^{-1} values.

TreM group	Total TreM density	Carpathians	Dinarides	Snags total	Snags Carpathians	Snags Dinarides	Living trees total	Living trees Carpathians	Living trees Dinarides
Crown deadwood	33.1	31.6	33.9	1.5	2.8	0.7	31.6	28.8	33.3
Broken tops	17.3	29.6	10.1	3.8	6.9	2.0	13.5	22.7	8.1
Conks of fungi	21.8	33.1	15.2	17.7	26.4	12.6	4.1	6.7	2.6
Woodpecker cavities	13.3	15.9	11.7	11.1	12.5	10.3	2.2	3.5	1.4
Non-woodpecker cavities	41.3	28.8	48.7	10.2	7.2	12.0	31.1	21.6	36.7
Base cavities	65.7	98.9	46.2	8.0	10.5	6.5	57.7	88.4	39.7
Bark characteristics	101.2	112.7	94.4	59.1	53.6	62.3	42.1	59.1	32.1
Cracks	30.3	23.7	34.2	7.9	10.4	6.4	22.5	13.3	27.8
Outgrowth	9.9	14.8	7.0	0.8	0.7	0.8	9.1	14.1	6.2
Patches with exudates	16.0	28.5	8.6	1.1	1.5	0.9	14.8	27.0	7.7
Epiphytes	128.8	60.7	168.7	15.8	11.5	18.3	113.0	49.3	150.4
Dendrothelms	4.2	1.6	5.8	0.2	0.0	0.3	4.1	1.6	5.5
SUM	482.9	480.0	484.6	137.1	144.0	133.0	345.8	336.0	351.6

Summary of GLMMs relating diversity (alpha, beta, gamma) and density of microhabitats to fixed and random effects. Likelihood ratio test statistics (χ^2), probabi
(D ² [01]) and inter dom contribution coefficients (ICC [04]) are disablesed Gianificant acceptor acceptor acceptor (2) are designated by (-/

Summers of GLMMs relating diversity (alpha, beta, gamma) and density of microhabitats to fixed and random effects. Likelihood ratio test statistics (χ^2), probabilities (p), semi-partial marginal determination coefficients (R_m^2 [%]), and intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC [%]) are displayed. Significant positive/negative partial relationships (r) are designated by $+/-$ signs, respectively; inequality signs are used for comparisons between Carpathians (C) and Dinarides (D). Model parameters were considered significant at 5% and are highlighted in bold.	relating diversit class correlation (C) and Dinari	ty (alpha, l n coefficie des (D). M	beta, gam ents (ICC Aodel par	uma) and densit [%]) are disple ameters were o	ty of mic ayed. Si{ considere	rohabitat [;] mificant _I ed signific	habitats to fixed and random effects. Likelihood ificant positive/negative partial relationships (r significant at 5% and are highlighted in bold.	random tive par d are hi	effects. tial relat ghlighte	Likelihood ionships (r d in bold.	ratio te:) are de	st statistics (χ^2) , signated by $+/$	probabilities (p), se – signs, respective	emi-partial ma ely; inequality	arginal de y signs a	letermin; 1re used	ation coef for comp	fficients varisons
	Fixed effects											Random effects	fects					
	Tree species richness	ichness	RM	RMS DBH		Propo	Proportion of snags		Region	ш		Stand	Pair	Paired plots	I	Plot		
Model	χ^2 p	R_{m}^{2}	$r \chi^2$	$\chi^2 p R_m^2 r \chi^2 p R_m^2$	${\rm R}^2_{\rm m}$	$r \chi^2$	p	R ²	r X ²	R_m^2 r χ^2 p R_m^2	r r	χ^2 p	ICC χ^2 p	b	ICC 2	ICC χ^2 p		ICC

-				1				,				, ,												
	Fixed effects	sffects														Random effects	effects							
	Tree sp	Tree species richness	ness	щ	RMS DBH			Pr	oportion	Proportion of snags		Region	ion			Stand			Paired plots	plots		Plot		
Model	χ^{2}	р	${\rm R}^2_{\rm m}$	rχ	ć² p	${\rm R}^2_{\rm m}$	2 E	$r \chi^2$	р	F	R_m^2 r	$r \chi^2$	p	${\rm R}_{\rm m}^2$	r	χ^{2}	p	ICC	χ^2	p	ICC	χ^{2}	p	ICC
Alpha diversity Beta diversity	6.3 9.9	0.0121 0.0016		e + +		01	12.2 < 0.1	+ 12	0	001 ±	7.2 4.6	+ + 2.8		1.4 9.0		8.6 2.2	0.0034 0.1395		84.3 64.3	< 0.0001 < 0.0001 < 0.0001	23.0 24.3			48.0 42.1
Gamma diversity	10.5	0.0012	0.2	4 +	52.9 < 0.0	< 0.0001 13.2	3.2	+ 16	16.5 0.0001		2.6	+ 1.0	0.3176	5.5		11.8	0.0006	13.6	62.9	< 0.0001	25.2	63.5	< 0.0001	36.5
Defisity All microhabitats	10.6	0.0011	7.3	+	< 0.1 0.8353		< 0.1	29	29.7 < 0	< 0.0001 1	14.4	+ 0.1	0.7811	< 0.1		4.7	0.0294	5.7	100.9	< 0.0001	33.8	85.7	< 0.0001	44.0
Crown deadwood	0.4	0.5135	0.2	1	15.2 0.0001		5	- 4.4	0		1.9	+ 0.1	0.7995	< 0.1		8.1	0.0044	12.0	3.5	0.0601	18.0		0.9708	0.0
Broken tops	4.3	0.0376	< 0.1	+ +	5.6 0.0181		ں י	- 1.0	0 0.3063		< 0.1	3.2	0.0727	13.9		10.3	0.0013	19.7	50.0	< 0.0001	26.3	28.2	< 0.0001	32.8
Conks of fungi	0.4	0.5268	< 0.1	1	15.3 0.0001	01 7.4	4	+ 11	11.8 0.00	0.0006 6	6.1	+ 5.6	0.0178	13.3	C > D	5.4	0.0203	18.3	10.5	0.0012	12.6	15.6	0.0001	41.1
Woodpecker	0.1	0.7610	0.0		< 0.1 1.0000		< 0.1	21	21.5 < 0	< 0.0001 9	6.6	+ 0.1	0.6993	0.8		8.4	0.0038	11.7	60.6	< 0.0001	29.5	50.1	< 0.0001	39.4
cavities																								
Non-woodpecker	0.6	0.4444	1.4	0	0.8 0.3672	2 0.5	ы С	3.2	2 0.0715		2.1	2.2	0.1419	10.5		6.6	0.0103	10.3	29.7	< 0.0001	14.8	55.7	< 0.0001	56.2
cavit.																								
Base cavities	0.2	0.6821	0.7	9	6.4 0.0112		4.6	+ 3.1		0.0769 4	4.8	0.8	0.3585	5.7		18.9	< 0.0001	18.7	14.0	0.0002	17.3	2.9	0.0910	
Bark characteristics	0.8	0.3864	0.4	1	1.3 0.2631		< 0.1	50	50.9 <	< 0.0001 1	18.8	+ 0.8	0.3583	2.1		5.4	0.0206	7.1	70.6	< 0.0001	25.8	99.3	< 0.0001	
Cracks	2.8	0.0932	3.4		< 0.1 0.8959		< 0.1	1.0		-	0.9	1.5	0.2140	2.4		0.2	0.6855		26.0	< 0.0001	16.0	32.2	< 0.0001	62.6
Outgrowth	0.1	0.7428	0.7	~	7.0 0.0082		1.6	+ 7.6		0.0058 1	1.2	- 3.8	0.0507	8.3		3.7	0.0529	13.6	20.3	< 0.0001	22.4		0.0004	31.3
Patches with	10.2	0.0014	4.3	0 +	0.3 0.6099		< 0.1	4.7		0.0299 1	1.2	+ 1.6	0.2124	8.1		22.5	< 0.0001	25.8	53.4	< 0.0001	17.8	66.8	< 0.0001	40.3
exudates																								
Epiphytes	11.4	0.0007	8.9	- +	5.4 0.0204		5 C	+ 0.5			0.9	6.4		13.9	$\mathbf{C} < \mathbf{D}$	< 0.1	0.9968		51.1	< 0.0001	37.1		< 0.0001	27.6
Dendrothelms	< 0.1	0.9658	< 0.1	۲٦	1 0.1446	le 1.0	0	2.5		0.1146 1	1.2	2.6	0.1098	6.9		1.3	0.2572	10.9	42.2	< 0.0001	26.0	35.6	< 0.0001	33.2

trees ha⁻¹) and base cavities (98.9 bearing-trees ha⁻¹) had the highest densities, and dendrothelms (1.6 bearing-trees ha⁻¹) had the lowest density. The Dinarides were characterized by high TreM densities of epiphytes (168.7 bearing-trees ha⁻¹) and non-woodpecker cavities (48.7 bearing-trees ha⁻¹), and low densities of patches with exudates (8.6 bearing-trees ha⁻¹), outgrowths (7 bearing-trees ha⁻¹), and broken tops (10.1 bearing-trees ha⁻¹).

3.2. Key factors to the diversity of TreMs

Tree species richness, RMS DBH, and the proportion of snags showed significant relationships to TreM alpha diversity (i.e., the mean number of TreM types per tree), and gamma diversity (i.e., the total number of TreM types per plot; Table 3). All these habitat properties were positively correlated with the TreM diversity measures (Fig. 2). RMS DBH displayed a relatively strong relationship with TreM alpha ($R_m^2 = 12.2\%$) and gamma diversity ($R_m^2 = 13.2\%$), but the effect of tree diversity was rather negligible ($R_m^2 \leq 0.6\%$). In contrast, beta diversity, the TreM turnover among trees, was unaffected by tree DBH. Considering spatial variability, alpha, beta, and gamma diversity of TreMs varied widely within paired plots (ICC > 35%) and also among pairs within stands (ICC ~ 23–25%). The contribution of stands to the observed variation was less obvious, but still important (ICC ~ 9–14%), with the exception of beta diversity, where the between-stand component of variance was not significant. We did not find any significant

differences in TreM diversity between the Carpathians and Dinarides.

3.3. Key factors to the density of TreMs

Total density of TreMs was significantly and positively correlated with tree species richness and the proportion of snags in plots; RMS DBH showed no significant relationship with total TreM density (Fig. 2). Total TreM density significantly varied among plots, pairs of plots, and stands, but there was no significant difference in overall TreM density between regions (Table 3).

The density of broken tops, patches with exudates, and epiphytes displayed a significant and positive relationship with tree species richness. RMS DBH was positively related with density of conks of fungi, base cavities, epiphytes, and outgrowths, and it was negatively related with crown deadwood and density of broken tops. The density of most TreMs was significantly correlated with the proportion of snags, both positively (crown deadwood, conks of fungi, woodpecker, bark characteristics, patches with exudates) and negatively (outgrowth). Significant differences between regions were observed for the density of conks of fungi and epiphytes; the first group showed higher densities in the Carpathians, while the latter group was higher in Dinarides. There was also a higher density of outgrowths and broken tops in the Carpathians, although the relationships were marginally non-significant (Table 3). These large-scale geographic trends were accompanied by high similarity of TreM densities among stands within



Fig. 2. Effect plots showing the results of GLMMs testing for the effect of tree species richness, RMS DBH, proportion of snags, and region on diversity (alpha, beta and gamma) and density of TreMs. Predicted values (lines, circles) are displayed along with 95% confidence intervals (gray polygons, error bars).

regions (non-significant stand effects). In contrast, densities of the other TreM groups varied considerably at smaller spatial scales (plots, pairs of plots, stands), and consistent large-scale differences between regions were not evident.

4. Discussion

Preserving the diversity of organisms that rely on specific forest structures is a key conservation challenge as forest management intensifies across the globe (Hansen et al., 2013; Mori and Kitagawa, 2014). Our assessment of TreM densities in primary forests provides a valuable benchmark for forest managers and policy makers that seek to implement structures that will benefit a host of species of conservation concern (Vuidot et al., 2011). We performed the first quantitative TreM analyses and comparison of TreM diversity in primary mixed beechdominated forests in two distinct mountainous regions - the Carpathians and Dinarides. The primary drivers of TreM density (number of trees bearing a particular TreM per hectare) and diversity (richness of TreM types) at the plot scale in these forests were structural characteristics, such as RMS DBH, tree species composition, and proportion of snags. Geographical distance between regions did not play an important role in TreM densities and diversity, either at the alpha, beta, or gamma levels. Our study highlights that TreM densities observed in the primary forests were significantly higher in comparison to densities presented in studies from managed forests (e.g., Larrieu et al. 2012; Paillet et al., 2017).

We observed a significant increase in total TreMs density and alpha and gamma diversity of TreM types with an increased proportion of snags and tree species richness. Several studies have already observed the importance of snags, large living trees, and different tree species for densities of TreM types (Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012; Larrieu et al., 2014a; Vuidot et al., 2011). Tree diameter has also been recognized as an important factor in TreM dynamics across different forest types; it has been observed to influence the abundance of TreMs (Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012), the diversity of TreM types (Larrieu et al. 2014a; Vuidot et al., 2011), or the occurrence of some TreM types, such as bark characteristics (Michel and Winter, 2009). Large diameter trees were also important in our study, especially for alpha and gamma diversity of TreMs, and densities of some TreM types. We did not find a significant relationship between DBH and total TreM density; most studies that observed a significant relationship between tree diameter and TreM used the DBH of the individual tree bearing the TreM. In contrast, we used RMS DBH of the trees on a plot, which likely introduced noise into the relationship given the mixed severity disturbance regimes of the region, and we also counted only one TreM type on each TreM-bearing tree, which may also further mask any relationship between diameter and density of TreMs. Tree species composition is another factor that has been observed to influence total TreM density and diversity (Larrieu and Cabanettes, 2012; Larrieu et al., 2014a; Vuidot et al., 2011). Tree species diversity has also been observed to positively influence densities of some specific TreMs, such as broken tops, patches with exudates, and epiphytes. Patches with exudates, such as sap-runs and gummosis, are more likely to be found on deciduous trees (Siitonen, 2012), while the excurrent growth habit of conifers makes them more susceptible to broken tops. The proportion of snags had a significant effect on TreM diversity at the alpha, beta, and gamma levels, and also on the overall density of TreMs (Table 3). However, we observed that all TreM types were present within the living trees and snags as well, which may be due to partial mortality, whereby dead wood occurs on living trees, which is characteristic of very large trees (Siitonen, 2012) that could bear TreMs normally present on dead trees in managed forests (e.g., woodpecker feeding holes). Our findings emphasize the importance of snags in broadleaved stands because they promote increased TreM diversity and densities within beech-dominated primary forests. We also observed higher densities of certain TreM types that are rarer on living trees than on snags (woodpecker cavities, conks of fungi, and bark

characteristics), which is consistent with the findings of Vuidot et al. (2011) and Larrieu and Cabanettes (2012), whereas the presence of conks of fungi and woodpecker cavities were significantly higher on snags than on living trees (Appendix 3). Woodpeckers generally prefer to nest and roost in snags, and fungi play an important role in the excavation of woodpecker cavities (Zahner et al. 2012), and woodpeckers are often suggested as a vector for the fungus (Jackson and Jackson, 2004). After the tree dies, the decay process promotes conditions that influence the occurrence of other TreM types, such as bark characteristics and non-woodpecker cavities (Vuidot et al., 2011). Although snags represented only 7-17% of all trees per stand, they accounted for one-third of the density of all TreMs tallied in our study (Table 2). Our results generally agree with prior TreM research conducted in different regions, and it highlights the positive effects of high levels of structural heterogeneity (e.g., large trees, and high tree species richness and proportions of snags) to support a diverse array of TreMs. Finally, our results showed higher densities of TreMs associated with certain taxa compared to published conservation guidelines: a minimum of 40 cavities per hectare for the conservation of cavity dwelling birds (Blondel, 2005) or a network of 7-10 live cavity- or crack-bearing trees per hectare for bats (Meschede and Heller, 2003). Our data support these findings and demonstrate that the primary forests can reach very high TreM levels.

Here, we compared for the first time TreM densities and diversity between primary forests of the Carpathian and Dinarides mountain ranges. Although precipitation and temperature differ among the regions (Table 1), we did not observe significant differences in total TreM densities or TreM diversity between the regions. Both of the regions had similarly high diversity values (Table 2). However, we observed significant differences in densities of several TreM types between the regions, including densities of conks of fungi and epiphytes (Table 3), which could potentially be influenced by large-scale climatic differences or soil properties (Ding et al., 2016). However, our results suggested significant variability between TreM densities and diversity on relatively small spatial gradients (stand and plot levels). We observed TreM densities almost two times greater than that of Paillet et al. (2017) in strict mixed mountain forest reserves of France (Table 2; Appendix 2). They determined that strict forest reserves had higher TreM densities, both total and individual densities, than comparable adjacent managed forests. This general trend has also been observed in several other European forests (Winter and Moller, 2008; Winter, 2015). Although Paillet et al. (2017) sampled strict forest reserves, the mean time since any previous harvesting was only 48 years; it is impossible to identify the structure of the stands at the beginning of the set-aside period or how intensively the stands were managed prior to their strict reserve designation. We analyzed TreMs exclusively from remote primary forests with very limited access, and it is likely that these stands were never managed; some of the oldest trees are more than 450 years old. Compared to the findings of Paillet et al. (2017), we observed the density of broken tops was more than 10 times higher on average, and almost 20 times higher in the Carpathians. The higher densities of broken tops may be attributable to the natural disturbance regime that influences structural dynamics in primary forests (Meigs et al., 2017), as well as the high proportion of live trees bearing polypores, such as Fomes fomentarius or Fomitopsis pinicola, which make beech stems more prone to breakage (Zeibig et al., 2005). In addition, taller trees with larger primary branches may be more prone to partial crown loss. Similar conclusions can be drawn for higher densities of other TreM groups. High volumes and diversity of deadwood, which are typical of primary forests (Nagel et al., 2017), may influence the presence of conks of fungi and even woodpeckers (Jackson and Jackson, 2004). We also observed much higher densities of base cavities compared to Paillet et al. (2017); because large cavities take more time to develop, higher rates of occurrence on very old trees would be expected, thus many primary forests would have higher numbers of older trees with longer periods of time since the last severe disturbance (Siitonen, 2012). In

contrast, we found lower densities of outgrowths and bark characteristics in the Dinaric dataset compared to the French strict forest reserves (Paillet et al., 2017); outgrowths and bark characteristics tend to occur more frequently on oaks (*Quercus* spp.), firs (*Abies* spp.), and spruces (*Picea* spp.) compared to beech (Vuidot et al., 2011). However, higher densities of outgrowths and bark characteristics were found in the Carpathian dataset than in the Dinarides dataset.

5. Conclusions

We conducted the first assessment of tree-related microhabitats in beech-dominated primary forests of the Carpathian and Dinaric mountain ranges: these sites represent some of the last remnants of primary forests in Europe. Our study provides an empirical analysis of TreM variability and reference values from these primary forests, both of which will help inform forest managers, conservation strategies, and policy decisions. These reference values provide a means to assess the influence of forest management on the TreM profile. However, our study sites represent a relatively small fraction of these two vast mountain ranges. To improve our understanding of TreM dynamics, we suggest a more thorough survey of primary forest study areas across the Dinaric and Carpathian Mountains, as well as other mountain ranges where similar forest types occur. Climate characteristics, topographical features, such as the presence of cliffs that can increase the occurrence of certain TreMs, such as bark loss, by rock falls, or biotic factors, such as woodpecker density (or diversity) or the presence of large ungulates,

may also play an important role in the availability of TreMs. A potentially important driver of TreM density and diversity may be the natural disturbance regime that may play an important role in creation and maintenance of TreMs. Future research will include the analysis of disturbance history variables in relation to TreMs. In particular, a dendroecological approach could be used to link natural disturbance history with TreM diversity and density, and to assess how forest development influences the distribution of TreMs. Finally, our results show that primary forests maintain high TreM diversity, and that they may significantly contribute to the overall species diversity across forested landscapes. Although our paper did not directly compare primary forests with managed forests under similar environmental conditions, we also plan to establish plots in managed forests near primary forests in future studies to better understand TreM dynamics and the critical role of protected areas to maintain and enhance biodiversity in our modern world.

Acknowledgement

This project was supported by the institutional projectNo. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000803, MSMT project LTC17055, through the Czech University of Life Sciences (Grant IGA no. B09/17 and CIGA no. 20184304), and Marek Svitok was supported by the European Regional Development Fund-Project "Mechanisms and dynamics of macromolecular complexes: from single molecules to cells" (No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/15_003/0000441).

Appendix 1

Example of the nested plot structure. The red cross indicates the randomly generated navigation point used to locate the pair of circular sample plots.



2	
dix	
Jen	
Apt	

les.
ē
alı
Ň
- 1
лa
s
la.
- e
Ę
SS
Ξ
<u>ц</u>
are
ŝ
Ξ÷
ISI.
er
Б
A
ŝ
50
ŭ
с С
ğ
ŝ
tre
50
vin
liv
1
ťaj
to
60
Ē.
pŋ
Ŀ
Ξ.
ŝ
nge
Ē
5
in ra
ta
딕
ğ
Ε
aric
ar
Dine
1 D
nd
5
Б
thi
~
<u> </u>
Ga
e Caı
the Carp
or the Can
for the Cai
es for the Car
ypes for the Car
1 types for the Car
eM types for the Car
reM types for tl
d TreM types for the Car
reM types for tl
surveyed TreM types for t
tat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
surveyed TreM types for t
itat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
abitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for th
e-related microhabitat densities for all surveyed TreM types for t

(ordinedicationX(wondpredication currents)X(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationX(wondpredicationXXX	TreM group	Correlation with typology from Larrieu et al. (2018)	TreM type	Total number of TreMs	Total TreM density	Total Carpathians	Total Dinarides	Total snags	Carpathians snags	Dinarides snags	Total living trees	Carpathians living trees	Dinarides living trees
X (partially)Non-wookpecker evolutions with $^{-5}$ Gen uperture743402.74064.12.64.92.99201outpockeris with substranting outputsis work wookpecker evolutions effortionis work wookpecker evolutionsis work wookpeckeris work wookpeckeris work with a maximum distance of woooutpockeris at star with a maximum distance of woois work with a maximum distance of woois work with a maximum distance of woois work with a maximum distance of woooutpockeris star with a maximum distance of woois star with a maximum distance of woois work with a maximum distance of woois work with a maximum distance of woointers between two works are mipportant starting pothis work wookpeckeris work wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris work wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wook wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wook wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpeckeris wookpecker	Woodpecker cavities	Х	Woodpecker cavities with > 2 cm aperture, woodpecker breeding or feeding holes	289	13.2	15.9	11.6	11.1	12.5	10.2	2.1	3.5	1.4
XConvertigent and starting at least three woodpecker cavities107.46.08.16.14.67.01.21.5woodpeckerinterest between two cavity entrances of twointerest between two cavity entrancesinterest between two cavity entrances <t< td=""><td>Non- woodpecker cavities</td><td>X (partially)</td><td></td><td></td><td>34.0</td><td>22.7</td><td>40.6</td><td>4.1</td><td>2.6</td><td>4.9</td><td>29.9</td><td>20.1</td><td>35.7</td></t<>	Non- woodpecker cavities	X (partially)			34.0	22.7	40.6	4.1	2.6	4.9	29.9	20.1	35.7
peckershallow cavities in the bark arranged in a ring 20.10.00.10.00.10.00.1wittesxbeep stem cavities in the bark arranged in a ring 20.10.00.10.00.10.00.1cavitiesXbeep stem cavities in thular cavity in the base840.46.2327.52.43.61.738.058.8cavitiesXDeep stem cavities a tubular cavity in the base5252.4035.917.05.46.84.618.629.1cavitiesXDeep stem cavities a tubular cavity in the base5252.4035.917.05.46.84.618.629.1cavitiesXDeep stem cavities a tubular cavity in the base301.40.65.40.00.10.00.110.0cavitiesXDeep stem cavities a tubular cavity in the base5252.405.41.2120.91.70.91.10.00.110.5cavitiesXTere with bolow > 50 cm aperture301.41.2120.96.90.11.01.11.11.5cavitiesXTere with bolow > 50 cm aperture301.21.20.31.11.11.5cavitiesXTere with bolow > 50 cm aperture301.21.20.31.11.11.1cavitiesXTere with bolow > 50 cm aperture301.21.20.37.4 <td>Non- woodpecker cavities</td> <td>×</td> <td>Cavity string: at least three woodpecker cavities in a stem with a maximum distance of two meters between two cavity entrances. Cavity strings are an important starting point for the development of deep and long lasting stem cavities</td> <td></td> <td>7.4</td> <td>6.0</td> <td>8.1</td> <td>6.1</td> <td>4.6</td> <td>7.0</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>1.5</td> <td>1.1</td>	Non- woodpecker cavities	×	Cavity string: at least three woodpecker cavities in a stem with a maximum distance of two meters between two cavity entrances. Cavity strings are an important starting point for the development of deep and long lasting stem cavities		7.4	6.0	8.1	6.1	4.6	7.0	1.2	1.5	1.1
cavitiesXDeep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base844046.2.32.7.52.43.61.738.058.8civitiesXDeep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base5.524.035.917.05.46.61.86.91.82.91civitiesXDeep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base5.224.035.917.05.46.84.61.82.91civitiesXDeep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base301.40.61.80.20.10.34.11.6civitiesXDefined holes in wood36 cm aperture. Water301.41.05.80.20.00.34.11.6se withXRavy sap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin drops2641.2.120.96.90.91.20.71.121.9.6datesFew yap or resin freeh heavy flow of sap or863.97.71.70.30.33.77.4utatesFew yap or resin freeh heavy flow of sap or863.97.71.70.30.33.77.4set huldX (partially)Conks of fungi (both perennial and annusi.2851.301.01.01.01.01.01.01.0set huldX (partially)Conks of fungi (both perennial and annusi.2851.301.01.01.01.01.01.01.01.22.3set hu	Woodpecker cavities			2	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
cavitiesXDeep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base52524035.9170546.84.618.629.1cavitiesXTere with hollow > 30 cm apeture301.40.61.80.20.10.31.10.5coheniesXDendrohhenis with > 5 cm apeture301.40.61.80.20.00.31.10.5coheniesXSap or resin drop: ONy aftewapor resin those334.21.65.80.20.00.34.11.0coheniesXSap or resin drop: ONy aftewapor resin those341.2120.96.90.91.20.711.219.6udatesKHeavy spor resin: fresh heavy flow of sap or83.97.71.70.30.20.33.77.4udatesFaivy spor resin: fresh heavy flow of sap or83.97.71.70.30.20.33.77.4udatesFaivy spor resin: fresh heavy flow of sap or83.31.318.010.110.113.68.02.94.4udatesFaivy spor resin: fresh heavy flow of sap or83.31.318.01.31.41.44.61.44.6udatesFaivy spor resin of smaller sizeFaivy spor second83.97.71.71.71.72.94.4for flug flow of sap orFaivy spor secondFaivy spor second1.31.3 <t< td=""><td>Base cavities</td><td>X</td><td>Deep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base of the tree without mold</td><td></td><td>40.4</td><td>62.3</td><td>27.5</td><td>2.4</td><td>3.6</td><td>1.7</td><td>38.0</td><td>58.8</td><td>25.8</td></t<>	Base cavities	X	Deep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base of the tree without mold		40.4	62.3	27.5	2.4	3.6	1.7	38.0	58.8	25.8
cavitiesXTree with hollow > 30 cm aperture301.40.61.80.20.10.31.10.5othelmsXBendrohenes with > 5 cm aperture. Water-934.21.65.80.20.00.34.11.6es withXSap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin drops2641.2120.96.90.91.20.711.219.6es withXReav sap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin fesh heavy flow of sap or863.97.71.70.30.20.34.11.6withXHeavy sap or resin: fesh heavy flow of sap or863.97.71.70.30.20.37.4udatesresin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or863.97.71.70.30.20.33.77.4udatesresin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or863.97.71.70.30.20.33.77.4udatesresin of sameter sizeresin of sameter size1.8.010.110.113.68.02.94.4s of fungiX (partially)Conks of fungi (both peremial and amusi;1938.815.15.15.61.22.2s of fungiX (partially)Conks of fungi (both peremial and amusi;1938.05.57.67.44.61.22.2s of fungiX (partially)Conks of fungi	Base cavities	Х	Deep stem cavities: a tubular cavity in the base of the tree with mold	525	24.0	35.9	17.0	5.4	6.8	4.6	18.6	29.1	12.4
es with X Sap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin drops 264 12.1 20.9 6.9 0.9 1.2 0.7 112 19.6 udates (shorter than 30 cm or < 6 flows) indicating a innor injury sap or resin fresh heavy flow of sap or es with X Heavy sap or resin fresh heavy flow of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm or < 5 flows of sap or resin of smaller size (struct than 30 cm of sap or) Conks of fung (both perennial and amual; 285 13.0 18.0 10.1 10.1 13.6 8.0 2.9 4.4) So flumg (both perennial and amual; 193 8.8 15.1 5.1 7.6 12.8 4.6 1.2 2.2 aracterise (struct than bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of satertise (struct than bodies s = 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of truct than bodies are so flumg (noth perennial falling of trues and rock falls x (partially) Bark burst: black burst of bark at least 2 cm 41 1.9 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.8 2.6 satertise (struct than sinch with resin indicating injury/disease (struct than 30 cm sinch sin	Base cavities Dendrothelms	XX		30 93	1.4 4.2	0.6 1.6	1.8 5.8	0.2 0.2	0.1 0.0	0.3 0.3	1.1 4.1	0.5 1.6	1.5 5.5
es with X Heavy sap or resin: fresh heavy flow of sap or sap or least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or resin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or resin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or resin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or resin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or resin at least 30 cm long or > 5 flows of sap or resin at least 30 cm long or sates). Fruiting bodies , diameter or cord in 10 cm long agarics). Fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long agarics). Fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies = 5 cm in diameter occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies = 5 cm in diameter occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies = 5 cm in diameter occur in 10 cm long ca	Patches with exudates	X	Sap or resin drop: Only a few sap or resin drops (shorter than 30 cm or < 6 flows) indicating a minor injury		12.1	20.9	6.9	0.9	1.2	0.7	11.2	19.6	6.2
s of fungi X (partially) Conks of fungi (both peremial and annual; 285 13.0 18.0 10.1 10.1 13.6 8.0 2.9 4.4 > 5 cm > 2 cm > 5 cm > 2	Patches with exudates	×	Heavy sap or resin: fresh heavy flow of sap or resin at least $30 \text{ cm} \log \text{ or} > 5$ flows of sap or resin of smaller size	86	3.9	7.7	1.7	0.3	0.2	0.3	3.7	7.4	1.4
s of fungi X (partially) Conks of fungi (both peremuial and annual; 193 8.8 15.1 5.1 7.6 12.8 4.6 1.2 2.2 including agarics). Fruiting bodies > 5 cm in diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascades of smaller fruiting bodies maller fruiting bodies X Bark loss: patches with bark loss of at least 5 * 5 1768 80.7 95.6 72.0 45.9 44.4 46.8 34.8 51.1 cm mainly caused by felling, natural falling of trees and rock falls trees and rock falls X (partially) Bark burst is black burst of bark at least 2 cm 41 1.9 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.8 2.6 aracters wide often with resin indicating injury/disease	Conks of fungi	X (partially)	Conks of fungi (both perennial and annual; including agarics). Fruiting bodies, diameter > 5 cm	285	13.0	18.0	10.1	10.1	13.6	8.0	2.9	4.4	2.0
X Bark loss: patches with bark loss of at least 5 * 5 1768 80.7 95.6 72.0 45.9 44.4 46.8 34.8 51.1 aracteris- cm mainly caused by felling, natural falling of trees and rock falls 34.8 51.1 s trees and rock falls trees and rock falls 1.9 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.1 1.8 2.6 aracteris- x (partially) Bark burst: black burst of bark at least 2 cm 41 1.9 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.1 1.8 2.6 aracteris- wide often with resin indicating injury/disease s 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.1 1.8 2.6	Conks of fungi	X (partially)	Conks of fungi (both perennial and ar including agarics). Fruiting bodies > diameter or occur in 10 cm long cascs smaller fruiting bodies	193	8.8	15.1	5.1	7.6	12.8	4.6	1.2	2.2	0.6
X (partially) Bark burst: black burst of bark at least 2 cm 41 1.9 2.7 1.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 1.8 2.6 aracteris- wide often with resin indicating injury/disease ss	Bark characteris- tics	Х	Bark loss: patches with bark loss of at least 5 * 5 cm mainly caused by felling, natural falling of trees and rock falls		80.7	95.6	72.0	45.9	44.4	46.8	34.8	51.1	25.2
	Bark characteris- tics	X (partially)	Bark burst: black burst of bark at least 2 cm wide often with resin indicating injury/disease	41	1.9	2.7	1.4	0.1	0.1	0.1	1.8	2.6	1.3

D. Kozák et al.

Bark characteris-		Gnaw and peeling by ungulates	20	0.9	1.5	0.6	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.6	1.4	0.1
Broken tops	X (partially)	Splintered stem: the split-up results in numerous scales (minimum 5) of wood > 50 cm lone: caused by another tree fall etc.	70	3.2	4.2	2.6	2.1	3.0	1.5	1.1	1.2	1.1
Cracks Cracks	x x	Lightning scar: a crack caused by lightning; at least 3 m long and reaching the sapwood Cracks: cleft into the sapwood > 25 cm long	4 660	0.2 30.1	0.0 23.7	0.3 33.9	0.0	0.0 10.4	0.1 6.3	0.1 22.3	0.0 13.3	0.2 27.6
	:						2		2			
Bark characteris- tics	х	Bark pocket: space between loose bark and the sapwood with a minimum extension of 5 * 5 * 2 cm	357	16.3	11.4	19.2	11.9	7.7	14.4	4.4	3.7	4.8
Bark characteris- tics	х	k pocket with mold: same structure and size Bark loss but with mold.	30	1.4	1.6	1.2	0.8	1.2	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.7
Crown deadwood	X (partially)	Between 10% and 25% of dead crown: one or more main branches are dead. The living crown represents 75% of the former total crown	434	19.8	16.8	21.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	19.8	16.8	21.5
Crown deadwood	X (partially)	Between 25% and 50% of dead crown: one or more main branches are dead. The living crown represents between 50 and 75% of the former total crown	127	5.8	6.8	5.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	5.8	6.8	5.1
Crown deadwood	X (partially)	More than 50% of dead crown: one or more main branches are dead. The living crown seems to be $< 50\%$ of the former total crown	163	7.4	8.0	7.1	1.4	2.8	0.5	6.1	5.2	6.6
Broken tops	X	Broken stem: the primary crown is totally absent with or without presence of a secondary crown. Main parts of the tree stem are already dead with decomposing processes	265	12.1	25.1	4.5	1.7	4.0	0.4	10.4	21.1	4.1
Broken tops	×	Broken fork: complete fracture of one of the two forking branches; the loss of one forking branch results in a severe damage of the main stem	44	2.0	0.4	3.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	2.0	0.4	3.0
Outgrowth	X	Canker: proliferation of cell growth; irregular cellular growth on stems or branches, which is caused by bark-inhabiting fungi, viruses and bacteria. We recorded areas of canker > 10 cm in diameter	211	9.6	14.7	6.7	0.8	0.7	0.8	8.9	14.0	5.9
Outgrowth	X	Witch broom: dense agglomeration of branches from a parasite or epicormic branching	9	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.4
Epiphytes	X	Bryophytes developed on $> 50\%$ of the base or trunk area (height $< 1 \text{ m}$)	2762	126.1	57.2	166.6	15.5	11.5	17.9	110.6	45.7	148.7
Epiphytes	X	Ivy developed on $> 50\%$ of the base or trunk area (height $< 1 \text{ m}$)	18	0.8	0.0	1.3	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.6	0.0	0.9
Epiphytes	х	Mistletoe: presence of a hemiparasitic plants (e.g. Viscum spp., Arceuthobium oxycedri, Loranthus europaeus)	40	1.8	3.6	0.8	0.0	0.0	0.1	1.8	3.6	0.7
		SUM	10,576	482.9	480.0	484.6	137.1	144.0	133.0	345.8	336.0	351.6

 $\overset{\scriptscriptstyle{372}}{63}$

Appendix 3

Comparison of densities of TreM groups between snags and living trees.



References

- Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B.M., Walker, S.C., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects
- Models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01. Bauhus, J., 2009. Silviculture for old-growth attributes. For. Ecol. Manage. 258, 525–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.01.053.
- Blondel, J., 2005. Bois mort et cavités: leur rôle pour l'avifaune cavicole. In: Vallauri, D., André, J., Dodelin, B., Eynard-Machet, R., Rambaud, D. (Eds.), Bois mort et à cavités: une clé pour des forêts vivantes. Lavoisier, Paris, pp. 137–144.
- Bolker, B.M., Brooks, M.E., Clark, C.J., Geange, S.W., Poulsen, J.R., Stevens, M.H.H., White, J.-S.S., 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008. 10.008.
- Chao, A., Gotelli, N.J., Hsieh, T.C., Sander, E.L., Ma, K.H., Colwell, R.K., Ellison, A.M., Chao, A., Gotelli, N.J., Hsieh, T.C., Sander, E.L., Ma, K.H., Colwell, R.K., Ellison, a.m., 2014. Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: a framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. Ecol. Monogr. 84, 45–67. http://www. jstor.org/stable/43187596.
- Commarmot, B., Brändli, U.-B., Hamor, F., Lavnyy, V., 2013. Inventory of the Largest Primeval Beech Forest in Europe. A Swiss-Ukrainian Scientific Adventure.
- Courbaud, B., Pupin, C., Letort, A., Cabanettes, A., Larrieu, L., 2017. Modelling the probability of microhabitat formation on trees using cross-sectional data. Methods Ecol. Evol. 8 (10), 1347–1359. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijlh.12426.
- Ding, Y., Liu, G., Zang, R., Zhang, J., Lu, X., Huang, J., 2016. Distribution of vascular epiphytes along a tropical elevational gradient: disentangling abiotic and biotic determinants. Sci. Rep. 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19706.
- ESRI ArcGIS, 2011. Release 10. Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands, CA. Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Tyukavina, A., Thau, D., Stehman, S.V., Goetz, S.J., Loveland, T.R., Kommareddy, A., Egorov, A., Chini, L., Justice, C.O., Townshend, J.R.G., 2013. High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. Science (80-.) 342, 850–853. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.1244693.
- Hunter Jr., M.L., 1999. Maintaining biodiversity in Forest Ecosystems. Cambridge Univ. Press 10.1046/j.1365-2664.1999.00459-3.x.
- Jackson, J.A., Jackson, B.J.S., 2004. Ecological relationships between fungi and woodpecker cavity sites. Condor 106, 37. https://doi.org/10.1650/7483.
- Keren, S., Diaci, J., 2018. Comparing the quantity and structure of deadwood in selection managed and old-growth forests in South-East Europe. Forests 9, 1–16. https://doi. org/10.3390/f9020076.
- Keren, S., Diaci, J., Motta, R., Govedar, Z., 2017. Stand structural complexity of mixed old-growth and adjacent selection forests in the Dinaric Mountains of Bosnia and Herzegovina. For. Ecol. Manage. 400, 531–541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco. 2017.06.009.

Kraus, D., Krumm, F., 2013. Integrative Approaches as An Opportunity for the Conservation of Forest Biodiversity. European Forest Institute.

Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A., 2012. Species, live status, and diameter are important tree features for diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in subnatural montane

beech-fir forests. Can. J. For. Res. 42, 1433-1445. https://doi.org/10.1139/x2012-077.

- Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A., Brin, A., Bouget, C., Deconchat, M., 2014a. Tree microhabitats at the stand scale in montane beech-fir forests: practical information for taxa conservation in forestry. Eur. J. For. Res. 133, 355–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10342-013-0767-1.
- Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A., Delarue, A., 2012. Impact of silviculture on dead wood and on the distribution and frequency of tree microhabitats in montane beech-fir forests of the Pyrenees. Eur. J. For. Res. 131, 773–786. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-011-0551-z.
- Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A., Gonin, P., Lachat, T., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bouget, C., Deconchat, M., 2014b. Deadwood and tree microhabitat dynamics in unharvested temperate mountain mixed forests: a life-cycle approach to biodiversity monitoring. For. Ecol. Manage. 334, 163–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.09.007.
- Larrieu, L., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bütler, R., Kraus, D., Krumm, F., Lachat, T., Michel, A.K., Regnery, B., Vandekerkhove, K., 2018. Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: a hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. Ecol. Indic. 84, 194–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.08.051.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Franklin, J.F., Fischer, J., 2006. General management principles and a checklist of strategies to guide forest biodiversity conservation. Biol. Conserv. 131, 433–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2006.02.019.

McCullagh, P., Nelder, J.A., 1989. Generalized Linear Models, second ed. Chapman and Hall/CRC, USA.

- Meigs, G.W., Morrissey, R.C., Bače, R., Chaskovskyy, O., Čada, V., Després, T., Donato, D.C., Janda, P., Lábusová, J., Seedre, M., Mikoláš, M., Nagel, T.A., Schurman, J.S., Synek, M., Teodosiu, M., Trotsiuk, V., Vítková, L., Svoboda, M., 2017. More ways than one: Mixed-severity disturbance regimes foster structural complexity via multiple developmental pathways. For. Ecol. Manage. 406, 410–426. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foreco.2017.07.051.
- Meschede, A., Heller, K.G., 2003. Ecologie et protection des chauvessouris en milieu forestier. MHN de Genéve. Le Rhinolophe 16, 1–248.
- Meyer, P., Tabaku, V., von Lupke, B., 2003. Structural characteristics of Albanian beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) virgin forests – deductions for semi-natural forestry. Forstwissenschaftliches Cent. 122, 47–58. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0337. 2003.02041.x.
- Michel, A.K., Winter, S., 2009. Tree microhabitat structures as indicators of biodiversity in Douglas-fir forests of different stand ages and management histories in the Pacific Northwest, USA. For. Ecol. Manage. 257 (6), 1453–1464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foreco.2008.11.027.
- Mori, A.S., Kitagawa, R., 2014. Retention forestry as a major paradigm for safeguarding forest biodiversity in productive landscapes: a global meta-analysis. Biol. Conserv. 175, 65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.04.016.
- Nagel, T.A., Firm, D., Pisek, R., Mihelic, T., Hladnik, D., de Groot, M., Rozenbergar, D., 2017. Evaluating the influence of integrative forest management on old-growth habitat structures in a temperate forest region. Biol. Conserv. 216, 101–107. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.10.008.
- Nakagawa, S., Johnson, P.C.D., Schielzeth, H., 2017. The coefficient of determination R2 and intra-class correlation coefficient from generalized linear mixed-effects models

D. Kozák et al.

revisited and expanded. J. R. Soc. Interface 14, 20170213. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsif.2017.0213.

- Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Fuhr, M., Gilg, O., Gosselin, F., Guilbert, E., 2017. Snags and large trees drive higher tree microhabitat densities in strict forest reserves. For. Ecol. Manage. 389, 176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. foreco.2016.12.014.
- Parviainen, J., 2005. Virgin and natural forests in the temperate zone of Europe. For. Snow Landsc. Res. 79, 9–18.
- Peterken, G.F., 1996. Natural Woodland: Ecology and conservation in Northern Temperate Regions. Cambridge University Press.
- R Core Team, 2017. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ray-Mukherjee, J., Nimon, K., Mukherjee, S., Morris, D.W., Slotow, R., Hamer, M., 2014. Using commonality analysis in multiple regressions: a tool to decompose regression effects in the face of multicollinearity. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 320–328. https://doi. org/10.1111/2041-210X.12166.
- Regnery, B., Couvet, D., Kubarek, L., Kerbiriou, C., 2013a. Tree microhabitats as indicators of bird and bat communities in Mediterranean forests. Ecol. Indicat. 34, 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2013.05.003.
- Regnery, B., Paillet, Y., Couvet, D., Kerbiriou, C., 2013b. Forest ecology and management which factors influence the occurrence and density of tree microhabitats in Mediterranean oak forests? For. Ecol. Manage. 295, 118–125.
- Remm, J., Lõhmus, A., 2011. Tree cavities in forests the broad distribution pattern of a keystone structure for biodiversity. For. Ecol. Manage. 262, 579–585. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.04.028.
- Sabatini, F.M., Burrascano, S., Keeton, W.S., Levers, C.H., Lindner, M., Potzchner, F., Verkerk, P.J., Bauhus, J., Buchwald, E., Chaskovsky, O., Debaive, N., Horváth, F., Garbarino, M., Grigoriadis, N., Lombardi, F., Duarte, I.M., Meyer, P., Midteng, R., Mikac, S., Mikoláš, M., Motta, R., Mozgeris, G., Nunes, L., Panayotov, M., Ódor, P., Ruete, A., Simovski, B., Stillhard, J., Svoboda, M., Szwagrzyk, J., Tikkanen, O.P., Volosyanchuk, R., Vrska, T., Zlatanov, T., Kuemmerle, T., 2018. Where are Europe's last primary forests? Divers. Distrib. 00, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12778.

- Schurman, J.S., Trotsiuk, V., Bače, R., Čada, V., Fraver, S., Janda, P., Kulakowski, D., Lábusová, J., Mikoláš, M., Nagel, T.A., Seidl, R., Synek, M., Svobodová, K., Chaskovskyy, O., Teodosiu, M., Svoboda, M., 2018. Large-scale disturbance legacies and the climate sensitivity of primary Picea abies forests. Global Change Biol. https:// doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14041.
- Siitonen, J., 2012. Microhabitats. In: Biodiversity in Dead Wood, pp. 150–182. https:// doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139025843.008.
- Standovár, T., Kenderes, K., 2003. A review on natural stand dynamics in beechwoods of east central Europe. Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res. 1, 19–46.
- Van Oldenborgh, G.J., Drijfhout, S., Van Ulden, A., Haarsma, R., Sterl, A., Severijns, C., Hazeleger, W., Dijkstra, H., 2009. Western Europe is warming much faster than expected. Clim. Past 5, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.5194/cp-5-1-2009.
- Veen, P., Fanta, J., Raev, I., Biriş, İ.A., de Smidt, J., Maes, B., 2010. Virgin forests in Romania and Bulgaria: results of two national inventory projects and their implications for protection. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 1805–1819. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10531-010-9804-2.
- Vuidot, A., Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Gosselin, F., 2011. Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. Biol. Conserv. 144, 441–450. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.09.030.
- Whittaker, R.H., 1960. Vegetation of the Siskiyou Mountains, Oregon and California. Ecol. Monogr.
- Winter, S., 2015. Association of tree and plot characteristics with microhabitat formation in European beech and Douglas-fir forests. Eur. J. Forest. Res. 134, 335–347. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10342-014-0855-x.
- Winter, S., Möller, G.C., 2008. Microhabitats in lowland beech forests as monitoring tool for nature conservation. For. Ecol. Manage. 255, 1251–1261. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foreco.2007.10.029.
- Zahner, V., Sikora, L., Pasinelli, G., 2012. Heart rot as a key factor for cavity tree selection in the black woodpecker. For. Ecol. Manage. 271, 98–103.
- Zeibig, A., Diaci, J., Wagner, S., 2005. Gap disturbance patterns of a Fagus sylvatica virgin forest remnant in the mountain vegetation belt of Slovenia. For. Snow Landsc. Res. 79, 69–80.

5.3 Primary forests provide more tree-related microhabitats than managed ones underlining the need of their conservation

In review as:

Asbeck, T., Kozák, D., Spînu, A., Mikoláš, M., Šilhánová, V., Svoboda, M. (2019). Primary forests provide more tree-related microhabitats than managed ones underlining the need of their conservation. *Ecosystems*

Primary forests provide more tree-related microhabitats than managed ones underlining the need of their conservation

Authors: Thomas Asbeck^{a*}, Daniel Kozák^b, Andreea Spînu^a, Martin Mikoláš^b, Veronika Šilhánová^b, Miroslav Svoboda^b

^a Chair of Silviculture, University of Freiburg, Tennenbacherstr. 4, 79085 Freiburg, Germany,
^b Department of Forest Ecology, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 21, Prague, Czech Republic

Andreea Spînu: andreea.spinu@waldbau.uni-freiburg.de Daniel Kozák: kozakd@fld.czu.cz Martin Mikoláš: mikolasm@fld.czu.cz Veronika Šilhánová: ver.silhanova@gmail.com Miroslav Svoboda: svobodam@fld.czu.cz

^a* Corresponding author: Chair of Silviculture, University of Freiburg, Tennenbacherstr. 4, 79085 Freiburg, Germany, Thomas.asbeck@waldbau.uni-freiburg.de, ORCID:_https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4786-9312

Key words:

- Integrative conservation approaches
- Old-growth elements
- Natural disturbances and dynamics
- Black Forest
- Carpathians

Highlights:

- Trees provide more microhabitats in primary forests than in managed ones
- The conservation of primary forests is essential for providing tree microhabitats
- Selecting habitat trees that provide microhabitats is crucial in managed forests

Abstract

The impact of forest management on biodiversity is difficult to scrutinize along gradients of management. A step towards analyzing the impact of forest management on biodiversity are comparisons between managed and primary forests. The standardized typology of tree-related microhabitats (TreMs) is a multi-taxon indicator used to quantify forest biodiversity. We aim to disentangle the influence of forest management on the occurrence of specific groups of TreMs by comparing primary and managed forests. We collected data from the managed forests in the Black Forest region and from the primary forests in the Western (Slovakia) and Southern Carpathians (Romania). To model the richness and the different groups of TreMs per tree, we used generalized linear mixed models with primary vs. managed, diameter at breast height (DBH), tree species, altitude and latitude as predictors. We found congruent results based on the models for overall richness and the vast majority of TreM groups. Trees in primary forests hosted a greater richness of all and specific types of TreMs than individuals in managed forests. The main driver of the difference is the long-term natural development with absence of human management, followed by tree species and DBH. We recommend forest and nature conservation managers to: 1) focus on the conservation of remaining primary forests and 2) focus approaches of biodiversity-oriented forest management on the selection of high-quality habitat trees that already provide a high number of TreMs in managed forests based on the comparison with primary forests.

Introduction

To tackle the biodiversity and the climate crisis that forests face (Schelhaas and others 2003; Hanewinkel and others 2013; Seidl and others 2014, 2017) a great number of approaches including adaptive strategies, retention forestry, close-to-nature forest management or ecological forestry have been developed (Bauhus and others 2009, 2013; Messier and others 2019; Gustafsson and others 2020; Čada and others 2020). Yet, the impact of altered management approaches on biodiversity is difficult to scrutinize on large spatial scales as well as along gradients of management (Paillet and others 2010; Bruelheide and others 2020). One major step towards analyzing the impact of management on biodiversity are comparisons between types of managed and unmanaged forests, including sites where management has ceased relatively recently and to a lesser extent, primary forests (Paillet and others 2010; Schall and others 2018). However, when it comes to summarizing the margins of influence of management on biodiversity, the results may vary greatly according to the time of absence or type of management (Paillet and others 2015b; Schall and others 2020). Therefore, remnants of primary forests deliver a unique source of information to address the question of influence of management or natural disturbances and

dynamics on biodiversity (Kozák and others 2020), however these remnants are rare and difficult to locate (Sabatini and others 2018; Mikoláš and others 2019). Another challenge in assessing differences between managed and primary forests is the comparability of datasets, for instance the collection of data on taxonomic groups might not always be comparable across sites (Bruelheide and others 2020). To overcome this problem partially, a multi-taxon indicator beyond single-species information has been widely implemented and used for quantifying forest biodiversity, namely the standardized, hierarchical typology of tree-related microhabitats (e.g. Larrieu and others 2012, 2018; Paillet and others 2018; Asbeck and others 2020a; Basile and others 2020a; Jahed and others 2020). The most common definition for a tree-related microhabitat (TreM) is "a distinct, well delineated structure occurring on living or standing dead trees, that constitutes a particular and essential substrate or life site for species or species communities during at least a part of their life cycle to develop, feed, shelter or breed" (Larrieu and others 2018). The hierarchical TreM typology distinguishes 15 groups of TreMs in seven forms:

- Cavities: woodpecker breeding cavities, rot holes, concavities, insect galleries and bore holes;
- Tree injuries and exposed wood: exposed sapwood and/or exposed heartwood;
- Crown deadwood in different forms;
- Excrescences: twig tangles (witches broom), cankers and burrs;
- Fruiting bodies of saproxylic fungi and slime molds: perennial and ephemeral fungi fruiting bodies;
- Epiphytic, epixylic and parasitic structures: epiphytic crypto- and phanerogams, nests of vertebrates and invertebrates, micro soils
- Fresh exudates such as sap run and heavy resinosis.

A variety of taxonomic groups have been linked to the different levels of the hierarchical typology of TreMs based on literature and empirical data and include invertebrates such as insects, arachnids and gastropods as well as vertebrates such as birds, rodents, bats and carnivores (Larrieu and others 2018; Paillet and others 2018; Basile and others 2020a).

Based on this standardized typology, datasets from primary (Kozák and others 2018) as well as managed forests (Asbeck and others 2019) provided first analyses of driving factors of TreM richness in temperate mountain forests in Central and Eastern Europe. The identification of these drivers of TreM abundance and richness still deserves further attention as most studies have only been able to identify that DBH and tree species are most important for living trees (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012; Paillet and others 2019). As TreMs are considered a biodiversity indicator that could guide the selection of retention elements in managed forests, one major open question is the impact of management and the natural life cycle of trees in primary forests on the richness of TreMs (Larrieu and others 2012, 2014; Asbeck and others 2020b). Here, we aim to disentangle the influence of management on the richness and occurrence of specific groups of TreMs compared to primary forests for the first time. This might deliver valuable information for the development of evidence-based management strategies to provide old-growth elements and small-scale retention elements throughout managed forests and as well address the importance of primary forests for the conservation of biodiversity (Bauhus and others 2009; Asbeck and others 2020b; Basile and others 2020b; Gustafsson and others 2020). Old-growth elements are largely absent in managed forests, but provide valuable and rare habitats for the conservation of dependent species and increase the connectivity and dispersal ability of these species (Baguette and others 2013; Kraus and Krumm 2013). We aim to give a first overview how managed forests differ in TreM richness compared to primary forests to: 1) highlight the importance of the primary forests for the conservation of biodiversity, and 2) identify focal points for forest management to increase these habitats for the conservation of primary forests for the conservation of biodiversity.

Material and Methods

Data collection

We collected data for the managed forests placed in one-hectare forest plots located on state land in the Black Forest region (Latitude: 47.6°- 48.3°N, Longitude: 7.7°-8.6°E, WGS 84). The plot selection followed a landscape gradient of forest cover in the 25 km² surrounding the plots and a gradient of structural complexity indicated by the number of standing dead trees per plot: for details of plot selection see Storch and others, 2020. A full inventory of all living trees and their TreMs on all plots of 1 ha would have been beyond the capacity of this project, hence we preselected living trees based on their crown radius from GIS in different classes to get individuals of all dimensions. We selected a subset of plots that were managed for timber production and excluded strict-protected ones mentioned in Asbeck and others, 2019. We recorded the position of all inventoried trees, their diameter at breast height (DBH), species identity and TreMs in the snowfree and leaf-free period between fall 2016 and spring 2017. We collected additional data, including altitude and latitude per tree with the use of hand-held tablets.

For the primary forests, we collected the data in mixed forests of Western (Slovakia, 210 plots) and Southern Carpathians (Romania, 190 plots), for details of the mapping and selection of these primary forests see Mikoláš and others (2019). Surveyed plots were based on an existing international network of permanent inventory plots (REMOTE, www.remoteforests.org), encompassing primary forests in Central and Eastern Europe. All data were collected within 0.15 ha circular plots randomly distributed across various environmental gradients (but see Kozák and
others, 2018 for details of plot selection). Across the primary forest plots, we recorded the positions of all living, adult trees (≥ 6 cm DBH), their DBH, species identity and TreM profile based on methodology by Larrieu et al. (2018) during the vegetation season in 2018 and 2019. Altitude and latitude were measured at the center of the plot.

In order to decrease the observer effect (Paillet and others 2015a), inventories were carried out by the same team within each location. Three observers in the Black Forest and two in the Carpathian region visually inspected the TreMs following the same hierarchical typology (Larrieu and others 2018).

Statistical analyses

In our analyses we focused only on a comparison of living trees, since data for dead trees was not available for the Black Forest and from a management perspective, the selection of high quality living habitat trees is more complex than the one of standing dead trees (Asbeck and others 2020b). We calculated the overall richness as the sum of different TreM groups per living tree. To model the richness as well as the groups of TreMs per living tree, we used generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs).

In combination with management, we tested the effects of the co-variates tree species, DBH, altitude and latitude on the richness and groups of TreMs on individual living trees. These co-variates drive the richness and number of groups of TreMs per tree (Kozák and others 2018; Asbeck and others 2019). Tree DBH as well as species identity were included in the GLMMs as predictors. In addition to the three tree species, Norway spruce (*Picea abies (L.)*), European beech (*Fagus sylvatica (L.)*) and silver fir (*Abies alba (Mill.)*), we included altitude and latitude as site factors as we have datasets from two different geographic regions.

To prevent autocorrelation of trees within the same plot that might have more similar characteristics than individuals in different plots (Dormann 2013), we included plot-identity as random factor. The computation of models was performed in R (R Core Team 2016). Since the richness data for TreMs were of count type, we built models with the "glmmTMB function" of the "glmmTMB package" (Brooks and others 2017) with a negative binominal distribution to solve overdispersion. To test for under- and overdispersion as well as zero-inflation in the models, we used the "DHARMa package" (Hartig 2018). Obviously, with a large number of living trees that do not bear TreMs, there were signs of zero-inflation; however, models did not improve when considering this. We checked for correlations between the predictors in the final models by computing the variance inflation factors with the "performance package" (Lüdecke and others 2020).

The full models consisted of these predictors:

• Managed vs. primary + DBH + tree species + altitude + latitude + (1|PlotID)

Prior to running the models, we adjusted the continuous predictors due to the different scales using the default setting of the scale function in R, which calculates the mean and the standard deviation (sd) of the predictor and then scales each element by those values by subtraction of the mean and dividing by the sd. We re-run the final models with the unscaled data for plotting the effects of the significant predictors. We used the "ggpredict" function of the ggeffects package for plotting, which sets all other predictors, except the one for which the effect is shown, to the same value (Lüdecke 2018).

Results

Raw inventory data at the tree level in managed and primary forests

We restricted the analyses to living individuals of the three main tree species that were Norway spruce, European beech and silver fir in both data sets. Across all tree species, the individuals in the primary forests provided a greater richness of TreMs per living tree compared to the managed ones (Table 1).

Results of the statistical analyses

We found congruent results of TreM richness and among the vast majority of groups across the studied forests. First, the latitude included in the models was not the predictor with the greatest magnitude of influence. This allowed us to identify that the main driver of difference is indeed the absence of management (Table 2, Figure 1). This holds true for 10 out of the 16 models. Only epiphytes and fresh exudates are found more frequently in managed forests (Table 2, Figure 1). Altitude as a proxy of the site conditions was the most important driving factor for epiphytes (Table 2). All groups increased significantly with increasing DBH, despite diameter being less important than absence of management (Table 2, Figure 2). For woodpecker cavities, rot holes and annual fungi, tree species was the most important driver, as they increased with the greatest magnitude in beech trees, whilst exposed sapwood and twig tangles occurred in significantly lower numbers in Norway spruce (Table 2, Figure 3).

Discussion

The increasing importance of primary forests as key habitats for the conservation of biodiversity recently inspired silvicultural approaches that emphasize the role of old-growth attributes and natural disturbance legacies in management activities (Keeton 2006; Lindenmayer and others 2006; Bauhus and others 2009; Nagel and others 2014; Thom and others 2019; Čada and others 2020). Our novel approach compared the tree-level TreM richness of primary forests in the Carpathians with managed forests in the Black forest to disentangle the role of management for

the provisioning of specific habitats. We consider our data sets comparable, as the latitude included in the models was not the predictor with the greatest magnitude of influence; hence, our results are robust across the inventoried geographic locations. Trees in primary forests hosted a more diverse array of TreMs in terms of overall richness and specific types of TreMs compared to their counterparts in managed forests.

The most prominent result is that we observed higher numbers of TreMs on living trees located in primary forests compared to those in managed ones. Previous studies were not able to extract this information as congruent as we did, for instance Vuidot and others (2011) did not find this difference when comparing managed and unmanaged forests on the tree level. Our findings might be influenced by the time that management is absent as in the mentioned study the unmanaged forests were left without timber extraction for a maximum of 150 years and logged previously. In contrast, we are the first to analyze primary forest plots without any traces of human activities due to difficulty of accessibility. Conventional forest management creates structurally uniform and highly productive stands with limited longevity of the trees. On the other hand, trees in primary forests often grow slowly, competing with other individuals under the vertically diverse canopy with longevity multiple times higher than the trees in managed stands (Bigler and Veblen 2009; Di Filippo and others 2012). Suboptimal tree growing conditions, such as poor soil conditions or suppression were connected to the formation of certain TreMs, such as cracks, bark lesions and rot holes (Jönsson 2000; Fritz and Heilmann-Clausen 2010). Such conditions are more likely to be found in primary forests because forest management is often avoided on nutrient poor and inaccessible sites. In addition, suppressed trees are systematically removed in most silvicultural practices. In this context, tree senescence is considered to play an important role for the occurrence of TreMs, but so far has only been included in one cross-sectional (Courbaud and others 2017) and one empirical study (Puverel and others 2019). We assume that the abundance and richness of TreMs increases with tree senescence, which might be the main reason for trees in primary forests bearing more TreMs, as they could be older compared to individuals of similar dimensions in managed forests.

Increased richness of specific TreM groups such as crown deadwood, exposed sapwood and heartwood, perennial polypores and insect galleries on primary forest trees implies the importance of natural disturbances for the formation of certain TreMs. The most important natural disturbances in Central and Eastern European mountain forests are wind, bark beetle outbreaks, snow and ice (Nagel and others 2014; Svoboda and others 2014; Janda and others 2017; Kulakowski and others 2017). The importance of effects from large-scale cyclones and convective instabilities on dynamics of these mountain forests has recently been recognized (Pettit and others in review).

Wind can cause damage either directly by breaking the stem or limb of a tree, or indirectly through trees damaging each other when breaking or uprooting. Forest management may substitute the role of wind as damage caused during felling operations whichcould create similar TreMs (Vuidot and others 2011). Such practices may be effective in mimicking the natural creation of TreMs in managed stands (Fritz and Heilmann-Clausen 2010). Besides wind damage, galleries from wood drilling insects resulting from insect outbreaks of various severities are common in primary forests. This group of TreMs is highly unfavorable in managed forests because of its negative impact on timber value combined with imminent large-scale insect outbreaks that hit the Central European region and became more severe recently (Schelhaas and others 2003; Seidl and others 2017). Management practices also tend to remove trees with signs of other timber damaging pathogens, such as fungi. Increased richness of perennial polypores on trees in primary forests is thus not surprising. This removal is not restricted to individuals bearing polypores, but for all trees bearing TreMs that are considered "defects" in forest management. Moreover, the presence of fungi combined with senescence may increase the probability of stem breakage during windstorms, especially in beech trees (Zeibig and others 2005), making it partially responsible for increased richness of exposed sap and heartwood TreMs in primary forests.

We demonstrated a positive effect of tree diameter on overall TreM richness and a consistent effect across the studied TreM groups (except twig tangles). As observed in previously, the diameter of the living trees is an important factor influencing the presence of TreMs across tree species, forest types and environmental conditions (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012; Kozák and others 2018; Asbeck and others 2019; Paillet and others 2019).

Our results are also in line with observed patterns of increased TreM numbers in broadleaves (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012; Regnery and others 2013; Paillet and others 2019), as we found the highest overall TreM richness on European beech. Specifically, a higher richness of woodpecker cavities, rot holes and annual fungi was observed on beech trees. Woodpeckers serve as a vector for the fungal infection and often prefer beech trees with rotten heartwood for the excavation of woodpecker cavities (Jackson and Jackson 2004; Zahner and others 2012). Woodpeckers are opportunistic in their choice of suitable trees for cavity establishment (Basile and others 2020b); whenever snags are available in lower quantities, which is the case in managed forests compared to primary ones, they select living trees to excavate their cavities, as we included only living trees in the analyses. We observed a lower richness of epiphytes in primary forests compared to managed ones and the most important predictor for an increase of this TreM group was an increase in altitude. Similarly, a higher altitude was responsible for increased abundance of epiphytic TreMs

(Asbeck and others 2019) and diversity of epiphytes (Ding and others 2016), which is possibly due to an increased precipitation or humidity in higher altitudes.

Uncertainties in our results might be caused by the variation in sampling design, as we selected living trees for the TreM survey based on the size of their crown area in managed forests (Asbeck and others 2019), whereas the primary forest plots did not include only old-growth successional phases but also early seral ones (Kozák and others 2018). However, we included the diameter as predictor in our models and thus took the difference in diameter into account; hence our results should be robust concerning this difference in sampling methods.

Conclusion

We were able to identify for the first time that the main driver of differences in richness and occurrence of TreMs between primary and managed forests is the absence of management. Our study suggests that primary forests are essential in providing habitats for forest-dwelling species through a high richness of TreMs. However, many complexes of primary forests are being lost due to poor mapping and lack of protection status (Knorn and others 2013; Sabatini and others 2018; Mikoláš and others 2019). This allows salvage logging operations, which can lead to extraction of trees with high potential to bear or develop TreMs, representing a threat to the ecosystem itself and the function it fulfills for biodiversity conservation (Thorn and others 2018). Hence, our results highlight the importance of primary forests for biodiversity conservation but have as well several implications for forest management. First, the constant removal of trees or parts of trees that show "defects", such as exposed sap- and heartwood or crown deadwood created by natural disturbances, needs to be decreased to some extent in managed forests to provide these important TreMs as resources. This could be implemented by focusing the selection of retention elements such as habitat trees on individuals that provide these obvious and easily identifiable TreMs. Secondly, the increase of beech and other broadleaf species will increase the number of habitats available for forest dwelling species. Overall, we recommend forest and nature conservation managers to focus their approaches on: 1) protecting the remaining primary forests and 2) selecting high-quality habitat trees that already provide a high number of microhabitats in managed forests based on the comparison with primary ones.

Acknowledgements

This study was partly funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG), ConFoBi project number GRK 2123. It was as well supported by the institutional project No.CZ.02.1.01/ 0.0/0.0/16_019/0000803 and by the Czech University of Life Sciences (Grant IGA No. A_19_33).

Data sharing

All data used in this article is available and has been published previously in Kozák and others 2018 and Asbeck and others 2019.

List of literature

Asbeck T, Basile M, Stitt J, Bauhus J, Storch I, Vierling KT. 2020a. Tree-related microhabitats are similar in mountain forests of Europe and North America and their occurrence may be explained by tree functional groups. Trees. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00468-020-02017-3. Last accessed 05/08/2020

Asbeck T, Messier C, Bauhus J. 2020b. Retention of tree-related microhabitats is more dependent on selection of habitat trees than their spatial distribution. Eur J Forest Res. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10342-020-01303-6. Last accessed 07/07/2020

Asbeck T, Pyttel P, Frey J, Bauhus J. 2019. Predicting abundance and diversity of tree-related microhabitats in Central European montane forests from common forest attributes. Forest Ecology and Management 432:400–8.

Baguette M, Blanchet S, Legrand D, Stevens VM, Turlure C. 2013. Individual dispersal, landscape connectivity and ecological networks: Dispersal, connectivity and networks. Biological Reviews 88:310–26.

Basile M, Asbeck T, Jonker M, Knuff AK, Bauhus J, Braunisch V, Mikusiński G, Storch I. 2020a. What do tree-related microhabitats tell us about the abundance of forest-dwelling bats, birds, and insects? Journal of Environmental Management 264:110401.

Basile M, Asbeck T, Pacioni C, Mikusińki G, Storch I. 2020b. Woodpecker cavity establishment in managed forests: relative rather than absolute tree size matters. Wildlife Biology 2020. https://bioone.org/journals/wildlife-biology/volume-2020/issue-1/wlb.00564/Woodpecker-cavity-establishment-in-managed-forests--relative-rather-than/10.2981/wlb.00564.full. Last accessed 19/02/2020

Bauhus J, Puettmann K, Messier C. 2009. Silviculture for old-growth attributes. Forest Ecology and Management 258:525–37.

Bauhus J, Puettmann, K.J., Kuehne, C. 2013. Close-to-nature forest management in Europe: does it support complexity and adaptability of forest ecosystems? In: Messier, C., Puettmann, K.J, Coates, K.D, editors. Managing Forests as Complex Adaptive Systems: building resilience to the challenge of global change. The Earthscan forest library. Routledge. pp 187–213.

Bigler C, Veblen TT. 2009. Increased early growth rates decrease longevities of conifers in subalpine forests. Oikos 118:1130–8.

Brooks M E, Kristensen K, Benthem K J ,van, Magnusson A, Berg C W, Nielsen A, Skaug H J, Mächler M, Bolker B M. 2017. glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among Packages for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. The R Journal 9:378.

Bruelheide H, Jiménez-Alfaro B, Jandt U, Sabatini FM. 2020. Deriving site-specific species pools from large databases. Ecography:ecog.05172.

Čada V, Trotsiuk V, Janda P, Mikoláš M, Bače R, Nagel TA, Morrissey RC, Tepley AJ, Vostarek O, Begović K, Chaskovskyy O, Dušátko M, Kameniar O, Kozák D, Lábusová J, Málek J, Meyer P, Pettit JL, Schurman JS, Svobodová K, Synek M, Teodosiu M, Ujházy K, Svoboda M. 2020. Quantifying natural disturbances using a large-scale dendrochronological reconstruction to guide forest management. Ecol Appl:eap.2189.

Courbaud B, Pupin C, Letort A, Cabanettes A, Larrieu L. 2017. Modelling the probability of microhabitat formation on trees using cross-sectional data. Börger L, editor. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 8:1347–1359.

Di Filippo A, Biondi F, Maugeri M, Schirone B, Piovesan G. 2012. Bioclimate and growth history affect beech lifespan in the I talian A lps and A pennines. Glob Change Biol 18:960–72.

Ding Y, Liu G, Zang R, Zhang J, Lu X, Huang J. 2016. Distribution of vascular epiphytes along a tropical elevational gradient: disentangling abiotic and biotic determinants. Sci Rep 6:19706.

Dormann CF. 2013. Parametrische Statistik. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-34786-3. Last accessed 01/06/2017

Fritz Ö, Heilmann-Clausen J. 2010. Rot holes create key microhabitats for epiphytic lichens and bryophytes on beech (Fagus sylvatica). Biological Conservation 143:1008–16.

Gustafsson L, Bauhus J, Asbeck T, Augustynczik ALD, Basile M, Frey J, Gutzat F, Hanewinkel M, Helbach J, Jonker M, Knuff A, Messier C, Penner J, Pyttel P, Reif A, Storch F, Winiger N, Winkel G, Yousefpour R, Storch I. 2020. Retention as an integrated biodiversity conservation approach for continuous-cover forestry in Europe. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment:13.

Hanewinkel M, Cullmann DA, Schelhaas M-J, Nabuurs G-J, Zimmermann NE. 2013. Climate change may cause severe loss in the economic value of European forest land. Nature Climate Change 3:203–7.

Hartig F. 2018. Package 'DHARMa'. http://florianhartig.github.io/DHARMa/. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/DHARMa/DHARMa.pdf. Last accessed 10/07/2017

Jackson JA, Jackson BJ. 2004. Ecological relationships between fungi and woodpecker cavity sites. The Condor 106:37–49.

Jahed, Kavousi, Farashiani, Sagheb-Talebi, Babanezhad, Courbaud, Wirtz, Müller, Larrieu. 2020. A Comparison of the Formation Rates and Composition of Tree-Related Microhabitats in Beech-Dominated Primeval Carpathian and Hyrcanian Forests. Forests 11:144.

Janda P, Trotsiuk V, Mikoláš M, Bače R, Nagel TA, Seidl R, Seedre M, Morrissey RC, Kucbel S, Jaloviar P, Jasík M, Vysoký J, Šamonil P, Čada V, Mrhalová H, Lábusová J, Nováková MH, Rydval M, Matějů L, Svoboda M. 2017. The historical disturbance regime of mountain Norway spruce forests in the Western Carpathians and its influence on current forest structure and composition. Forest Ecology and Management 388:67–78.

Jönsson AM. 2000. Mineral nutrients of beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) bark in relation to frost sensitivity and soil treatments in southern Sweden. Ann For Sci 57:1–8.

Keeton WS. 2006. Managing for late-successional/old-growth characteristics in northern hardwood-conifer forests. Forest Ecology and Management 235:129–42.

Knorn J, Kuemmerle T, Radeloff VC, Keeton WS, Gancz V, Biriş I-A, Svoboda M, Griffiths P, Hagatis A, Hostert P. 2013. Continued loss of temperate old-growth forests in the Romanian Carpathians despite an increasing protected area network. Envir Conserv 40:182–93.

Kozák D, Mikoláš M, Svitok M, Bače R, Paillet Y, Larrieu L, Nagel TA, Begovič K, Čada V, Diku A, Frankovič M, Janda P, Kameniar O, Keren S, Kjučukov P, Lábusová J, Langbehn T, Málek J, Mikac S, Morrissey RC, Nováková MH, Schurrman JS, Svobodová K, Synek M, Teodosiu M, Toromani E, Trotsiuk V, Vítková L, Svoboda M. 2018. Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests. Forest Ecology and Management 429:363–74.

Kozák D, Svitok M, Wiezik M, Mikoláš M, Thorn S, Buechling A, Hofmeister J, Matula R, Trotsiuk V, Bače R, Begovič K, Čada V, Dušátko M, Frankovič M, Horák J, Janda P, Kameniar O, Nagel TA, Pettit JL, Pettit JM, Synek M, Wieziková A, Svoboda M. 2020. Historical Disturbances Determine Current Taxonomic, Functional and Phylogenetic Diversity of Saproxylic BeetleCommunitiesinTemperatePrimaryForests.Ecosystems.http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10021-020-00502-x.Last accessed 05/08/2020

Kraus D, Krumm F, editors. 2013. Integrative approaches as an opportunity for the conservation of forest biodiversity. Bonn: European Forest Institute

Kulakowski D, Seidl R, Holeksa J, Kuuluvainen T, Nagel TA, Panayotov M, Svoboda M, Thorn S, Vacchiano G, Whitlock C, Wohlgemuth T, Bebi P. 2017. A walk on the wild side: Disturbance dynamics and the conservation and management of European mountain forest ecosystems. Forest Ecology and Management 388:120–31.

Larrieu L, Cabanettes A. 2012. Species, live status, and diameter are important tree features for diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in subnatural montane beech–fir forests ^{1 1} This article is one of a selection of papers from the International Symposium on Dynamics and Ecological Services of Deadwood in Forest Ecosystems. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 42:1433–45.

Larrieu L, Cabanettes A, Delarue A. 2012. Impact of silviculture on dead wood and on the distribution and frequency of tree microhabitats in montane beech-fir forests of the Pyrenees. European Journal of Forest Research 131:773–86.

Larrieu L, Cabanettes A, Gonin P, Lachat T, Paillet Y, Winter S, Bouget C, Deconchat M. 2014. Deadwood and tree microhabitat dynamics in unharvested temperate mountain mixed forests: A life-cycle approach to biodiversity monitoring. Forest Ecology and Management 334:163–73.

Larrieu L, Paillet Y, Winter S, Bütler R, Kraus D, Krumm F, Lachat T, Michel AK, Regnery B, Vandekerkhove K. 2018. Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: A hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. Ecological Indicators 84:194–207.

Lindenmayer DB, Franklin JF, Fischer J. 2006. General management principles and a checklist of strategies to guide forest biodiversity conservation. Biological Conservation 131:433–45.

Lüdecke D. 2018. ggeffects: Tidy Data Frames of Marginal Effects from Regression Models. JOSS 3:772.

Lüdecke D, Makowski D, Waggoner P, Indrajeet Patil. 2020. Package 'performance' - Assessment of Regression Models Performance. :60.

Messier C, Bauhus J, Doyon F, Maure F, Sousa-Silva R, Nolet P, Mina M, Aquilué N, Fortin M-J, Puettmann K. 2019. The functional complex network approach to foster forest resilience to global changes. For Ecosyst 6:21.

Mikoláš M, Ujházy K, Jasík M, Wiezik M, Gallay I, Polák P, Vysoký J, Čiliak M, Meigs GW, Svoboda M. 2019. Primary forest distribution and representation in a Central European landscape: Results of a large-scale field-based census. Forest Ecology and Management 449:117466.

Nagel TA, Svoboda M, Kobal M. 2014. Disturbance, life history traits, and dynamics in an oldgrowth forest landscape of southeastern Europe. Ecological Applications 24:663–79.

Paillet Y, Archaux F, du Puy S, Bouget C, Boulanger V, Debaive N, Gilg O, Gosselin F, Guilbert E. 2018. The indicator side of tree microhabitats: A multi-taxon approach based on bats, birds and saproxylic beetles. Firn J, editor. Journal of Applied Ecology 55:2147–59.

Paillet Y, BergèS L, HjäLtéN J, óDor P, Avon C, Bernhardt-RöMermann M, Bijlsma R-J, De Bruyn L, Fuhr M, Grandin U, Kanka R, Lundin L, Luque S, Magura T, Matesanz S, MéSzáRos I, Sebastià M-T, Schmidt W, StandováR T, TóThméRéSz B, Uotila A, Valladares F, Vellak K, Virtanen R. 2010. Biodiversity Differences between Managed and Unmanaged Forests: Meta-Analysis of Species Richness in Europe. Conservation Biology 24:101–12.

Paillet Y, Coutadeur P, Vuidot A, Archaux F, Gosselin F. 2015a. Strong observer effect on tree microhabitats inventories: A case study in a French lowland forest. Ecological Indicators 49:14–23.

Paillet Y, Debaive N, Archaux F, Cateau E, Gilg O, Guilbert E. 2019. Nothing else matters? Tree diameter and living status have more effects than biogeoclimatic context on microhabitat number and occurrence: An analysis in French forest reserves. Bosela M, editor. PLoS ONE 14:e0216500.

Paillet Y, Pernot C, Boulanger V, Debaive N, Fuhr M, Gilg O, Gosselin F. 2015b. Quantifying the recovery of old-growth attributes in forest reserves: A first reference for France. Forest Ecology and Management 346:51–64.

Puverel C, Abourachid A, Böhmer C, Leban J-M, Svoboda M, Paillet Y. 2019. This is my spot: What are the characteristics of the trees excavated by the Black Woodpecker? A case study in two managed French forests. Forest Ecology and Management 453:117621.

R Core Team. 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/

Regnery B, Paillet Y, Couvet D, Kerbiriou C. 2013. Which factors influence the occurrence and density of tree microhabitats in Mediterranean oak forests? Forest Ecology and Management 295:118–25.

Sabatini FM, Burrascano S, Keeton WS, Levers C, Lindner M, Pötzschner F, Verkerk PJ, Bauhus J, Buchwald E, Chaskovsky O, Debaive N, Horváth F, Garbarino M, Grigoriadis N, Lombardi F, Marques Duarte I, Meyer P, Midteng R, Mikac S, Mikoláš M, Motta R, Mozgeris G, Nunes L, Panayotov M, Ódor P, Ruete A, Simovski B, Stillhard J, Svoboda M, Szwagrzyk J, Tikkanen O-P, Volosyanchuk R, Vrska T, Zlatanov T, Kuemmerle T. 2018. Where are Europe's last primary forests? Essl F, editor. Divers Distrib 24:1426–39.

Schall P, Gossner MM, Heinrichs S, Fischer M, Boch S, Prati D, Jung K, Baumgartner V, Blaser S, Böhm S, Buscot F, Daniel R, Goldmann K, Kaiser K, Kahl T, Lange M, Müller J, Overmann J, Renner SC, Schulze E-D, Sikorski J, Tschapka M, Türke M, Weisser WW, Wemheuer B, Wubet T, Ammer C. 2018. The impact of even-aged and uneven-aged forest management on regional biodiversity of multiple taxa in European beech forests. J Appl Ecol 55:267–78.

Schall P, Heinrichs S, Ammer C, Ayasse M, Boch S, Buscot F, Fischer M, Goldmann K, Overmann J, Schulze E, Sikorski J, Weisser WW, Wubet T, Gossner MM. 2020. Can multi-taxa diversity in European beech forest landscapes be increased by combining different management systems? J Appl Ecol:1365-2664.13635.

Schelhaas M-J, Nabuurs G-J, Schuck A. 2003. Natural disturbances in the European forests in the 19th and 20th centuries. Global Change Biol 9:1620–33.

Seidl R, Schelhaas M-J, Rammer W, Verkerk PJ. 2014. Increasing forest disturbances in Europe and their impact on carbon storage. Nature Clim Change 4:806–10.

Seidl R, Thom D, Kautz M, Martin-Benito D, Peltoniemi M, Vacchiano G, Wild J, Ascoli D, Petr M, Honkaniemi J, Lexer MJ, Trotsiuk V, Mairota P, Svoboda M, Fabrika M, Nagel TA, Reyer CPO. 2017. Forest disturbances under climate change. Nature Clim Change 7:395–402.

Storch I, Penner J, Asbeck T, Basile M, Bauhus J, Braunisch V, Dormann CF, Frey J, Gärtner S, Hanewinkel M, Koch B, Klein A, Kuss T, Pregernig M, Pyttel P, Reif A, Scherer-Lorenzen M, Segelbacher G, Schraml U, Staab M, Winkel G, Yousefpour R. 2020. Evaluating the effectiveness of retention forestry to enhance biodiversity in production forests of Central Europe using an interdisciplinary, multi-scale approach. Ecol Evol:ece3.6003.

Svoboda M, Janda P, Bače R, Fraver S, Nagel TA, Rejzek J, Mikoláš M, Douda J, Boublík K, Šamonil P, Čada V, Trotsiuk V, Teodosiu M, Bouriaud O, Biriş AI, Sýkora O, Uzel P, Zelenka J, Sedlák V, Lehejček J. 2014. Landscape-level variability in historical disturbance in primary *Picea abies* mountain forests of the Eastern Carpathians, Romania. Morgan J, editor. J Veg Sci 25:386– 401.

Thom D, Golivets M, Edling L, Meigs GW, Gourevitch JD, Sonter LJ, Galford GL, Keeton WS. 2019. The climate sensitivity of carbon, timber, and species richness co-varies with forest age in boreal-temperate North America. Glob Change Biol:gcb.14656.

Thorn S, Bässler C, Brandl R, Burton PJ, Cahall R, Campbell JL, Castro J, Choi C-Y, Cobb T, Donato DC, Durska E, Fontaine JB, Gauthier S, Hebert C, Hothorn T, Hutto RL, Lee E-J, Leverkus AB, Lindenmayer DB, Obrist MK, Rost J, Seibold S, Seidl R, Thom D, Waldron K, Wermelinger B, Winter M-B, Zmihorski M, Müller J. 2018. Impacts of salvage logging on biodiversity: A metaanalysis. Struebig M, editor. J Appl Ecol 55:279–89.

Vuidot A, Paillet Y, Archaux F, Gosselin F. 2011. Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. Biological Conservation 144:441–50.

Zahner V, Sikora L, Pasinelli G. 2012. Heart rot as a key factor for cavity tree selection in the black woodpecker. Forest Ecology and Management 271:98–103.

Zeibig A, Diaci J, Wagner S. 2005. Gap disturbance patterns of a Fagus sylvatica virgin forest remnant in the mountain vegetation belt of Slovenia. For Snow Landsc Res:12.

Tables

Table 1 - Comparison of the main attributes of the inventoried living trees and sites in the inventoried managed and primary forests.

			Manag	ged fores	sts			
			DBH	(cm)		Mean (SD)		
Tree species	N of	Share	Min	Max	Mean	Altitude (m)	TreM	richness/
	trees	(%)			(SD)		living tre	ee
European beech	877	26.4	7	128	36 (21)	750 (202)	1.9 (1.1)	
Norway spruce	1788	53.7	7.5	115	46.5	910 (178)	1.6 (0.7)	
					(15)			
Silver fir	662	19.9	8	137	56 (20)	849 (140)	1.9 (0.9)	
Total	3327				46 (19)	856 (190)	1.7 (0.9)	

	N of	Share	DBH	(cm)		Mean (SD)	
Tree species	trees	(%)	Min	Max	Mean	Altitude (m)	TreM richness/
					(SD)		living tree
European beech	4045	27.1	6	129	36 (21)	1135 (112)	3.2 (1.5)
Norway spruce	9570	67.4	6	117	35 (17)	1440 (135)	3.0 (1.0)
Silver fir	1295	9.1	6	119	32 (24)	1154 (133)	2.8 (1.2)
Total	14910				35 (19)	1333 (194)	3.0 (1.1)

Table 2 - Results of the generalized linear mixed models indicating the magnitude of influence and the significance^a of the scaled predictors. Positive values show an increase in the group of tree-related microhabitats. The bold letters indicate the predictor with the greatest influence on the respective TreM group. The managed forests and silver fir are represented in the intercept.

	Intercept	Site	DBH (cm)	Tree species		Latitude	Altitude
		Primary forest	_	European beech	Norway Spruce		
Overall TreM richness ^b	0.59***	0.37***	0.16***	0.19***	0.00	-0.05***	0.09***
Woodpecker cavities ^b	-9.99***	-1.46	0.75***	1.79*	0.41	0.10	0.64
Rot holes ^b	-4.84***	0.38	0.50***	2.82***	-0.35	0.01	0.06
Insect galleries ^c	-8.47***	3.34***	0.44***	0.29	-0.34	0.47***	-0.64**
Concavities ^b	-2.47***	1.56***	0.60***	0.89***	0.91***	-0.19***	0.03
Exposed sapwood only ^b	-2.31***	0.51***	0.05*	0.03	-0.71***	0.28***	-0.32***
Exposed sap- and heartwood ^c	-5.06***	1.21***	0.17***	0.97***	0.02	0.07	0.05
Crown deadwood ^c	-3.97***	3.04***	0.32***	-0.26**	0.47***	-0.59***	-0.16
Twig tangles ^c	-2.10***	-2.40***	0.06	-3.05***	-4.49***	0.53*	1.27***

Burrs and cankers ^b	-5.89***	2.39***	0.65***	0.97***	-0.14	-0.03	-0.31*
Perennial fungi ^c	-7.33***	1.79*	0.50***	0.46	-1.02*	0.29*	0.19
Annual fungi [°]	-8.49***	1.24	0.56***	2.65***	0.36	-0.13	0.61
Epiphytes ^c	1.71***	-1.61***	0.50***	0.01	-1.24***	-0.06	1.99***
Nests ^b	-10.15***	4.08***	0.50***	0.32***	0.24*	-0.53**	-2.50***
Microsoils ^c	-9.95***	4.07***	1.14***	1.65***	0.54**	-0.28*	-0.72**
Fresh exudates ^c	-4.84***	-4.15***	0.35***	-1.76**	2.80*	-0.36	-0.28

^a Significance codes: '***' 0.001; '**' 0.01; '*' 0.05; ^b Models with a negative binomial distribution; ^c

Models with a binomial distribution

Figures



Figure 1 - Effect plots of the significant influence of managed versus primary forest sites for TreM richness and groups from the generalized linear mixed models. The error bars of the predictor indicate the 95%-confidence interval.



Figure 2 - Effect plots of the significant influence of the diameter at breast height (DBH) for TreM richness and groups from the generalized linear mixed models. The light color bands indicate the 95%-confidence interval. The rug plot shows the DBH range of the inventoried trees.



Figure 3 - Effect plots of the significant influence of tree species for TreM richness and groups from the generalized linear mixed models. The error bars of the predictor indicate the 95%-confidence interval.

5.4 Influence of tree age on tree-related microhabitats abundance and richness: comparison of mixed-beech and spruce mountain primary forests

To be submitted as:

Kozák D., Svitok M., Mikoláš M., Bače R., Kameniar, O., Majdanová, L., Frankovič, M., Synek, M., Dušátko, M., Janda, P., Vostárek, O., Zemlerová, V., Svoboda, M. *Forest Ecology and Management*

Influence of tree age on tree-related microhabitats abundance and richness: comparison of mixed-beech and spruce mountain primary forests

Daniel Kozák¹, Marek Svitok², Martin Mikoláš¹, Radek Bače¹, Ondrej Kameniar¹, Linda Majdanová¹, Michal Frankovič¹, Michal Synek¹, Martin Dušátko¹, Pavel Janda¹, Ondrej Vostárek¹, Veronika Zemlerová¹, Miroslav Svoboda¹

¹ Department of Forest Ecology, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 21, Prague, Czech Republic

² Department of Biology and General Ecology, Faculty of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Technical University in Zvolen, Masaryka 24, 96053 Zvolen, Slovakia

Abstract

Tree characteristics such as diameter, species and live status greatly impacts the occurrence of tree-related microhabitats (TreMs), a structural indicator used to quantify forest biodiversity. However, our knowledge on how tree senescence influences TreM profile and thus, potential biodiversity habitats, is relatively understudied on the tree level. Older trees have higher likelihood to be damaged by biotic and abiotic factors and thus are more prone to TreM formation. Here we focused on disentangling the effect of tree age, diameter and other tree characteristics on TreM abundance and richness. We collected tree level data from >350 plots located in spruce and mixed beech dominated primary forests in the Western and Southern Carpathians, in Slovakia and Romania respectively. We used tree cores from 15-30 living trees per plot and calculated their age using dendrochronological methods. For the data analyses we firstly used boosted regression trees to assess the relative importance of the studied variables on the TreM profile, and then generalized linear mixed models to analyze TreM abundance, richness and the richness of 15 TreM groups with tree age, tree diameter, tree species and region as predictors. We observed that tree diameter and age were the most important factors significantly increasing TreM abundance and richness, whereas tree species played a lesser but still significant role in overall TreM abundance and richness across the studied primary forests. Interestingly, we observed a major role of tree age in increasing the richness of specific TreM groups, such as concavities, insect galleries and exposed sapwood on the studied trees. To protect the most valuable habitat trees, we recommend forest and nature managers to focus on the conservation of forest stands where trees can reach their maximal potential longevity, and the retention of old trees within biodiversity-oriented forest stands.

Introduction

As complete biodiversity inventories are hardly feasible across forest stands due to time and economic constraints, much attention from scientists and forest managers in the past decade has focused on tree-related microhabitats (hereafter TreMs), mostly due to their suitability as a structural indicators of biodiversity for certain taxa such as insects, birds or bats (Buse et al. 2007, Winter & Möller 2008, Paillet et al. 2019). Quite recently, a new methodology for TreM assessment was presented by Larrieu et al. (2018) in order to ensure comparability across studied forest types and biogeographical regions. Here, we refer to TreMs as distinct, well delineated structures occurring on living trees or snags and they serve as a substrate or life site for species or communities during at least part of their life cycle to develop, feed, shelter or breed (Larrieu et al. 2018).

Our understanding of TreM dynamics and driving factors on the tree scale has highly increased over the last few years (Paillet et al. 2019). For instance, snags often contribute more to the TreM supply when compared with living trees, mostly due to the decompositional processes that favors the development of TreMs. Another largely important factor is the diameter of the tree, as the occurrence and diversity of the TreMs has been found to increase with tree diameter (Winter & Möller 2008). Additionally, tree species appears to play a role, as broadleaved tree species accumulate slightly higher microhabitat levels than coniferous ones (Paillet et al. 2019)

TreMs are important structural indicators of biodiversity within the concept of close-tonature forestry, where the retention of habitat trees and the conservation of certain areas for biodiversity (Bauhus et al. 2009, Kraus & Krumm 2013) is a key concern. Within this scope, in areas set aside for conservation, forest management should be omitted or reduced only to the selection of certain valuable timber trees. The process of felling can cause tree damage and injuries which can lead to occurrence of certain TreM types such as wounds, stem decay or resinosis (Michel et al. 2011). Therefore, understanding TreM occurrence in areas where forest management has been absent for a long period or never occurred, can provide a reference point and help us understand the pattern of TreM development, and this knowledge can then be used in new set-aside areas without management, such as forest reserves and other special protected areas. Thus, primary forests represent the ultimate intact habitat (Ulyshen et al. 2018) for biodiversity studies and they often contain an abundant and diverse array of TreMs (Kozák et al. 2018).

As certain TreMs take time to develop or often develop after a tree is sufficiently large (Michel et al. 2011), the age of a tree may play an important role facilitating the occurrence and diversity of certain TreMs. Tree age is often in a close relationship with tree size however, this relationship is not always straightforward as the largest trees are not always the oldest (Issartel & Coiffard 2011). Trees can grow in the lower, shaded parts of the canopy for centuries with relatively small diameter increments and only after the removal of the upper canopy layers are they able to exploit the available light conditions and undergo increased growth rates. In contrast, trees in the upper parts of the canopy often grow faster and can reach large diameters without exceeding the life expectancy of their understory counterparts (Issartel & Coiffard 2011). This effect can lead to substantially different TreM occurrence between large and old trees, as certain conditions for TreM occurrence might relate to a large diameter but not necessarily with higher age and vice versa.

To address this knowledge gap, we aimed to distinguish the effect of the tree diameter and tree age on TreM occurrence using dendroecological methods on a comprehensive number of study plots in the Carpathian primary beech-dominated and spruce forests.

Specifically, our research hypotheses are: 1) Tree age, together with other tree characteristics such as diameter, position in the canopy and tree species will influence abundance and diversity of TreMs and 2) certain TreM types will increase with increasing senescence of the tree whereas other will remain unaffected by the senescence process.

Materials and methods

Study area

The study area was restricted to primary forests in two regions: the Western Carpathians (Slovakia) and the Southern Carpathians (Romania). The Carpathian Mountains support a substantial part of all remnant primary forest area in Europe (Sabatini et al. 2018, Mikoláš et al. 2019). We refer to "primary forest" as a forest without signs of direct human impact and where natural disturbances are the primary driver of forest structure and composition. These forests not only include old growth, but also the early seral stages of development. The study forests were selected using previous inventories of primary forest remnants when available (e.g. Veen et al. 2010, Mikoláš et al. 2019), and through searching the available archival information and historical data regarding the land use history of these areas. During the initial field survey,

all forests were inspected for various indicators of naturalness (e.g. deadwood in various stages of decay, pit-and-mound topography, large trees, natural tree species composition) and signs of human impact; forests with evidence of past logging and grazing and those in close proximity (ca. 500 m) to formerly grazed areas were avoided.

We selected 379 primary European mixed-beech (n = 133) and spruce (n = 246) mountain forest plots in the Western and Southern Carpathian Mountains. Due to possible differences in topography and climatic conditions within the two studied forest types, which can not only differently influence the growth of the studied tree species but also the occurrence and diversity of certain TreM types (Asbeck et al. 2019, Paillet et al. 2019), we divided our data in two subsets based on the forest type (mixed-beech and spruce).

The dominant tree species in mixed-beech forests was European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) together with mainly Norway spruce (*Picea abies* Karst.), silver fir (*Abies alba* Mill.) and sycamore maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus* L.). Spruce forests were mostly mono-dominated by Norway spruce with minor tree species admixtured, including rowan (*Sorbus aucuparia* L.), beech, silver fir, sycamore maple and stone pine (*Pinus cembra* L.).

Field data were collected to describe the tree and associated TreM characteristics. Survey locations were based on an existing international network of permanent inventory plots (REMOTE, <u>https://www.remoteforests.org</u>) that span primary forests in Central, Eastern and Southeastern Europe, and that are randomly distributed across various environmental and climatic gradients (Meigs et al. 2017). All data were collected within 0.1 ha circular plots on spruce dominated plots and 0.15 ha circular plots on mixed-beech plots, corresponding to the extent of the original REMOTE plots.

TreMs and forest structure

We collected comprehensive inventory data to quantify and classify the abundance and richness of TreMs across all study plots. We identified the coarse structure of plots by precisely mapping all standing trees using laser rangefinders and customized software (Field-map; Monitoring and Mapping Solutions, Jílove u Prahy, Czech Republic). As tree diameter has been recognized an important factor for TreM occurrence (Paillet et al. 2019), we measured the size (diameter at breast height, DBH) of all adult (≥ 6 cm DBH) trees, and determined ages for a subset of canopy trees (N=15-30) based on increment core samples. Tree cores were randomly selected from individual trees contributing to canopy cover (Lorimer & Frelich 1989). These are individuals exhibiting a potentially large variation in size and age, but with fully exposed

canopies. We identified occurrences of 47 distinct TreM types on all live trees based on the methodology by Larrieu et al. (2018) and particular types were pooled to TreM groups described by the same methodology. All trees were identified to species level. Due to the minor occurrence of other tree species in the dataset we only used four major tree species in the analyses, namely: beech, fir, maple and spruce. Trees which were not cored, and therefore we do not have the information about their age, were excluded from the final dataset.

Tree age data

Cores were dried in the laboratory and cut by a core microtone (Gärtner & Nievergelt, 2010), cross-dated and measured following standard dendrochronological methods (Stokes & Smiley, 1968). Annual rings were measured to the nearest 0.1 mm using a stereomicroscope and a LintabTM sliding-stage measuring device in conjunction with TSAP-WINTM software (http://www.rinntech.ds). Cores were first visually cross-dated using the marker year approach (Yamaguchi 1991), verified with PAST4TM software (www.sciem.com), and then confirmed with COFECHATM software (Holmes 1983).

Statistical analyses

For the evaluation of the relative influence of the predictor variables (tree age, its diameter, species, growth and region) we used Boosted Regression Trees (BRT, Elith et al. 2008). The measures of the relative influence were based on the number of times a variable was selected for splitting, weighted by the squared improvement to the model as a result of each split, and averaged over all trees (Friedmann & Meulman 2003). The relative influence (or contribution) of each variable was scaled so that the sum added to 100, with higher numbers indicating a stronger influence on the response variables. We fitted a BRT model using the function *gbm.step* from the *dismo* package (Hijmans et al. 2017) with the following parameters: tree complexity = 5, learning rate = 0.005, bag fraction = 0.5 (Elith et al. 2008). We repeated the same procedure for both the spruce and beech datasets.

We used age and DBH as explanatory variables, since DBH is recognized as one of the most important factors influencing TreM occurrence and richness and is often related to tree age. Because our study is focused on tree level analyses, we did not include plot characteristics such as topography, climate and disturbance regime in the model. However, to account for the possible differences between study locations, we used region as an additional explanatory variable. As certain TreMs are known to differ between tree species, we used tree species as a

categorical explanatory variable with four factors (beech, spruce, fir, maple), but we excluded tree species from the models of the spruce dataset, since there were very few tree species present other than spruce. We modelled the abundance, TreM richness and richness of TreM groups as the response variable using generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs). To prevent the autocorrelation of trees within the same plot that might have more similar characteristics than trees in different plots, we included the hierarchical spatial design of our study (plots nested in stands) as a random effect. Since the abundance and richness of TreMs are counts, we built models with the glmmTMB function from glmmTMB package (Brooks et al. 2017) with a Conway-Maxwell Poisson distribution, because there were signs of underdispersion and zero inflation. Additionally, we used binomial distribution to model TreM groups which consisted of only one specific TreM (i.e. insect galleries, twig tangles, perennial fungi). We scaled the continuous predictors using the default setting of the scale function. We used a stepwise model selection to select the best model using Akaike information criterion (AIC). All statistical analysis took place in R (R Core Team 2017).

Results

The variable importance analyses revealed that DBH was the most influential factor for TreM richness and abundance in both the beech (56.5% and 60.4% respectively; Figure S1 and Figure S2) and spruce (51% and 54.1% for richness and abundance respectively; Figure S3 and Figure S4) datasets. Tree age was the second most important factor with a relative influence of 27.4% for abundance (Figure S1) and 24% for richness (Figure S2) in beech-dominated forests and 27.2% for TreM richness in spruce forests (Figure S4). The regions in which the plots were located had a higher relative importance in spruce forests (17.3% on TreM richness and 22.3% for abundance, Figure S3 and S4), and was of only minor importance in beech-dominated forests. Tree species were also of minor importance for the richness and abundance of TreMs in beech-dominated forests, and an even lower importance was observed in spruce forests. Position of the tree in the canopy (variable "growth") was the least important factor with less than 1% of influence on TreM characteristics and therefore this variable was omitted from further analyses.

Congruent to the results of the variable importance analyses, the modeling results showed that DBH was the most important variable, and had a positive influence on TreM richness and abundance (Figure 1 and 2) and a similar pattern was observed for several TreM groups (Table 1 and 2). While a significant positive effect of tree age on TreM characteristics

was also found, it proved itself as the most important variable only in case of certain TreM groups; concavities, burrs and cankers in beech-dominated forests; insect galleries, exposed sapwood, burrs and cankers in spruce forests (Table 1 and 2). Tree species was the most important factor for 6 out of the 15 TreM groups; twig tangles were found in higher frequencies on maples, and a lower occurrence of exposed sapwood was observed on spruce trees. Insect galleries and exudates were observed in lower magnitudes on beeches, while rot holes and annual fungi were found in higher magnitudes.



Figure 1: Effects of DBH on abundance and richness of TreMs in beech-dominated forests from the generalized linear mixed effect models. The grey bands indicate the 95%- confidence interval. Abbreviations represent the studied regions (ROM - Romania, Southern Carpathians; SLO - Slovakia, Western Carpathians).



Figure 2: Effects of DBH on abundance and richness of TreMs in spruce forests from the generalized linear mixed effect models. The grey bands indicate the 95%- confidence interval.

Abbreviations represent studied regions (ROM - Romania, Southern Carpathians; SLO - Slovakia, Western Carpathians).

Table 1 and 2: Results of the generalized linear mixed effect models indicating the magnitude of influence and the significance ('***' 0.001, '**' 0.01, '*' 0.05) of the scaled predictors. Positive values show an increase in the richness/abundance of TreMs or TreM groups. The bold letters indicate the predictor with the greatest influence on the respective TreM group. Romania and silver fir are represented in the intercept.

	Inter	cept	DB	H	Ag	ge	Reg	ion
Spruce forest	z value	р	z value	р	z value	р	z value	р
Abundance	17.602	***	23.22	***	3.225	***	-3.349	***
TreM richness	8.364	***	12.97	***	4.574	***	-2.28	*
Woodpecker cavities	-8.467	***	0.992		1.331		0.185	
Rot holes	-11.562	***	1.023		1.619		0.351	
Insect galleries	-8.787	***	1.678		3.549	***	2.871	**
Exudates	-9.798	***	5.606	***	-1.302		-3.605	***
Concavities	-4.452	***	9.663	***	-0.362		-1.383	
Exposed sapwood	-11.21	***	0.44		3.113	**	1.298	
Exposed sapwood & heartwood	-17.163	***	-0.96		-0.715		0.163	
Crown deadwood	-3.716	***	5.806	***	1.405		-2.359	*
Twig tangles	-2.18	***	0.365		0.184		0.44	
Burrs & cankers	-15.805	***	2.644	**	3.906	***	-1.054	
Perrenial fungi	-8.281	***	1.268		1.81	•	-0.562	
Annual fungi	-8.255	***	2.357	*	0.57		0.299	
Epiphytes	-3.451	***	0.96		-0.879		-1.598	
Nests	-7.325	***	4.236	***	-1.01		0.177	
Microsoils	-12.417	***	4.409	***	1.864		-0.141	

	Intercept	cept	DBH	Η	Age	je I	Region	ion	Maple	ple	Beech	ch	Spruce	nce
Beech forest	z value	d	z value	d	z value	d	z value	d	z value	d	z value	d	z value	þ
Abundance	6.71	***	30.61	***	5.627	***	-1.285		9.412	***	13.612	***	8.701	***
TreM richness	6.979	***	21.815	* * *	5.747	** *	-1.036		6.908	** **	7.869	* **	3.938	* * *
Woodpecker cavities	-3.952	** **	0.038		0.857		-0.898		1.486		0.195		-0.099	
Rot holes	-13.287	***	3.82	***	1.962	*	-2.636	* *	6.653	** **	7.966	* * *	0.125	
Insect galleries	-12.114	* * *	0.491		1.58		1.404		-0.771		-2.325	*	-0.734	
Exudates	-14.194	* * *	1.687		-1.673		1.607		-2.494	*	-6.98	* * *	5.205	* * *
Concavities	-14.361	***	1.024		14.188	***	-3.088	* *	-0.967		9.67	* **	8.151	* * *
Exposed sapwood	-10.635	** **	1.034		-1.814		1.432		1.781		-1.829		-3.371	* * *
Exposed sapwood & heartwood	-12.7	* * *	2.544	*	-1.929		0.808		0.4		3.248	* *	0.134	
Crown deadwood	-5.501	***	5.531	* * *	0.002		0.105		-0.827		-3.916	* **	2.342	*
Twig tangles	-5.79	* * *	0.05		1.395		-1.12		2.745	*	0.003		-0.001	
Burrs & cankers	-12.304	** **	2.751	*	5.702	* * *	1.278		3.259	* *	3.151	*	1.404	
Perrenial fungi	-10.459	** **	1.268		1.81		-0.562		0.969		1.026			
Annual fungi	-9.303	* * *	-0.442		1.233		-2.628	* *	2.266	*	3.347	* * *	-0.204	
Epiphytes	-3.653	***	8.591	* * *	6.598	* * *	-0.223		4.484	* * *	-1.663		-8.199	* **
Nests	-6.009	* * *	8.862	***	2.063	*	-0.64	***	-0.733		2.589	*	2.706	*
Microsoils	-10.485	* * *	11.857	* * *	-0.144		-1.054		2.661	* *	5.844	* * *	3.236	*

Discussion

Based on the comprehensive dataset covering the Western and Southern Carpathian's spruce and beech-dominated primary mountain forests we were able to elucidate the effects of tree diameter, age, and species on the TreM profile. We assessed living habitat trees across >350 plots and used dendrochronological methods to examine tree age, and its importance in TreM occurrence on the respective trees. Tree age played an important role in determining the richness and abundance of TreMs, and its role was specifically important for the richness of concavities, insect galleries, exposed sapwood, burrs and cankers. Tree diameter was recognized as the most important for the overall TreM profile, so for the richness of specific TreM groups. Our results further demonstrated that any potential differences between the two separate regions only played a minor role in influencing the TreM profile, while tree species showed a significant effect.

Tree diameter was the most important factor influencing diversity and abundance of TreMs, as well as almost all specific TreM groups. Our results confirmed the previously welldocumented trend (Michel and Winter 2009, Winter and Moller 2008, Vuidot et al. 2011, Paillet et al. 2019), that a diverse and abundant TreM profile is linked to larger tree diameters. In addition to the effects of tree diameter, tree age also had a significant effect on TreM profile, but with a lower magnitude. Previously, it was considered that large trees are more prone to biotic and abiotic damage (Bobiec et al. 2002, Vuidot et al. 2011) because they generally have longer lifespans and thus longer exposure to damaging elements which can lead to TreM formation (Paillet et al. 2019). However, trees can grow suppressed in the lower parts of the canopy for long time periods with relatively short diameter increments, attaining long lifespans with relatively smaller diameters compared to the trees in the upper parts of the canopy (Issartel & Coiffard 2011). Our results showed that richness of certain TreM groups are exclusively connected to tree age without a significant effect of tree diameter: concavities (beech-dominated forests), insect galleries and exposed sapwood (spruce forests). Higher richness of concavities among older trees in beech-dominated forests is not surprising, since it takes a long time for cavities to develop, especially when one keeps in mind the relatively long time period required for the decomposition of beech wood. The wood quality of beech trees also influences the preferences of woodpeckers, which are more likely to create cavities on individuals infected with heart rot, or on dead trees (Jackson and Jackson 2004, Asbeck et al. in review). In the case of exposed sapwood, TreM types belonging to this group (bark loss, bark shelter, bark pocket, fire scar) are almost exclusively connected to tree injuries. The likelihood of the damage occurring through abiotic or biotic factors rises with time, therefore a higher richness of this TreM group on older trees was of no surprise. On the other hand, large trees have bigger surface area and therefore have a higher chance of being damaged by abiotic factors such as storms, snowfall or rockfall, thus we would expect a higher richness of these TreM groups however, our results do not support this fact.

Broadleaved species (beech and maple) had higher TreM abundance and diversity compared with conifers (spruce and silver fir). These results are consistent with previous observations where broadleaved species showed higher TreM accumulation (Paillet et al 2019, Larrieu et al. 2014, Vuidot et al. 2011). However, this pattern varied for studied TreM groups. For example, richness of rot holes was significantly higher on beech trees and tree species, beech in this case, was the most important factor influencing the richness of this TreM group. Presence of cavities is rare in live conifers (Drapeau et al. 2005) and mostly linked to beech trees (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012). On the other hand, lower richness among broadleaves than conifers were observed in case of exudates and crown deadwood.

We observed differences between the studied regions as the overall abundance and richness of TreMs in spruce forests was significantly higher in Southern Carpathians than in the Western part of the mountain range. The possible explanation might be the altitude, which was observed as the influential factor of TreM abundance (Asbeck et al. 2019), and so connected differences in precipitation or temperature (Jahed et al. 2020). Interestingly, we observed the distinctive pattern in regional differences between specific TreM groups among the studied forest types. Differences in precipitation patterns may also lead to increased richness of specific TreM groups, such as rot holes, concavities and annual fungi in Southern Carpathians as observed in beech-dominated forests. Increased presence of insect galleries in Western Carpathians, on the other hand, might be connected to bark-beetle outbreaks in the previous decades (Seidl et al. 2020), which may lead to colonization of the tree by other xylophagous insects more likely (Hagge et al. 2019)

It is also important to state here that one of the potential limitations of our study is that the threshold of tree age calculation was set for 20 missing tree rings. Trees with more missing rings, which were excluded from the dataset, have usually rotten heartwood, and can potentially host TreMs such as cavities and rot holes (Zahner et al. 2011).

Conclusions and management implications

Our study highlights the importance of old and large trees in temperate forest ecosystems as essential structures which facilitate the formation of biodiversity habitats. Tree age played a major role in increasing the abundance and richness of certain TreM groups, but our results also highlight the important role of tree diameter for TreM occurrence. These findings not only fill a gap in the current knowledge pertaining to TreM occurrence, but they may also find use in management of the forests where retention of habitat trees is the main objective. In Europe, the current forest landscapes are dominated by commercial forestry therefore, old and large trees have become extremely rare across the European temperate forests (Kraus & Krumm 2013). Considering such a situation, the retention of high diameter trees or fast-growing species might be the suitable management practice in order to reach an abundant and rich TreM profile. However, as our results imply, certain TreMs groups are highly dependent on senescent trees and thus, allowing trees to reach old age is also essential to facilitate the continuation of forest biodiversity. Nonetheless, for a better understanding of the effect of tree age on TreM occurrence further studies from different regions, forest types and under various management intensity are needed.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the institutional project MSMT (No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/16_019/0000803) and by the Czech University of Life Sciences (Grant IGA No. A_19_33).

Supplementary material



Figure S1. The relative influence of studied variables on TreM richness per tree in beechdominated forests. (DBH – 56.5%; Age – 27.4%; Region – 8%; Species – 7.2%; Growth – 0.9%)



Figure S2. The relative influence of studied variables on TreM abundance per tree in beechdominated forests. (DBH -60.4%; Age -24.3%; Species -8.1%; Region -6.8%; Growth -0.4%)



Figure S3. The relative influence of studied variables on TreM richness per tree in spruce forests. (DBH – 51%; Age – 27.2%; Region – 17.3%; Species – 3.9%; Growth – 0.6%)



Figure S4. The relative influence of studied variables on TreM abundance per tree in spruce forests. (DBH – 54.1%; Region – 22.3%; Age – 18.3%; Species – 5%; Growth – 0.3%)

References

Asbeck, T., Pyttel, P., Frey, J., & Bauhus, J. (2019). Predicting abundance and diversity of treerelated microhabitats in Central European montane forests from common forest attributes. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *432*, 400-408.

Bauhus, J., Puettmann, K., & Messier, C. (2009). Silviculture for old-growth attributes. Forest Ecology and Management, 258(4), 525-537.

Bobiec A. (2002). Living stands and dead wood in the Białowieża forest: Suggestions for restoration management.For Ecol Manag., 165(1–3):125–40.

Brooks M E, Kristensen K, Benthem K J ,van, et al (2017) glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among Packages for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. R J 9:378. https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2017-066

Buse, J., Schröder, B., & Assmann, T. (2007). Modelling habitat and spatial distribution of an endangered longhorn beetle–a case study for saproxylic insect conservation. *Biological Conservation*, *137*(3), 372-381.

Drapeau, P., Nappi, A., St Germain, M., and Angers, V.A. (2005). Les régimes naturels de perturbations, l'aménagement forestier et le bois mort dans la forêt boréale québécoise. In Bois mort et à cavités: une clé pour des forêts vivantes. Edited by Vallauri et al. Tec et Doc Lavoisier, Paris, France. pp. 46–54.

Elith, J., Leathwick, J.R., Hastie, T. (2008). A working guide to boosted regression trees. J.Anim. Ecol. 77, 802–813.https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01390.x.

Friedman, J.H. & Meulman, J.J. (2003) Multiple additive regression trees with application in epidemiology. *Statistics in Medicine*, **22**, 1365–1381.

Hagge, J., Bässler, C., Gruppe, A., Hoppe, B., Kellner, H., Krah, F. S., ... & Thorn, S. (2019).Bark coverage shifts assembly processes of microbial decomposer communities in dead wood.*Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 286(1912), 20191744.

Hartig F (2018) Package 'DHARMa.' In: http://florianhartig.github.io/DHARMa/. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/DHARMa/DHARMa.pdf. Accessed 10 March 2019.

Gärtner, H., & Nievergelt, D. (2010). The core-microtome: A new tool for surface preparation on cores and time series analysis of varying cell parameters. Dendrochronologia, 28, 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dendro.2009.09.002

Hijmans, R.J., Philips, S., Leathwick, J., Elith, J. (2017). dismo: Species DistributionModeling.R package version 1.1-4.https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dismo (accessed 10 October 2020).

Holmes, R. L. (1983). Computer-assisted quality control in tree-ring dating and measurement. Tree-Ring Bulletin, 43, 69–75.

Issartel, J., & Coiffard, C. (2011). Extreme longevity in trees: live slow, die old?. Oecologia, 165(1), 1-5.

Jackson, J.A., Jackson, B.J.S., (2004). Ecological relationships between fungi and woodpecker cavity sites. Condor 106, 37. https://doi.org/10.1650/7483.

Jahed, R. R., Kavousi, M. R., Farashiani, M. E., Sagheb-Talebi, K., Babanezhad, M., Courbaud, B., ... & Larrieu, L. (2020). A Comparison of the Formation Rates and Composition of Tree-Related Microhabitats in Beech-Dominated Primeval Carpathian and Hyrcanian Forests. *Forests*, *11*(2), 144.

Kraus, D. & Krumm, F. (2013). Integrative approaches as an opportunity for the conservation of biodiversity. European Forest Institute, Freiburg, 284 pp.

Kozák, D., Mikoláš, M., Svitok, M., Bače, R., Paillet, Y., Larrieu, L., ... & Frankovič, M. (2018). Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests. Forest Ecology and Management, 429, 363-374.

Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A. (2012). Species, live status, and diameter are important tree features for diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in subnatural montane beech–fir forests. Can. J. For. Res. 42, 1433–1445. https://doi.org/10.1139/x2012-077.

Larrieu, L., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bütler, R., Kraus, D., Krumm, F., ... & Vandekerkhove, K. (2018). Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: A hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. Ecological Indicators, 84, 194-207.

Lorimer, C. G., & Frelich, L. E. (1989). A methodology for estimating canopy disturbance frequency and intensity in dense temperate forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 19, 651–663. https://doi.org/10.1139/x89-102
Mikoláš, M., Ujházy, K., Jasík, M., Wiezik, M., Gallay, I., Polák, P., ... & Trotsiuk, V. (2019). Primary forest distribution and representation in a Central European landscape: Results of a large-scale field-based census. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *449*, 117466.

Michel, A. K., Winter, S., & Linde, A. (2011). The effect of tree dimension on the diversity of bark microhabitat structures and bark use in Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii var. menziesii). Canadian journal of forest research, 41(2), 300-308.

Meigs, G. W., Morrissey, R. C., Bače, R., Chaskovskyy, O., Čada, V., Després, T., ... & Mikoláš, M. (2017). More ways than one: Mixed-severity disturbance regimes foster structural complexity via multiple developmental pathways. Forest Ecology and Management, 406, 410-426.

Paillet, Y., Debaive, N., Archaux, F., Cateau, E., Gilg, O., & Guilbert, E. (2019). Nothing else matters? Tree diameter and living status have more effects than biogeoclimatic context on microhabitat number and occurrence: An analysis in French forest reserves. PloS one, 14(5).

R Core Team (2016) R: A language and environment for statistical computing.

Sabatini, F. M., Burrascano, S., Keeton, W. S., Levers, C., Lindner, M., Pötzschner, F., ... & Debaive, N. (2018). Where are Europe's last primary forests?. *Diversity and Distributions*, 24(10), 1426-1439.

Sommerfeld, A., Rammer, W., Heurich, M., Hilmers, T., Müller, J., & Seidl, R. (2020). Do bark beetle outbreaks amplify or dampen future bark beetle disturbances in Central Europe?. *Journal of Ecology*.

Stokes, M. A., & Smiley, T. L. (1968). Tree-ring dating. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Ulyshen, M. D., Ulyshen, M. D., & Koerner. (2018). Saproxylic insects. Springer.

Veen, P., Fanta, J., Raev, I., Biriş, I. A., de Smidt, J., & Maes, B. (2010). Virgin forests in Romania and Bulgaria: results of two national inventory projects and their implications for protection. Biodiversity and Conservation, 19(6), 1805-1819.

Vuidot, A., Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Gosselin, F. (2011). Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. Biol Cons 144:441–50.

Winter, S., & Möller, G. C. (2008). Microhabitats in lowland beech forests as monitoring tool for nature conservation. Forest Ecology and Management, 255(3-4), 1251-1261.

Yamaguchi, D. K. (1991). A simple method for cross-dating increment cores from living trees. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 21, 414–416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/x91-053</u>

Zahner, V., Sikora, L., Pasinelli, G., (2012). Heart rot as a key factor for cavity tree selection in the black woodpecker. For. Ecol. Manage. 271, 98–103.

6 Discussion

6.1 Historical disturbances determine current taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of saproxylic beetle communities in temperate primary forests

With the use of a comprehensive dataset covering 250 years of disturbance history and associated changes in forest structure, we have expanded the current knowledge about the effect of disturbance regimes on current beetle communities. Disturbances played an important role in determining the diversity of saproxylic beetle communities, with the frequency and time since disturbance as the most important factors. Our results further demonstrate that the dynamics of natural disturbances determine heterogeneity in resources, most importantly deadwood supplies and canopy openness, which positively contributed to the maintenance of diverse beetle assemblages.

We demonstrated that the more recently the disturbance occurred, the more species-rich the current communities of saproxylic beetles were. This effect was observed for the diversity of all beetles, and for conifer specialists separately. The observed pattern might be an effect of higher canopy openness immediately following a disturbance event, as saproxylic beetle communities are often more species-rich in gaps than under a closed canopy (Seibold et al. 2016). Another possibility is that this observation is a transient effect and caused by the higher proportion of fast-developing fresh-wood dwellers present in post-disturbance beetle communities, such as bark beetles and species associated with them (Saint-Germain et al. 2007). Decreasing amounts of nutrients in decaying woody debris decreases the attractiveness of deadwood over time (especially coniferous wood; Saint-Germain et al. 2007) for saproxylic beetles (Kopf & Funke 1998). Similar findings were observed by Winter et al. (2015), with the highest numbers of saproxylic beetles preferring wood of early decay stages in the initial earlyseral stage following the availability of fresh deadwood. As observed by Gossner et al. (2016), for *Picea abies*, species richness of saproxylic beetles was highest in the first year of decay followed by a decrease in species richness. Moreover, species richness increased with the severity of the last disturbance, probably as a result of deadwood pool enrichment across disturbed plots.

The severity of the last historical disturbance (events that occurred on average 120 years ago) negatively affected the functional diversity of conifer specialists. This finding might be explained by the post-disturbance development and highlights the need to understand long-term disturbance effects on biological communities. Gaps or patches after a high severity disturbance close between 50 and 100 years of following a disturbance (Svoboda et al. 2014), and as a

result, forest stands become more homogenous and the structural elements, for example deadwood, decline. Thus, altered environmental conditions may exclude functionally diverse early and mid-successional species and lead to the co-occurrence of functionally similar species that are adapted to changing habitat conditions (Winter et al. 2017, Thorn et al. 2018a). Our findings agree with the results of Hilmers et al. (2018) which showed a U-shaped response of beetle communities to forest succession.

Predicting the effect of future disturbance regimes on forest diversity, Thom et al. (2017) observed that an increase in disturbance frequency and severity had consistently positive effects on biodiversity. High disturbance severity and increasing disturbance frequency create a complex pattern of open areas, forest edges and remaining closed canopy forests, increasing the variation in environmental conditions (Perry et al. 2011, Lehnert et al. 2013). However, these findings only partially match ours, which could be because Thom et al. (2017) did not specifically focus on spruce-dominated forests. Although the severity of the last disturbance was associated with an increase in species richness for all species, the increases in the maximum detected disturbance severity were related to declines in species richness. The high-severity disturbances cause higher tree mortality which might lead to more homogenous forest structure with limited amounts of forest edges and old-growth structures (Svoboda et al. 2014), making such forest unfavorable for certain beetle species.

We observed a negative impact of disturbance frequency on conifer specialist species richness and diversity. Higher disturbance frequencies generate more gaps that support more diverse tree species, including broad-leaved species, which might cause a decline of conifer specialists as the deadwood pool contains more diverse tree species composition. Environmental changes such as the removal of the overstory forest canopy and the subsequent effect on the light regime may favor some species, while creating suboptimal or intolerable conditions for other species (Swanson et al. 2011): for example, species that prefer shaded deadwood (Lachat et al. 2016). Devictor & Robert (2009) showed that generalist species might benefit strongly from disturbance events while specialists and late-seral species could be affected negatively. Possibly, other drivers not included in our data, such as microclimate, shrub and herb layer vegetation, and fungal occurrence may explain diversity patterns of beetle communities present at the studied plots.

Saproxylic beetle communities are largely reliant on structural characteristics created by natural disturbance. Our results support previous findings that beetle abundance and diversity

are associated with heterogeneous and dynamic forests with high amounts of deadwood and canopy gaps (for example, Wermelinger et al. 2002, Müller et al. 2010).

Deadwood is an important component of forest ecosystems, biogeochemical cycles, trophic chains and provides key niches for many species (Vandekerkhove et al. 2009). The total amount of deadwood was the most important structural characteristic, positively influencing the abundance of all studied subgroups. Similarly, Müller et al. (2010) observed a positive response of beetle populations to deadwood amount which was also true for the specialized and red-listed species.

Mean canopy openness positively influenced the phylogenetic diversity of all beetles and conifer specialists. Mountain spruce forests of the Carpathians are characterized by mixed-severity disturbance dynamics (Svoboda et al. 2012, 2014) of wind and bark-beetle origin, which provide periodically large amounts of freshly killed trees with lots of canopy openings and thus might have favored the evolution of species adapted to utilize sun-exposed deadwood (Gossner et al. 2016). Another possibility is that changed light conditions in canopy gaps attract more flower-visiting beetles, and higher temperatures of sun-exposed deadwood allows the emergence of beetles from different phylogenetic lineages.

Amount of deadwood, particularly of large diameter and in a late decay stage, influences the functional composition of saproxylic beetles (Gossner et al. 2013). We observed that functional diversity of all saproxylics and conifer specialists was positively influenced by the diameter of standing deadwood. These findings confirm the importance of high diameter standing deadwood for saproxylic beetles as they can provide diverse habitats for functionally diverse assemblages (Stokland et al. 2012, Larrieu et al. 2012, Martikainen et al. 2000). Moreover, our results support earlier findings which emphasize the positive effect of barkbeetle infestations on saproxylic beetle communities (Müller et al. 2010). Finally, we observed the significant positive influence of TreMs as important habitat for saproxylic beetles (Parisi et al. 2019).

We observed a significant influence of historical disturbance variables on structural characteristics in terms of deadwood volume and canopy openness. Such observation suggests that the effect of historical disturbance regimes on forest structure persists in the form of structural characteristics and may still be visible after several decades or even centuries from the disturbance event. These findings are consistent with the findings of Winter et al. (2015) that structural changes such as reduced canopy cover and high volumes of deadwood after

windthrow and bark-beetle outbreak remain high or even higher after multiple decades of succession, suggesting persistence of early-seral heterogeneity into succession.

We found a positive effect of the time since the last disturbance on both total deadwood volume and diameter of standing deadwood, suggesting that trees dying during a disturbance event provide available habitats lasting for several decades, as was observed by Spies & Franklin (1988), or even for a century. The observed increases in total deadwood volume during disturbance-free periods further suggest that decay processes in spruce wood are comparatively gradual, at least relative to decomposition rates in angiosperm-derived substrates (Weedon et al. 2009) and that disturbance impacts on deadwood supply have substantial temporal persistence. In primary forests, post-disturbance succession is frequently influenced by other disturbances of various severities which can continuously replenish the deadwood pool (Hansen et al. 1991). Our results support those findings, since disturbance frequency positively influenced the total deadwood volume and lying deadwood volume. However, mean canopy openness decreased with increasing disturbance frequency and with longer times since disturbance, probably as part of the canopy trees survived frequent disturbance events and partly due to conditions favoring seedling recruitment and growth after disturbance events (Winter et al. 2015b).

Finally, natural disturbance characteristics did not significantly affect the TreM diversity. This supports the findings of Larrieu et al. (2014) that TreM availability remained stable throughout the forest succession, both in terms of their quantity and diversity.

Our studied diversity metrics of current saproxylic beetle communities responded to different disturbance and structural characteristics. Each historical disturbance characteristic influenced at least a part of the current beetle diversity, with frequency and time since the last disturbance event being the most important factors. With respect to saproxylic beetle richness, we observed contrasting effects between maximum disturbance severity (negative) and severity of the last disturbance (positive). Disturbances, habitat fluctuations and changes in environmental conditions cause variations in ecosystem properties and variable responses of different components of biodiversity (Cadotte 2007). Thus, the observed influence of disturbance on current beetle diversity may be caused by beetle species inhabiting temporary niches created by forest succession after a disturbance. Saproxylic beetle communities show pronounced successional changes with ongoing decay of deadwood material (Jonsell 2008) due to changes in the physical structure and nutritional quality of deadwood (Wende et al. 2017).

For instance, the presence of late-successional species often depends upon earlier colonists creating suitable conditions by initiating deadwood decomposition (Jacobsen et al. 2015).

Composition of a saproxylic beetle communities also depends on the ratio of different functional groups such as xylophages, fungivores and predators. For example, xylophages are highly abundant in early successional phases of deadwood colonization, whereas fungivores and predators are commonly present later in the successional food chain (Grove 2002). Thus, the heterogeneous arrangement and decomposition of deadwood resources, both spatially and temporally, might influence taxonomic and functional diversity of the current saproxylic beetle communities.

6.2 Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech dominated forests Preserving the diversity of organisms that rely on specific forest structures is a key conservation challenge as forest management intensifies across the globe (Hansen et al. 2013, Mori & Kitagawa 2014). Our assessment of TreM densities in primary forests provides a valuable benchmark for forest managers and policy makers that seek to implement structures that will benefit a host of species of conservation concerns (Vuidot et al. 2011). We performed the first quantitative TreM analyses and comparison of TreM diversity in primary mixed beechdominated forests in two distinct mountainous regions – the Carpathians and Dinarides. The primary drivers of TreM density (number of trees bearing a particular TreM per hectare) and diversity (richness of TreM types) at the plot scale in these forests were structural characteristics, such as RMS DBH, tree species composition, and the proportion of snags. Geographical distance between regions did not play an important role in TreM densities and diversity, either at the alpha, beta, or gamma levels. Our results highlight that TreM densities observed in the primary forests were significantly higher in comparison to densities presented in studies from managed forests (e.g., Larrieu et al. 2012, Paillet et al. 2017).

We observed a significant increase in total TreMs density and alpha and gamma diversity of TreM types with an increased proportion of snags and tree species richness. Several studies have already observed the importance of snags, large living trees, and different tree species for densities of TreM types (Larrieu & Cabanettes 2012, Larrieu et al. 2014, Vuidot et al. 2011). Tree diameter has also been recognized as an important factor in TreM dynamics across different forest types; it has been observed to influence the abundance of TreMs (Larrieu & Cabanettes 2012), the diversity of TreM types (Larrieu et al. 2014, Vudiot et al. 2011), or the occurrence of some TreM types, such as bark characteristics (Michel & Winter 2009). Large

diameter trees were also important in our study, especially for alpha and gamma diversity of TreMs, and densities of some TreM types. We did not find a significant relationship between DBH and total TreM density; most studies that observed a significant relationship between tree diameter and TreM used the DBH of the individual tree bearing the TreM. In contrast, we used RMS DBH of the trees on a plot, which likely introduce noise into the relationship given the mixed severity disturbance regimes of the region, and we also counted only one TreM type on each TreM-bearing tree, which may also further mask any relationship between diameter and density of TreMs. Tree species composition is another factor that has been observed to influence total TreM density and diversity (Larrieu & Cabanettes 2012, Larrieu et al. 2014, Vuidot et al. 2011). Tree species diversity has also been observed to positively influence densities of some specific TreMs, such as broken tops, patches with exudates, and epiphytes. Patches with exudates, such as sap-runs and gummosis, are more likely to be found on deciduous trees (Siitonen, 2012), while the excurrent growth habit of conifers makes them more susceptible to broken tops.

The proportion of snags had a significant effect on TreM diversity at the alpha, beta, and gamma levels, and also on the overall density of TreMs. However, we observed that all TreM types were present within the living trees and snags as well, which may be due to partial mortality, whereby dead wood occurs on living trees, which is characteristic of very large trees (Siitonen, 2012) that can bear TreMs normally present on dead trees in managed forests (e.g., woodpecker feeding holes). Our findings emphasize the importance of snags in broadleaved stands because they promote increased TreM diversity and densities within beech-dominated primary forests. We also observed higher densities of certain TreM types that are rarer on living trees than on snags (woodpecker cavities, conks of fungi, and bark characteristics), which is consistent with the findings of Vuidot et al. (2011) and Larrieu & Cabanettes (2012), whereas the presence of conks of fungi and woodpecker cavities were significantly higher on snags than on living trees (Appendix 3 in Section 5.2). Woodpeckers generally prefer to nest and roost in snags, and fungi play an important role in the excavation of woodpecker cavities (Zahner et al. 2012), and woodpeckers are often suggested as a vector for the fungus (Jackson & Jackson 2004). After the tree dies, the decay process promotes conditions that influence the occurrence of other TreM types, such as bark characteristics and non-woodpecker cavities (Vuidot et al. 2011). Although snags represented only 7-17% of all trees per stand, they accounted for onethird of the density of all TreMs tallied in our study (Table 2 in Section 5.2).

Our results generally agree with prior TreM research conducted in different regions, and it highlights the positive effects of high levels of structural heterogeneity (e.g., large trees, and high tree species richness and proportions of snags) to support a diverse array of TreMs. Finally, our results showed higher densities of TreMs associated with certain taxa compared to published conservation guidelines: a minimum of 40 cavities per hectare for the conservation of cavity dwelling birds (Blondel 2005) or a network of 7-10 live cavity- or crack-bearing trees per hectare for bats (Meschede & Heller 2003). Our data support these findings and demonstrate that primary forests can reach very high TreM levels.

We compared for the first time TreM densities and diversity between primary forests of Carpathian and Dinarides mountain ranges. Although precipitation and temperature differ among the regions (Table 1 in Section 5.2), we did not observe significant differences in total TreM densities or TreM diversity between the regions, including densities of conks of fungi and epiphytes (Table 3 in Section 5.2), which could potentially be influenced by large-scale climatic differences or soil properties (Ding et al. 2016). However, our results suggested significant variability between TreM densities and diversity on relatively small spatial gradients (stand and plot levels). We observed TreM densities almost two times greater than that of Paillet et al. (2017) in strict mixed mountain forest reserves of France (Table 2; Appendix 2 in Section 5.2). They determined that strict forest reserves had higher TreM densities, both total and individual densities, than comparable adjacent managed forests. This general trend has also been observed in several other European forests (Winter & Möller 2008, Winter et al. 2015a). Although Paillet et al. (2017) sampled strict forest reserves, the mean time since any previous harvesting was only 48 years, and it is impossible to identify the structure of the stands at the beginning of the set-aside period or how intensively the stands were managed prior to their strict reserve designation. We analyzed TreMs exclusively from remote primary forests with very limited access, and it is likely that these stands were never managed; some of the oldest trees are more than 450 years old. Compared to the findings of Paillet et al. (2017), we observed the density of broken tops was more than 10 times higher on average, and almost 20 times higher in the Carpathians. The higher densities of broken tops may be attributable to the natural disturbance regime that influences the structural dynamics in primary forests (Meigs et al. 2017), as well as the high proportion of live trees bearing polypores, such as *Fomes fomentarius* or *Fomitopsis pinicola*, which make beech stems more prone to breakage (Zeibig et al. 2005). In addition, taller trees with larger primary branches may be more prone to partial crown loss.

Similar conclusions can be drawn for higher densities of other TreM groups. High volumes and diversity of deadwood, which are typical of primary forests (Nagel et al. 2017), may influence the presence of conks of fungi and even woodpeckers (Jackson and Jackson 2004). We also observed much higher densities of base cavities compared to Paillet et al. (2017); because large cavities take more time to develop, higher rates of occurrence on very old trees would be expected, thus many primary forests would have higher numbers of older trees with longer periods of time since the last severe disturbance (Siitonen 2012). In contrast, we found lower densities of outgrowths and bark characteristics in the Dinaric dataset compared to the French strict forest reserves (Paillet et al. 2017); outgrowths and bark characteristics tend to occur more frequently on oaks (*Quercus* spp.), firs (*Abies* spp.), and spruces (*Picea* spp.) compared to beech (Vuidot et al. 2011). However, higher densities of outgrowths and bark characteristics forest the and bark characteristics dataset.

6.3 Primary forests provide more tree-related microhabitats than managed ones underlining the need of their conservation

The increasing importance of primary forests as key habitats for the conservation of biodiversity recently inspired silvicultural approaches that emphasize the role of old-growth attributes and natural disturbance legacies in management activities (Keeton 2006; Lindenmayer and others 2006; Bauhus and others 2009; Nagel and others 2014; Thom and others 2019; Čada and others 2020). Our novel approach compared the tree-level TreM richness of primary forests in the Carpathians with managed forests in the Black forest to disentangle the role of management for the provisioning of specific habitats. We consider our data sets comparable, as the latitude included in the models was not the predictor with the greatest magnitude of influence; hence, our results are robust across the inventoried geographic locations. Trees in primary forests hosted a more diverse array of TreMs in terms of overall richness and specific types of TreMs compared to their counterparts in managed forests.

The most prominent result is that we observed higher numbers of TreMs on living trees located in primary forests compared to those in managed ones. Previous studies were not able to extract this information as congruent as we did, for instance Vuidot and others (2011) did not find this difference when comparing managed and unmanaged forests on the tree level. Our findings might be influenced by the time that management is absent as in the mentioned study the unmanaged forests were left without timber extraction for a maximum of 150 years and

logged previously. In contrast, we are the first to analyze primary forest plots without any traces of human activities due to difficulty of accessibility.

Conventional forest management creates structurally uniform and highly productive stands with limited longevity of the trees. On the other hand, trees in primary forests often grow slowly, competing with other individuals under the vertically diverse canopy with longevity multiple times higher than the trees in managed stands (Bigler and Veblen 2009; Di Filippo and others 2012). Suboptimal tree growing conditions, such as poor soil conditions or suppression were connected to the formation of certain TreMs, such as cracks, bark lesions and rot holes (Jönsson 2000; Fritz and Heilmann-Clausen 2010). Such conditions are more likely to be found in primary forests because forest management is often avoided on nutrient poor and inaccessible sites. In addition, suppressed trees are systematically removed in most silvicultural practices. In this context, tree senescence is considered to play an important role for the occurrence of TreMs, but so far has only been included in one cross-sectional (Courbaud and others 2017) and one empirical study (Puverel and others 2019). We assume that the abundance and richness of TreMs increases with tree senescence, which might be the main reason for trees in primary forests bearing more TreMs, as they could be older compared to individuals of similar dimensions in managed forests.

Increased richness of specific TreM groups such as crown deadwood, exposed sapwood and heartwood, perennial polypores and insect galleries on primary forest trees implies the importance of natural disturbances for the formation of certain TreMs. The most important natural disturbances in Central and Eastern European mountain forests are wind, bark beetle outbreaks, snow and ice (Nagel and others 2014; Svoboda and others 2014; Janda and others 2017; Kulakowski and others 2017). The importance of effects from large-scale cyclones and convective instabilities on dynamics of these mountain forests has recently been recognized (Pettit and others in review). Wind can cause damage either directly by breaking the stem or limb of a tree, or indirectly through trees damaging each other when breaking or uprooting. Forest management may substitute the role of wind as damage caused during felling operations which could create similar TreMs (Vuidot and others 2011). Such practices may be effective in mimicking the natural creation of TreMs in managed stands (Fritz and Heilmann-Clausen 2010). Besides wind damage, galleries from wood drilling insects resulting from insect outbreaks of various severities are common in primary forests. This group of TreMs is highly unfavorable in managed forests because of its negative impact on timber value combined with imminent large-scale insect outbreaks that hit the Central European region and became more

severe recently (Schelhaas and others 2003; Seidl and others 2017). Management practices also tend to remove trees with signs of other timber damaging pathogens, such as fungi. Increased richness of perennial polypores on trees in primary forests is thus not surprising. This removal is not restricted to individuals bearing polypores, but for all trees bearing TreMs that are considered "defects" in forest management. Moreover, the presence of fungi combined with senescence may increase the probability of stem breakage during windstorms, especially in beech trees (Zeibig and others 2005), making it partially responsible for increased richness of exposed sap and heartwood TreMs in primary forests.

We demonstrated a positive effect of tree diameter on overall TreM richness and a consistent effect across the studied TreM groups (except twig tangles). As observed in previously, the diameter of the living trees is an important factor influencing the presence of TreMs across tree species, forest types and environmental conditions (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012; Kozák and others 2018; Asbeck and others 2019; Paillet and others 2019).

Our results are also in line with observed patterns of increased TreM numbers in broadleaves (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012; Regnery and others 2013; Paillet and others 2019), as we found the highest overall TreM richness on European beech. Specifically, a higher richness of woodpecker cavities, rot holes and annual fungi was observed on beech trees. Woodpeckers serve as a vector for the fungal infection and often prefer beech trees with rotten heartwood for the excavation of woodpecker cavities (Jackson and Jackson 2004; Zahner and others 2012). Woodpeckers are opportunistic in their choice of suitable trees for cavity establishment (Basile and others 2020b); whenever snags are available in lower quantities, which is the case in managed forests compared to primary ones, they select living trees to excavate their cavities. This is the reason for the non-significant effect of absence of management on woodpecker cavities, as we included only living trees in the analyses. We observed a lower richness of epiphytes in primary forests compared to managed ones and the most important predictor for an increase of this TreM group was an increase in altitude. Similarly, a higher altitude was responsible for increased abundance of epiphytic TreMs (Asbeck and others 2019) and diversity of epiphytes (Ding and others 2016), which is possibly due to an increased precipitation or humidity in higher altitudes.

Uncertainties in our results might be caused by the variation in sampling design, as we selected living trees for the TreM survey based on the size of their crown area in managed forests (Asbeck and others 2019), whereas the primary forest plots did not include only old-growth successional phases but also early seral ones (Kozák and others 2018). However, we

included the diameter as predictor in our models and thus took the difference in diameter into account; hence our results should be robust concerning this difference in sampling methods.

6.4 Influence of tree age on tree-related microhabitats abundance and richness: a comparison of mixed-beech and spruce mountain primary forests

Based on the comprehensive dataset covering the Western and Southern Carpathian's spruce and beech-dominated primary mountain forests we were able to elucidate the effects of tree diameter, age, and species on the TreM profile. We assessed living habitat trees across >350 plots and used dendrochronological methods to examine tree age, and its importance in TreM occurrence on the respective trees. Tree age played an important role in determining the richness and abundance of TreMs, and its role was specifically important for the richness of concavities, insect galleries, exposed sapwood, burrs and cankers. Tree diameter was recognized as the most important for the overall TreM profile, so for the richness of specific TreM groups. Our results further demonstrated that any potential differences between the two separate regions only played a minor role in influencing the TreM profile, while tree species showed a significant effect.

Tree diameter was the most important factor influencing diversity and abundance of TreMs, as well as almost all specific TreM groups. Our results confirmed the previously welldocumented trend (Michel and Winter 2009, Winter and Moller 2008, Vuidot et al. 2011, Paillet et al. 2019), that a diverse and abundant TreM profile is linked to larger tree diameters. In addition to the effects of tree diameter, tree age also had a significant effect on TreM profile, but with a lower magnitude. Previously, it was considered that large trees are more prone to biotic and abiotic damage (Bobiec et al. 2002, Vuidot et al. 2011) because they generally have longer lifespans and thus longer exposure to damaging elements which can lead to TreM formation (Paillet et al. 2019). However, trees can grow suppressed in the lower parts of the canopy for long time periods with relatively short diameter increments, attaining long lifespans with relatively smaller diameters compared to the trees in the upper parts of the canopy (Issartel & Coiffard 2011). Our results showed that richness of certain TreM groups are exclusively connected to tree age without a significant effect of tree diameter: concavities (beech-dominated forests), insect galleries and exposed sapwood (spruce forests). Higher richness of concavities among older trees in beech-dominated forests is not surprising, since it takes a long time for cavities to develop, especially when one keeps in mind the relatively long time period required for the decomposition of beech wood. The wood quality of beech trees also influences the preferences of woodpeckers, which are more likely to create cavities on individuals infected with heart rot, or on dead trees (Jackson and Jackson 2004, Asbeck et al. in review). In the case of exposed sapwood, TreM types belonging to this group (bark loss, bark shelter, bark pocket, fire scar) are almost exclusively connected to tree injuries. The likelihood of the damage occurring through abiotic or biotic factors rises with time, therefore a higher richness of this TreM group on older trees was of no surprise. On the other hand, large trees have bigger surface area and therefore have a higher chance of being damaged by abiotic factors such as storms, snowfall or rockfall, thus we would expect a higher richness of these TreM groups however, our results do not support this fact.

Broadleaved species (beech and maple) had higher TreM abundance and diversity compared with conifers (spruce and silver fir). These results are consistent with previous observations where broadleaved species showed higher TreM accumulation (Paillet et al 2019, Larrieu et al. 2014, Vuidot et al. 2011). However, this pattern varied for studied TreM groups. For example, richness of rot holes was significantly higher on beech trees and tree species, beech in this case, was the most important factor influencing the richness of this TreM group. Presence of cavities is rare in live conifers (Drapeau et al. 2005) and mostly linked to beech trees (Larrieu and Cabanettes 2012). On the other hand, lower richness among broadleaves than conifers were observed in case of exudates and crown deadwood.

We observed differences between the studied regions as the overall abundance and richness of TreMs in spruce forests was significantly higher in Southern Carpathians than in the Western part of the mountain range. The possible explanation might be the altitude, which was observed as the influential factor of TreM abundance (Asbeck et al. 2019), and so connected differences in precipitation or temperature (Jahed et al. 2020). Interestingly, we observed the distinctive pattern in regional differences between specific TreM groups among the studied forest types. Differences in precipitation patterns may also lead to increased richness of specific TreM groups, such as rot holes, concavities and annual fungi in Southern Carpathians as observed in beech-dominated forests. Increased presence of insect galleries in Western Carpathians, on the other hand, might be connected to bark-beetle outbreaks in the previous decades (Seidl et al. 2020), which may lead to colonization of the tree by other xylophagous insects more likely (Hagge et al. 2019)

It is also important to state here that one of the potential limitations of our study is that the threshold of tree age calculation was set for 20 missing tree rings. Trees with more missing

rings, which were excluded from the dataset, have usually rotten heartwood, and can potentially host TreMs such as cavities and rot holes (Zahner et al. 2011).

7 Management implications

Based on the results presented in the thesis there are three main points upon which we can imply specific management recommendations: i) the conservation of primary forest remnants and setting aside large enough areas of forests without management, ii) the retention or creation of saproxylic beetle habitats such as deadwood and canopy openings in forests management, and iii) the retention of TreM bearing trees.

Granting strict protection to primary forests should be a conservation priority, because of their important role in maintaining biodiversity. As our results highlight, primary forests can support a higher portion of biodiversity (in terms of TreMs) both on plot and tree level than their managed counterparts. Therefore, strict conservation of remaining primary forests and restoration of natural forests should be a main interest of nature conservation managers (Sabatini et al. 2020). Secondly, such areas should be large enough to be able to maintain suitable habitats in certain areas even when large-scale high severity disturbances occur. Natural disturbances can temporarily alter forest structure making it unsuitable for certain species or communities and thus large-scale protected areas are needed to avoid local extinctions until the suitable conditions occur again. This is clearly shown in our study of saproxylic beetles (Section 5.1), where a decreased richness was found with certain disturbance regimes. Larger areas of intact primary forest should therefore be maintained to enable natural dynamics, such as the minimum size of 500 km² set by the concept of intact forest landscapes (Potapov et al. 2017). According to Carbiener (1996), only surface areas of several thousand hectares can harbor all forest developmental phases, including the variability of natural disturbances and the associated fauna.

Our results imply that saproxylic beetle diversity is linked to natural disturbance legacies such as large amounts of lying and standing deadwood (especially those of large diameters), and variable light conditions associated with canopy openings. Current forest management concepts often do not sufficiently consider measures to integrate saproxylic biodiversity protection, maintenance, or enhancement into commercial forest management (Kraus & Krumm 2013). In Europe, many saproxylic species are rare or endangered because of thousands of years of human impacts on forest ecosystems. Intensive forest management approaches applied for timber production represents one of the main threats for saproxylic taxa (Stokland

et al. 2012), dramatically reducing the amount and diversity of deadwood. In forests managed for commercial purposes, the maintenance of deadwood in terms of quantity and quality (such as tree species, diameter or decay stage) should be carefully assessed, in order to find a compromise between economic benefit and biodiversity conservation (New 2010). Depending on the forest type, deadwood quantities in managed forest should range from 20 to 50 m³/ha (with amounts increasing with altitude of the forest stand) to maintain the threshold for the majority of saproxylic species (Kraus & Krumm 2013). However, some species are highly demanding, requiring very high amounts of deadwood (>100 m³/ha) and such requirements are difficult to meet within forest management practices. In that case, areas such as strict forest reserves, or forests on steep slopes or water catchments where timber extraction is not a main goal, can serve as a refugia and should be equally distributed across the landscape to allow dispersal (Kraus & Krumm 2013). The occurrence of deadwood should also be more evenly distributed on the stand scale, to ensure ecological successions of saproxylic communities. Ideal conditions for saproxylic taxa include complex forest structures, gap occurrence and availability of deadwood (standing or lying) at different stages of wood degradation because these features guarantee optimal ecological conditions for many of them and thus high species richness (Telnov 2002). Management practices that promote deadwood should be organized on large scales as the influence of deadwood on saproxylic species increases with increasing spatial scales. The temporal dimensions should also be considered because the continuity of forest cover and deadwood availability might play a major role in the protection of saproxylic beetles (Kraus & Krumm 2013).

We observed higher TreM densities and richness within the primary forests compared to managed ones, thus the retention of habitat trees should be an essential part of management practices when focusing on increasing biodiversity habitats. Based on the results presented in the thesis, when selecting habitat trees for the retention, large trees are particularly important and should have special attention in forest management. Diameter of the trees was by far the most important factor positively influencing TreM profile on plot level (Table 3, Section 5.2) and on a tree level for overall abundance and diversity of TreMs but also for the majority of the specific TreM types (Table 1 and 2, Section 5.4). Additionally, snags host a more abundant and diverse array of TreMs therefore their retention is preferable over living trees. Besides the rich TreM profile found on the snags, they are important habitats for saproxylic species which can utilize the deadwood substrate. However large living habitat trees with a lot of TreMs are also valuable for retention as the number of TreM will possibly increase throughout the senescence

process and after the tree death. Although the economic value of such habitat trees is often lower as they may contain "defects" such as cavities, bark anomalies or heart rot, they are highly valuable for certain forest taxa. Furthermore, when considering the retention of the specific tree species, broadleaves are in general preferable over coniferous species. Yet although our results showed that broadleaved species had a more abundant and diverse TreM profile (see Table 1 and 2 in Section 5.4 but also Table 2 in Section 5.3), the diversity and density of TreMs increased with the number of tree species per plot (Fig. 2, Section 5.2). A similar trend was observed in managed forests (Asbeck et al. 2019) therefore we recommend a mixture of species (with prevalence of broadleaves) left for retention when managing mixed forests. Spruce mountain forests are often naturally monodominant therefore its reasonable that majority of retention trees will include spruce specimens with some portion of broadleaved such as pioneer species (e.g. rowan and birch) or other broadleaves if they are present (e.g. beech or acer). In summary, the retention of large living and dead trees of several tree species appears as an ideal and quite universal way to promote TreMs and enhance potential substrates to support forest biodiversity.

Moreover, forest management should focus on the retention of such habitat trees equally across the different spatial scales (plot, stand and landscape) and ensure connection between forest reserves (Kraus & Krumm 2013) because one must also keep in mind that even if specific TreMs are present, this does not guarantee that they are used if the relevant taxa cannot colonize them (Asbeck et al. 2019).

8 Conclusions

The findings of the presented dissertation thesis contribute to the scientific knowledge on the effects of disturbance regimes and forest structure on saproxylic beetle communities and TreMs in primary mountain forests. Particularly, the thesis provides emphasis on: i) the influence of historical disturbances and forest structure on current saproxylic beetle communities, ii) the characteristics of the TreM profile in primary beech-dominated forests, iii) comparison of TreM richness of primary and managed forests on a tree level, and iv) the effect of tree age, diameter and other tree characteristics on TreM abundance and richness.

We documented that disturbance-created structures promote species-rich communities of saproxylic beetles. Species-rich beetle communities were favored by the structures created by historical disturbances that increase structural heterogeneity, whereas historical disturbances which homogenized the forest environment appeared to have been unfavorable for present-day beetle communities. Present-day forest structure such as the amount and diameter of deadwood and changed light conditions positively influenced the abundance and diversity of beetle communities. However, disturbance regimes and their influence on beetle communities is far from temporally static so the importance of these aspects might change during further successional development. Ongoing climate change will likely increase disturbance frequency and severity in many parts of the world. The presented findings suggest that any potential climate-induced changes in natural disturbance regimes may temporarily impact saproxylic beetle communities, however these changes are highly dependent on post-disturbance successional pathways. Therefore, the timescale and long-term post-disturbance development trajectories may pose a challenge for local conservation planning. The results of this thesis emphasize the importance of setting aside large areas (strictly protected forest landscapes) where a wide range of timing and severity of disturbances can occur and create a heterogeneous environment that can support a full array of biodiversity (Mikoláš et al. 2017, Nagel et al. 2017, Peterken 1996, Watson et al. 2018). When the area on which natural disturbances operate is too small, large-scale disturbances may change the habitat across the entire area of such small protected forests to conditions that are not appropriate for certain species.

We conducted the first assessment of TreMs in beech-dominated primary forests of the Carpathian and Dinaric mountain ranges, with these sites representing some of the last remnants of primary forests in Europe. The results provide an empirical analysis of TreM variability and reference values from these primary forests, both of which will help inform forest managers, conservation strategies, and policy decisions. These reference values provide a means to assess the influence of forest management on the TreM profile. However, the results focus only on a relatively small fraction of these two vast mountain ranges. To improve the understanding of TreM dynamics, we suggest a more thorough survey of primary forest study areas across the Dinaric and Carpathian Mountains, as well as other mountain ranges where similar forest types occur. Other factors, such as climate characteristics or topographical features (for example the presence of cliffs that can increase the occurrence of certain TreMs, such as bark loss by rock falls), or biotic factors, such as woodpecker density or diversity or the presence of large ungulates, may also play important roles in the availability of TreMs. A potentially important driver of TreM density and diversity may be natural disturbance regimes, through their possible role in the creation and maintenance of TreMs. Future research should include the analysis of disturbance history variables in relation to TreMs. In particular, a dendroecological approach could be used to link natural disturbance history with TreM diversity and density, and to assess

how forest development influences the distribution of TreMs. To summarize, our results show that primary forests maintain high TreM diversity, and that they may significantly contribute to the overall species diversity across forested landscapes.

We were also able to identify for the first time that the main driver of differences in the richness and occurrence of TreMs between primary and managed forests is the absence of management. Our study suggests that primary forests are essential in providing habitats for forest-dwelling species through a high richness of TreMs. However, many complexes of primary forests are being lost due to poor mapping and the subsequent lack of protection status (Knorn et al. 2013, Sabatini et al. 2018, Mikoláš et al. 2019). This allows salvage logging operations, which can lead to extraction of trees with high potential to bear or develop TreMs, which represent a threat to the ecosystem itself and the function it provides for biodiversity conservation (Thorn et al. 2018b). Hence, our results not only highlight the importance of primary forests for biodiversity conservation, but they also have several implications for forest management. First, the constant removal of trees or parts of trees that show "defects" - such as exposed sap- and heartwood or crown deadwood created by natural disturbances - needs to be decreased to some extent in managed forests to allow the development of these important TreMs as resources. This could be implemented by focusing on the selection and retention of the individuals - such as habitat trees - that provide these obvious and easily identifiable TreMs. Secondly, the increase of beech and other broadleaf species will increase the number of habitats available for forest dwelling species. Overall, we recommend forest and nature conservation managers to focus their approaches on: 1) protecting the remaining primary forests and 2) selecting high-quality habitat trees that already provide a high number of microhabitats in managed forests based on the comparison with primary ones.

This presented study also highlights the importance of old and large trees in temperate forest ecosystems as essential structures which facilitate the formation of biodiversity habitats. Tree age played a major role in increasing the abundance and richness of certain TreM groups, but our results also highlight the important role of tree diameter for TreM occurrence. These findings not only fill a gap in the current knowledge pertaining to TreM occurrence, but they may also find use in management of the forests where retention of habitat trees is the main objective. In Europe, the current forest landscapes are dominated by commercial forestry therefore, old and large trees have become extremely rare across the European temperate forests (Kraus & Krumm 2013). Considering such a situation, the retention of high diameter trees or fast-growing species might be the suitable management practice in order to reach an abundant

and rich TreM profile. However, as our results imply, certain TreMs groups are highly dependent on senescent trees and thus, allowing trees to reach old age is also essential to facilitate the continuation of forest biodiversity. Nonetheless, for a better understanding of the effect of tree age on TreM occurrence further studies from different regions, forest types and under various management intensity are needed.

9 Literature

Adam, D., & Vrška, T. (2009). Important localities of old-growth forests. In T. Hrnčiarová, P. Mackovčin & I. Zvara (Ed.), *Landscape atlas of the Czech Republic* (pp. 209). Průhonice, Czech Republic: Ministry of Environment and Silva Tarouca Research Institute, Prague.

Aitken, K.E.H., Martin, K. (2007). The importance of excavators in hole-nesting communities: availability and use of natural tree holes in old mixed forests of western Canada. *J. Ornithol.* 148: 425–434.

Alexander, K.N.A. (2008). Tree biology and saproxylic coleoptera: issues of definitions and conservation language. *Revue d'e cologie* 63(10): 9–13.

Asbeck, T., Pyttel, P., Frey, J., & Bauhus, J. (2019). Predicting abundance and diversity of treerelated microhabitats in Central European montane forests from common forest attributes. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 432: 400-408.

Baker, W.L., Flaherty, P.H., Lindemann, J.D., Veblen, T.T., Eisenhart, K.S. & Kulakowski, D.W. (2002). Effect of vegetation on the impact of a severe blowdown in the southern Rocky Mountains, USA. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 168: 63–75.

Basile, M., Asbeck, T., Jonker, M., Knuff, A. K., Bauhus, J., Braunisch, V., ... & Storch, I. (2020a). What do tree-related microhabitats tell us about the abundance of forest-dwelling bats, birds, and insects?. *J. Environ. Manage.*, 264: 110401.

Basile, M., Asbeck, T., Pacioni, C., Mikusińki, G., & Storch, I. (2020b). Woodpecker cavity establishment in managed forests: relative rather than absolute tree size matters. *Wildlife Biol.*, 2020(1).

Bauhus, J., Puettmann, K., & Messier, C. (2009). Silviculture for old-growth attributes. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 258: 525–537.

Bässler, C., Muller, J., Svoboda, M., Lepšova, A., Hahn, C., Holzer, H., Pouska, V. (2012). Diversity of wood-decaying fungi under different disturbance regimes-a case study from spruce mountain forests. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 21: 33–49.

Bigler, C. & Veblen, T.T. (2009). Increased early growth rates decrease longevities of conifers in subalpine forests. *Oikos*, 118: 1130–8.

Blondel, J. (2005). Bois mort et cavités: leur rôle pour l'avifaune cavicole. In: Vallauri, D., André, J., Dodelin, B., Eynard-Machet, R., Rambaud, D. (Eds.), Bois mort et à cavités: une clé pour des forêts vivantes. Lavoisier, Paris, pp. 137–144.

Bobiec, A. (2002). Living stands and dead wood in the Białowieża forest: suggestions for restoration management. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, *165*(1-3): 125-140.

Bouget, C., & Duelli, P. (2004). The effects of windthrow on forest insect communities: a literature review. *Biol. Conserv.*, 118(3): 281-299.

Bouget, C., Brin, A., & Brustel, H. (2011). Exploring the "last biotic frontier": Are temperate forest canopies special for saproxylic beetles?. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 261(2): 211-220.

Bouget, C., Larrieu, L., Nusillard, B., & Parmain, G. (2013). In search of the best local habitat drivers for saproxylic beetle diversity in temperate deciduous forests. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 22(9): 2111-2130.

Bouget, C., Larrieu, L., & Brin, A. (2014). Key features for saproxylic beetle diversity derived from rapid habitat assessment in temperate forests. *Ecol. Indic.*, *36*: 656-664.

Brooks, M.E., Kristensen, K., Benthem, K.J. van Magnusson, A., Berg, C.W., Nielsen, A., Skaug, H.J., Mächler, M., Bolker, B.M. (2017). glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among Packages for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. *The R Journal*, 9:378.

Brunet, J. & Isacsson, G. (2009). Restoration of beech forest for saproxylic beetles—effects of habitat fragmentation and substrate density on species diversity and distribution. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, *18*(9): 2387.

Burrascano, S., Keeton, W. S., Sabatini, F. M., & Blasi, C. (2013). Commonality and variability in the structural attributes of moist temperate old-growth forests: A global review. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 291: 458–479.

Buse, J. (2012). "Ghosts of the past": flightless saproxylic weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) are relict species in ancient woodlands. *J. Insect Conserv.*, 16(1): 93-102.

Cadotte, M.W. (2007). Competition–colonization trade-offs and disturbance effects at multiple scales. *Ecology*, 88(4): 823–9.

Carbiener, D. (1996). Towards an ecological management of European forests. *Courrier de l'Environnement de l'INRA (France)*.

Chao, A., Gotelli, N.J., Hsieh, T.C., Sander, E., Ma, K.H., Colwell, R.K., Ellison, A.M. (2014). Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: a framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. *Ecol. Monogr.*, 84(1): 45–67.

Christensen, M., Hahn, K., Mountford, E.P., Odor, P., Standovar, T., Rozenbergar, D., Diaci, J., Wijdeven, S., Meyer, P., Winter, S., Vrska, T., (2005). Dead wood in European beech (Fagus sylvatica) forest reserves. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 210: 267–282.

Chylarecki, P., & Selva, N. (2016). Ancient forest: Spare it from clearance. *Nature*, *530*: 419–419.

Cockle, K.L., Martin, K., & Robledo, G. (2012). Linking fungi, trees, and hole-using birds in a Neotropical tree-cavity network: Pathways of cavity production and implications for conservation. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 264: 210-219.

Convention on Biological Diversity. (1992). Convention on Biological Diversity. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). United Nations Environment Programme.

Commarmot, B., Brändli, U.-B., Hamor, F. and Lavnyy, V. (eds.) (2013). Inventory of the largest virgin beech forest of Europe. A Swiss-Ukrainian scientific adventure. Swiss Federal Institute of Forest, Snow and Landscape Research, Birmensdorf, National Forestry University, L'viv, Carpathian Biosphere Reserve, Rakhiv. 69.

Courbaud, B., Pupin, C., Letort, A., Cabanettes, A., Larrieu, L. (2017). Modelling the probability of microhabitat formation on trees using cross-sectional data. Börger L, editor. *Methods Ecol. Evol.*, 8: 1347–1359.

Čada, V., Trotsiuk, V., Janda, P., Mikoláš, M., Bače, R., Nagel, T.A., Morrissey, R.C., Tepley, A.J., Vostarek, O., Begović, K., Chaskovskyy, O., Dušátko, M., Kameniar, O., Kozák, D., Lábusová, J., Málek, J., Meyer, P., Pettit, J.L., Schurman, J.S., Svobodová, K., Synek, M., Teodosiu, M., Ujházy, K., Svoboda, M. (2020). Quantifying natural disturbances using a large-scale dendrochronological reconstruction to guide forest management. *Ecol. Appl*.:eap.2189.

De Gasperis, S.R., Passacantilli, C., De Zan, L.R., & Carpaneto, G.M. (2016). Overwintering ability and habitat preference of Morimus asper: a two-year mark-recapture study with implications for conservation and forest management. *J. Insect Conserv.*, 20(5): 821-835.

Devictor, V. & Robert, A. (2009). Measuring community responses to large-scale disturbance in conservation biogeography. *Divers. Distrib.*, 15(1):1 22–30.

Diaci, J. (1999). Virgin forests and forest reserves in Central and East European countries-History, present status and future development. *Proceedings of the invited lecturers' reports presented at the COST E4 management committee and working groups meeting in Ljubljana, Slovenia.* Ljubljana.

Di Filippo, A., Biondi, F., Maugeri, M., Schirone, B., Piovesan, G. (2012). Bioclimate and growth history affect beech lifespan in the Italian Alps and Apennines. *Glob. Change Biol.*, 18: 960–972.

Ding, Y., Liu, G., Zang, R., Zhang, J., Lu, X., Huang, J. (2016). Distribution of vascular epiphytes along a tropical elevational gradient: disentangling abiotic and biotic determinants. *Sci. Rep.* 6.

Dormann, C.F. (2013). *Parametrische Statistik*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-34786-3.

Donato, D.C., Campbell, J.L., & Franklin, J.F. (2012). Multiple successional pathways and precocity in forest development: can some forests be born complex? *J. Veg. Sci.*, 23(3): 576-584.

Drapeau, P., Nappi, A., St Germain, M., and Angers, V.A. (2005). Les régimes naturels de perturbations, l'aménagement forestier et le bois mort dans la forêt boréale québécoise. In Bois mort et à cavités: une clé pour des forêts vivantes. Edited by Vallauri et al. Tec et Doc Lavoisier, Paris, France. pp. 46–54.

Ehbrecht, M., Schall, P., Ammer, C., & Seidel, D. (2017). Quantifying stand structural complexity and its relationship with forest management, tree species diversity and microclimate. *Agr. Forest Meteorol.*, 242: 1-9.

Elith, J., Leathwick, J.R., Hastie, T. (2008). A working guide to boosted regression trees. *J. Anim. Ecol.*, 77: 802–813.

FAO, (2015). Global Forest Resources Assessment 2015. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.

Forst, B. W. (2015). Alt und Totholzkonzept Baden-Württemberg.

Franklin, J.F., Spies, T.A., Van Pelt, R., Carey, A.B., Thornburgh, D.A., Berg, D.R., ... & Bible, K. (2002). Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with

silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 155(1-3): 399-423.

Franklin, J.F. & Van Pelt, R. (2004). Spatial aspects of structural complexity in old-growth forests. *J. For.*, 102: 22-28.

Franklin, J.F., Mitchell, R.J., & Palik, B.J. (2007). Natural disturbance and stand development principles for ecological forestry. *Gen. Tech. Rep. NRS-19. Newtown Square, PA: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station.* 44 p., 19.

Fraver, S., Jonsson, B.G., Jönsson, M. & Esseen, P.-A. (2008). Demographics and disturbance history of a boreal old-growth *Picea abies* forest. *J. Veg. Sci.*, 19: 789–798.

Friedman, J.H. & Meulman, J.J. (2003). Multiple additive regression trees with application in epidemiology. *Stat. Med.*, 22: 1365–1381.

Frelich, L.E. (2002). Forest dynamics and disturbance regimes: studies from temperate evergreen-deciduous forests. Cambridge University Press.

Fritz Ö, Heilmann-Clausen J. (2010). Rot holes create key microhabitats for epiphytic lichens and bryophytes on beech (Fagus sylvatica). *Biol. Conserv.*, 143: 1008–1016.

Friess, N., Müller, J.C., Aramendi, P., Bässler, C., Brändle, M., Bouget, C., ... & Gossner, M.M. (2019). Arthropod communities in fungal fruitbodies are weakly structured by climate and biogeography across European beech forests. *Divers. Distrib.*, 25(5): 783-796.

Gärtner, H., & Nievergelt, D. (2010). The core-microtome: A new tool for surface preparation on cores and time series analysis of varying cell parameters. *Dendrochronologia*, 28: 85–92.

Gauthier, S., Bernier, P., Kuuluvainen, T., Shvidenko, A.Z., & Schepaschenko, D.G. (2015). Boreal forest health and global change. *Science*, 349(6250): 819-822.

Gibb, H., Ball, J.P., Johansson, T., Atlegrim, O., Hjältén, J., Danell, K. (2005). Effects of management on coarse woody debris volume and composition in boreal forests in northern Sweden. *Scand. J. Fores.t Res.*, 20: 213–222.

Gossner, M.M., Lachat, T., Brunet, J., Isacsson, G., Bouget, C., Brustel, H., ... & Mueller, J. (2013). Current near-to-nature forest management effects on functional trait composition of saproxylic beetles in beech forests. *Conserv. Biol.*, 27(3): 605-614.

Gossner, M.M., Wende, B., Levick, S., Schall, P., Floren, A., Linsenmair, K.E., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Schulze, E.-D., Weisser, W.W. (2016). Deadwood enrichment in European forests–Which tree species should be used to promote saproxylic beetle diversity? *Biol. Cons.*, 201: 92–102.

Gouix, N., & Brustel, H. (2012). Emergence trap, a new method to survey Limoniscus violaceus (Coleoptera: Elateridae) from hollow trees. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 21(2): 421-436.

Grove, S. J. (2002). Saproxylic insect ecology and the sustainable management of forests. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst.*, 33(1): 1-23.

Hagge, J., Bässler, C., Gruppe, A., Hoppe, B., Kellner, H., Krah, F.S., ... & Thorn, S. (2019).Bark coverage shifts assembly processes of microbial decomposer communities in dead wood.*P. Roy. Soc. B-Biol. Sci.*, 286(1912): 20191744.

Hansen, A.J., Spies, T.A., Swanson, F.J., Ohmann, J.L. (1991). Conserving biodiversity in managed forests. *Bioscience*, 41(6): 382–92.

Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Tyukavina, A., Thau, D., Stehman, S.V., Goetz, S.J., Loveland, T.R., Kommareddy, A., Egorov, A., Chini, L., Justice, C.O., Townshend, J.R.G. (2013). High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science* (80-.) 342: 850–853.

Hanson, J.J., & Lorimer, C.G. (2007). Forest structure and light regimes following moderate windstorms: implications for multi-cohort management. *Ecol. Appl.*, 17: 1325–1340.

Hartig F. (2018). Package 'DHARMa'. http://florianhartig.github.io/DHARMa/. (accessed 10 October 2020).

Hijmans, R.J., Philips, S., Leathwick, J., Elith, J. (2017). dismo: Species DistributionModeling.R package version 1.1-4.https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dismo (accessed 10 October 2020).

Hilmers, T., Friess, N., Bässler, C., Heurich, M., Brandl, R., Pretzsch, H., Müller, J. (2018).Biodiversity along temperate forest succession. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 55(6): 2756–2766.

Hjältén, J., Stenbacka, F., Pettersson, R. B., Gibb, H., Johansson, T., Danell, K., ... & Hilszczański, J. (2012). Micro and macro-habitat associations in saproxylic beetles: implications for biodiversity management. *PLoS One*, 7(7): e41100.

Hobi, M.L., Commarmot, B., & Bugmann, H. (2015). Pattern and process in the largest primeval beech forest of Europe (Ukrainian Carpathians). *J. Veg. Sci.*, 26: 323–336.

Holmes, R. L. (1983). Computer-assisted quality control in tree-ring dating and measurement. *Tree-Ring Bulletin*, 43: 69–75.

Huston, M.A. (1994). *Biological diversity: the coexistence of species on changing landscapes*. Cambridge Univ. Press.

Issartel, J. & Coiffard, C. (2011). Extreme longevity in trees: live slow, die old?. *Oecologia*, 165(1): 1-5.

IUCN. (2019). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*.Version 2019-2. http://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed on 18 July 2019.

Jacobsen, R.M., Birkemoe, T., Sverdrup-Thygeson, A. (2015). Priority effects of early successional insects influence late successional fungi in dead wood. *Ecol. Evol.*, 5(21):4896–905.

Jackson, J.A., Jackson, B.J.S. (2004). Ecological relationships between fungi and woodpecker cavity sites. *Condor*, 106: 37.

Jahed, R.R., Kavousi, M.R., Farashiani, M.E., Sagheb-Talebi, K., Babanezhad, M., Courbaud, B., ... & Larrieu, L. (2020). A Comparison of the Formation Rates and Composition of Tree-Related Microhabitats in Beech-Dominated Primeval Carpathian and Hyrcanian Forests. *Forests*, *11*(2): 144.

Janda, P., Trotsiuk, V., Mikoláš, M., Bače, R., Nagel, T.A., Seidl, R., ... & Jasík, M. (2017). The historical disturbance regime of mountain Norway spruce forests in the Western Carpathians and its influence on current forest structure and composition. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 388: 67-78.

Jepsen, M.R., Kuemmerle, T., Müller, D., Erb, K., Verburg, P.H., Haberl, H., ... Reenberg, A. (2015). Transitions in European land-management regimes between 1800 and 2010. *Land Use Policy*, 49: 53–64.

Johann, F. & Schaich, H. (2016). Land ownership affects diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in deciduous temperate forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 380: 70-81.

Jonášová, M. & Pracha, K. (2004). Central-European mountain spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst.) forests: regeneration of tree species after a bark beetle outbreak. *Ecol. Eng.*, 23: 15–27.

Jonsell, M. (2008). Saproxylic beetle species in logging residues: which are they and which residues do they use? *Norweg. J. Entomol.*, 55(1): 109.

Jonsson, B.G., Kruys, N., Ranius, T. (2005). Ecology of species living on dead wood–lessons for dead wood management. *Silva Fennica*, 39(2): 289–309.

Jönsson, A.M. (2000). Mineral nutrients of beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) bark in relation to frost sensitivity and soil treatments in southern Sweden. *Ann. For. Sci.*, 57:1–8.

Jokela, J., Juutilainen, K., Korpela, L., Kouki, J., Kuntsi, S., Koivula, M., & Siitonen, J. (2018). Cross-taxon congruence and relationships to stand characteristics of vascular plants, bryophytes, polyporous fungi and beetles in mature managed boreal forests. *Ecol. Indic.*, 85: 137-145.

Jost, L. (2006). Entropy and diversity. Oikos, 113(2): 363-75.

Keeton, W.S. (2006). Managing for late-successional/old-growth characteristics in northern hardwood-conifer forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 235: 129–42.

Knorn, J., Kuemmerle, T., Radeloff, V.C., Keeton, W.S., Gancz, V., Biriş, I.A., ... Hostert, P. (2013). Continued loss of temperate old-growth forests in the Romanian Carpathians despite an increasing protected area network. *Environ. Conserv.*, 40: 182–193.

Komonen, A. & Müller, J. (2018). Dispersal ecology of deadwood organisms and connectivity conservation. *Conserv. Biol.*, 32(3): 535-545.

Kopf, A., Funke, W. (1998). Xylobionte arthropoden. Die Entwicklung von Wald-Biozo" nosen nach Sturmwurf. *Landsberg Ecomed*, 1:282–91.

Korpel, S. (1995). *Die Urwälder der Westkarpaten*. Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart, Jena, New York. 310.

Kozák, D., Mikoláš, M., Svitok, M., Bače, R., Paillet, Y., Larrieu, L., ... & Frankovič, M. (2018). Profile of tree-related microhabitats in European primary beech-dominated forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 429: 363-374.

Kozák, D., Svitok, M., Wiezik, M., Mikoláš, M., Thorn, S., Buechling, A., ... & Begovič, K. (2020). Historical Disturbances Determine Current Taxonomic, Functional and Phylogenetic Diversity of Saproxylic Beetle Communities in Temperate Primary Forests. *Ecosystems*, 1-19.

Kraus, D. & Krumm, F. (2013). *Integrative Approaches as an Opportunity for the Conservation of Forest Biodiversity*. European Forest Institute, Freiburg, Germany.

Kulakowski, D., Seidl, R., Holeksa, J., Kuuluvainen, T., Nagel, T.A., Panayotov, M., ... Whitlock, C. (2017). A walk on the wild side: Disturbance dynamics and the conservation and management of European mountain forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 388: 120–131.

Kuuluvainen, T. & Aakala, T. (2011). Natural forest dynamics in boreal Fennoscandia: A review and classification. *Silva Fennica*, 45: 823–841.

Lachat, T., Chumak, M., Chumak, V., Jakoby, O., Müller, J., Tanadini, M., Wermelinger, B. (2016). Influence of canopy gaps on saproxylic beetles in primeval beech forests: a case study from the Uholka-Shyrokyi Luh forest. Ukraine. *Insect Conserv. Diver.*, 9(6): 559–73.

Lachat, T. & Müller, J. (2018). Importance of primary forests for the conservation of saproxylic insects. In *Saproxylic Insects* (pp. 581-605). Springer, Cham.

Laiolo, P. (2004). Diversity and structure of the bird community overwintering in the Himalayan subalpine zone: is conservation compatible with tourism?. *Biol. Conserv.*, 115(2): 251-262.

Larsson, T.B. (2001). Biodiversity evaluation tools for European forests. *Ecol. Bull.* 50: 1–237.

Larrieu, L. & Cabanettes, A. (2012). Species, live status, and diameter are important tree features for diversity and abundance of tree microhabitats in subnatural montane beech-fir forests. *Can. J. For. Res.* 42: 1433–1445.

Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A., & Delarue, A. (2012). Impact of silviculture on dead wood and on the distribution and frequency of tree microhabitats in montane beech-fir forests of the Pyrenees. *Eur. J. For. Res.*, 131(3): 773-786.

Larrieu, L., Cabanettes, A., Gonin, P., Lachat, T., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bouget, C., Deconchat, M., (2014). Deadwood and tree microhabitat dynamics in unharvested temperate mountain mixed forests: a life-cycle approach to biodiversity monitoring. *Forest Ecol. Manage.*, 334: 163–173.

Larrieu, L., Paillet, Y., Winter, S., Bütler, R., Kraus, D., Krumm, F., Lachat, T., Michel, A.K., Regnery, B., Vandekerkhove, K. (2018). Tree related microhabitats in temperate and Mediterranean European forests: A hierarchical typology for inventory standardization. *Ecol. Indic.*, *84*: 194-207.

Lehnert, L.W., Bässler, C., Brandl, R., Burton, P.J., Müller, J. (2013). Conservation value of forests attacked by bark beetles: Highest number of indicator species is found in early successional stages. *J. Nat. Conserv.*, 21(2): 97–104.

Leibundgut, H. (1959). Über Zweck und Methodik der Struktur-und Zuwachsanalyse von Urwäldern. Schweiz. Zeitschrift für Forstwesen 110(3): 111–124

Lindenmayer, D.B., Cunningham, R.B., Donnelly, C.F., Franklin, J.F., 2000. Structural features of old-growth Australian montane ash forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 134: 189–204.

Lindenmayer, D.B., Franklin, J.F., Fischer, J. (2006). General management principles and a checklist of strategies to guide forest biodiversity conservation. *Biol. Conserv.*, 131: 433–445.

Lorimer, C.G., Frelich, L.E. (1989). A methodology for estimating canopy disturbance frequency and intensity in dense temperate forests. *Can. J. For. Res.*, 19(5): 651–63.

Lüdecke, D. (2018). ggeffects: Tidy Data Frames of Marginal Effects from Regression Models. JOSS 3:772.

Lüdecke, D., Makowski, D., Waggoner, P., Indrajeet, P. (2020). Package 'performance' - Assessment of Regression Models Performance.

MacArthur, R.H. & Wilson, E.O. (1967). *The Theory of Island Biogeography*. Princeton University Press, New York.

Mackey, B., DellaSala, D.A., Kormos, C., Lindenmayer, D., Kumpel, N., Zimmerman, B., ... Watson, J.E.M. 2015. Policy options for the world's primary forests in multilateral environmental agreements. *Conserv. Lett.*, 8: 139–147.

Martikainen, P., Siitonen, J., Punttila, P., Kaila, L., Rauh, J. (2000). Species richness of Coleoptera in mature managed and oldgrowth boreal forests in southern Finland. *Biol. Cons.*, 94(2): 199–209.

McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., Brack, C., & Bauhus, J. (2005). Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: its definition and measurement. *Forest Ecol. Manage.*, 218(1): 1-24.

McElhinny, C., Gibbons, P., & Brack, C. (2006). An objective and quantitative methodology for constructing an index of stand structural complexity. *Forest Ecol. Manage.*, *235*(1-3): 54-71.

McPeek, M.A., Holt, R.D. (1992). The evolution of dispersal in spatially and temporally varying environments. *Am. Nat.*, 140: 1010–1027

Meigs, G.W., Morrissey, R.C., Bače, R., Chaskovskyy, O., Čada, V., Després, T., ... & Mikoláš, M. (2017). More ways than one: Mixed-severity disturbance regimes foster structural complexity via multiple developmental pathways. *Forest Ecol. Manage.*, 406: 410-426.

Meschede, A. & Heller, K.G. (2003). Ecologie et protection des chauvessouris en milieu forestier. MHN de Genéve. *Le Rhinolophe*, 16:1–248.

Mežaka, A., Brūmelis, G., & Piterāns, A. (2012). Tree and stand-scale factors affecting richness and composition of epiphytic bryophytes and lichens in deciduous woodland key habitats. *Biodiv. Conserv.*, *21*(12): 3221-3241.

Michel, A.K. & Winter, S., (2009). Tree microhabitat structures as indicators of biodiversity in Douglas-fir forests of different stand ages and management histories in the Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 257: 1453–1464.

Mikoláš, M., Svitok, M., Bollmann, K., Reif, J., Bače, R., Janda, P., ... & Coppes, J. (2017). Mixed-severity natural disturbances promote the occurrence of an endangered umbrella species in primary forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 405: 210-218.

Mikoláš, M., Ujházy, K., Jasík, M., Wiezik, M., Gallay, I., Polák, P., ... & Trotsiuk, V. (2019). Primary forest distribution and representation in a Central European landscape: Results of a large-scale field-based census. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 449: 117466.

Mori, A.S. & Kitagawa, R. (2014). Retention forestry as a major paradigm for safeguarding forest biodiversity in productive landscapes: a global meta-analysis. *Biol. Conserv.*, 175: 65–73.

Müller, J., Bussler, H., Gossner, M.M., Rettelbach, T., & Duelli, P. (2008). The European spruce bark beetle Ips typographus in a national park: from pest to keystone species. *Biodiv*. *Conserv.*, 17: 2979–3001.

Müller, J. & Bütler, R., (2010). A review of habitat thresholds for dead wood: a baseline for management recommendations in European forests. *Eur. J. For. Res.*: 981–992.

Müller, J., Noss, R.F., Bussler, H., Brandl, R. (2010). Learning from a "benign neglect strategy" in a national park: Response of saproxylic beetles to dead wood accumulation. *Biol. Cons.*: 143(11): 2559–2569.

Müller, J., Jarzabek-Müller, A., Bussler, H., & Gossner, M.M. (2014). Hollow beech trees identified as keystone structures for saproxylic beetles by analyses of functional and phylogenetic diversity. *Anim. Conserv.*, 17(2): 154-162.

Nagel, T.A., Svoboda, M., & Kobal, M. (2014). Disturbance, life history traits, and dynamics in an old-growth forest landscape of southeastern Europe. *Ecol. Appl.*, 24(4): 663-679.

Nagel, T.A., Firm, D., Mihelic, T., Hladnik, D., de Groot, M., & Rozenbergar, D. (2017). Evaluating the influence of integrative forest management on old-growth habitat structures in a temperate forest region. *Biol. Cons.*, *216*: 101-107.

Nakagawa, S., Johnson, P.C., Schielzeth, H. (2017). The coefficient of determination R2 and intra-class correlation coefficient from generalized linear mixed-effects models revisited and expanded. *J. R. Soc. Interface*, 14(134): 2 0170213.

Navarro, L.M. & Pereira, H.M. (2012). Rewilding abandoned landscapes in Europe. *Ecosystems*, 15: 900–912.

New, T.R. & New, T.R. (2010). *Beetles in conservation* (pp. X+-238). West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.

Odor, P., Király, I., Tinya, F., Bortignon, F., & Nascimbene, J. (2014). Reprint of: Patterns and drivers of species composition of epiphytic bryophytes and lichens in managed temperate forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 321: 42-51.

Paillet, Y., Pernot, C., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Fuhr, M., Gilg, O., Gosselin, F. (2015).Quantifying the recovery of old-growth attributes in forest reserves: a first reference for France.*Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 346: 51–64.

Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., Fuhr, M., Gilg, O., Gosselin, F., Guilbert,
E. (2017). Snags and large trees drive higher tree microhabitat densities in strict forest reserves. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 389: 176–186.

Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Du Puy, S., Bouget, C., Boulanger, V., Debaive, N., ... & Guilbert, E. (2018). The indicator side of tree microhabitats: A multi-taxon approach based on bats, birds and saproxylic beetles. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 55(5): 2147-2159.

Paillet, Y., Debaive, N., Archaux, F., Cateau, E., Gilg, O., & Guilbert, E. (2019). Nothing else matters? Tree diameter and living status have more effects than biogeoclimatic context on microhabitat number and occurrence: An analysis in French forest reserves. *PloS one*, 14(5): e0216500.

Päivinen, J., Ahlroth, P., Kaitala, V., Kotiaho, J. S., Suhonen, J., & Virola, T. (2003). Species richness and regional distribution of myrmecophilous beetles. *Oecologia*, *134*(4): 587-595.

Parisi, F., Di Febbraro, M., Lombardi, F., Biscaccianti, A.B., Campanaro, A., Tognetti, R., Marchetti, M. (2019). Relationships between stand structural attributes and saproxylic beetle abundance in a Mediterranean broadleaved mixed forest. *Forest Ecol. Manag.* 432: 957–966.

Parmain, G., Bouget, C., Müller, J., Horak, J., Gossner, M.M., Lachat, T., Isacsson, G. (2015). Can rove beetles (Staphylinidae) be excluded in studies focusing on saproxylic beetles in central European beech forests? *Bull. Entomol. Res.*, 105(1): 101–9.

Parsons, S., Lewis, K.J., Psyllakis, J.M. (2003). Relationships between roosting habitat of bats and decay of aspen in the sub-boreal forests of British Columbia. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 177: 559–570.

Parviainen, J. (Ed.) (2000). *COST Action E4. Forest reserves research network*. Luxembourg: European Commission.

Perry, D.A., Hessburg, P.F., Skinner, C.N., Spies, T.A., Stephens, S.L., Taylor, A.H., Franklin, J.F., McComb, B., Riegel, G. (2011). The ecology of mixed severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 262(5): 703–717.

Peterken, G.F. (1996). *Natural woodland: Ecology and conservation in northern temperate regions*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Pettersson, R.B., Ball, J.P., Renhorn, K.E., Esseen, P.A., & Sjöberg, K. (1995). Invertebrate communities in boreal forest canopies as influenced by forestry and lichens with implications for passerine birds. *Biol. Conserv.*, 74(1): 57-63.

Potapov, P., Hansen, M.C., Laestadius, L., Turubanova, S., Yaroshenko, A., Thies, C., ... Esipova, E. (2017). The last frontiers of wilderness: Tracking loss of intact forest landscapes from 2000 to 2013. *Science Advances*, 3: e1600821. Puverel, C., Abourachid, A., Böhmer, C., Leban, J.M., Svoboda, M., Paillet, Y. (2019). This is my spot: What are the characteristics of the trees excavated by the Black Woodpecker? A case study in two managed French forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 453: 117621.

R Core Team. (2016). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/

Ranius, T. & Hedin, J. (2001). The dispersal rate of a beetle, Osmoderma eremita, living in tree hollows. *Oecologia*, 126(3): 363-370.

Ranius, T. (2002). Influence of stand size and quality of tree hollows on saproxylic beetles in Sweden. *Biol. Conserv.*, 103: 85–91.

Ranius, T., Martikainen, P., & Kouki, J. (2011). Colonisation of ephemeral forest habitats by specialised species: beetles and bugs associated with recently dead aspen wood. *Biodivers*. *Conserv.*, 20(13): 2903-2915.

Ray-Mukherjee, J., Nimon, K., Mukherjee, S., Morris, D.W., Slotow, R., Hamer, M., (2014). Using commonality analysis in multiple regressions: a tool to decompose regression effects in the face of multicollinearity. *Methods Ecol. Evol.*, 5: 320–328.

Regnery, B., Paillet, Y., Couvet, D., Kerbiriou, C. (2013). Which factors influence the occurrence and density of tree microhabitats in Mediterranean oak forests? *Forest Ecol. Manag.* 295: 118–125.

Remm, J. & Lõhmus, A. (2011). Tree cavities in forests - the broad distribution pattern of a keystone structure for biodiversity. *Forest Ecol. Manag.* 262: 579–585.

Rondeux, J., Bertini, R., Bastrup-Birk, A., Corona, P., Latte, N., McRoberts, R.E., Ståhl, G., Winter, S., Chirici, G. (2012). Assessing deadwood using harmonized national forest inventory data. *For. Sci.*, 58: 269–283.

Sabatini, F.M., Burrascano, S., Keeton, W.S., Levers, C., Lindner, M., Pötzschner, F., ... & Debaive, N. (2018). Where are Europe's last primary forests?. *Divers. Distrib.*, 24(10): 1426-1439.

Sabatini, F.M., Keeton, W.S., Lindner, M., Svoboda, M., Verkerk, P.J., Bauhus, J., ... & Garbarino, M. (2020). Protection gaps and restoration opportunities for primary forests in Europe. *Divers. Distrib*.

Santopuoli, G., di Cristofaro, M., Kraus, D., Schuck, A., Lasserre, B., & Marchetti, M. (2019). Biodiversity conservation and wood production in a Natura 2000 Mediterranean forest. A tradeoff evaluation focused on the occurrence of microhabitats. *iForest.*, 12(1): 76.

Saint-Germain, M., Drapeau, P., Buddle, C.M. (2007). Host-use patterns of saproxylic phloeophagous and xylophagous Coleoptera adults and larvae along the decay gradient in standing dead black spruce and aspen. *Ecography*, 30(6): 737–748.

Scheffers, B.R., Edwards, D.P., Diesmos, A., Williams, S.E., & Evans, T.A. (2014). Microhabitats reduce animal's exposure to climate extremes. *Glob. Change Biol.*, 20(2): 495-503.

Schelhaas, M.J., Nabuurs, G.J., Schuck, A. (2003) Natural disturbances in the European forests in the 19th and 20th centuries. *Glob. Change Biol.*, 9: 1620–1633.

Schnitzler, A. (2014). Towards a new European wilderness: Embracing unmanaged forest growth and the decolonisation of nature. *Landscape Urban Plan.*, 126: 74–80.

Schroeder, L.M. (2007). Escape in space from enemies: a comparison between stands with and without enhanced densities of the spruce bark beetle. *Agr. Forest Entomol.*, 9(2): 85-91.

Seibold, S.K. (2015). Biodiversity of dead-wood dependent insects-effects of forest management and prospects of conservation (Doctoral dissertation, Technische Universität München).

Seibold, S., Brandl, R., Buse, J., Hothorn, T., Schmidl, J., Thorn, S. and Müller, J. (2015). Association of extinction risk of saproxylic beetles with ecological degradation of forests in Europe. *Conserv. Biol.*, 29: 382–390.

Seibold, S., Bässler, C., Brandl, R., Büche, B., Szallies, A., Thorn, S., ... & Müller, J. (2016). Microclimate and habitat heterogeneity as the major drivers of beetle diversity in dead wood. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 53(3): 934-943.

Seibold, S., Bässler, C., Brandl, R., Fahrig, L., Förster, B., Heurich, M., ... & Müller, J. (2017). An experimental test of the habitat-amount hypothesis for saproxylic beetles in a forested region. *Ecology*, 98(6): 1613-1622.

Seidl, R., Schelhaas, M.J., Rammer, W., & Verkerk, P.J. (2014). Increasing forest disturbances in Europe and their impact on carbon storage. *Nat. Clim. Change*, 4(9): 806-810.

Seidl, R., Thom, D., Kautz, M., Martin-Benito, D., Peltoniemi, M., Vacchiano, G., Wild, J., Ascoli, D., Petr, M., Honkaniemi, J., Lexer, M.J., Trotsiuk, V., Mairota, P., Svoboda, M., Fabrika, M., Nagel, T.A., Reyer, C.P.O. (2017). Forest disturbances under climate change. *Nat. Clim. Change*, 7: 395–402.

Shipley, B. (2009). Confirmatory path analysis in a generalized multilevel context. *Ecology*, 90(2): 363–368.

Siitonen, J., Penttilä, R., & Kotiranta, H. (2001). Coarse woody debris, polyporous fungi and saproxylic insects in an old-growth spruce forest in Vodlozero National Park, Russian Karelia. *Ecol. Bull.*: 231-242.

Siitonen, J. (2012). Microhabitats. In: Stokland, J.N., Siitonen, J., Jonsson, B.G. (Eds.), Biodiversity in Dead Wood. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, pp. 150–182.

Sommerfeld, A., Rammer, W., Heurich, M., Hilmers, T., Müller, J., & Seidl, R. (2020). Do bark beetle outbreaks amplify or dampen future bark beetle disturbances in Central Europe?. *J. Ecol.*

Speight, M.C.D. (1989). Saproxylic invertebrates and their conservation. Council of Europe, Strasbourg.

Spies, T.A., Franklin, J.F. (1988). Old growth and forest dynamics in the Douglas-fir region of western Oregon and Washington. *Nat Areas Jl*, 8(3): 190–201.

Stokland, J.N., Siitonen, J., Jonsson, B.G., (2012). *Biodiversity in dead wood*. University Press Cambridge, UK.

Stokes, M. A. & Smiley, T. L. (1968). *Tree-ring dating*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Storch, I., Penner, J., Asbeck, T., Basile, M., Bauhus, J., Braunisch, V., ... & Koch, B. (2020). Evaluating the effectiveness of retention forestry to enhance biodiversity in production forests of Central Europe using an interdisciplinary, multi-scale approach. *Ecol. Evol.*, 10(3): 1489-1509.

Svoboda, M., Janda, P., Nagel, T.A., Fraver, S., Rejzek, J., & Bače, R. (2012). Disturbance history of an old-growth sub-alpine Picea abies stand in the B ohemian Forest, Czech Republic. *J. Veg. Sci.*, 23(1): 86-97.

Svoboda, M., Janda, P., Bače, R., Fraver, S., Nagel, T.A., Rejzek, J., ... & Čada, V. (2014). Landscape-level variability in historical disturbance in primary P icea abies mountain forests of the Eastern Carpathians, Romania. *J. Veg. Sci.*, 25(2): 386-401.

Swanson, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Beschta, R., Crisafulli, Ch.M., DellaSala, D.A., Hutto, R.L., Lindenmayer, D.B., Swanson, F.J. (2011). The forgotten stage of forest succession: early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. *Front. Ecol. Environ.*, 9(2): 117–25.

Šamonil, P., Antolík, L., Svoboda, M., & Adam, D. (2009). Dynamics of windthrow events in a natural fir-beech forest in the Carpathian mountains. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 257(3): 1148-1156.

Telnov, D. (2003). Saproxylic Latvia-The situation, species diversity and possibilities. In *Proceedings of the Second Pan-European Conference on Saproxylic Beetles*. *http://entomologia.rediris.es/gtli/espa/dos/lucanus_spain.pdf*.

Thom, D., Rammer, W., Dirnböck, T., Müller, J., Kobler, J., Katzensteiner, K., Helm, N., Seidl, R.. (2017). The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 54(1): 28–38.

Thom, D., Golivets, M., Edling, L., Meigs, G.W., Gourevitch, J. D., Sonter, L.J., ... & Keeton, W.S. (2019). The climate sensitivity of carbon, timber, and species richness covaries with forest age in boreal–temperate North America. *Glob. Change Biol.*, 25(7): 2446-2458.

Thorn, S., Förster, B., Heibl, C., Müller, J., & Bässler, C. (2018a). Influence of macroclimate and local conservation measures on taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic diversities of saproxylic beetles and wood-inhabiting fungi. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 27(12): 3119-3135.

Thorn, S., Bässler, C., Brandl, R., Burton, P.J., Cahall, R., Campbell, J.L., ... Müller, J. (2018b). Impacts of salvage logging on biodiversity: A meta-analysis. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 55: 279–289.

Tillon, L. & Aulagnier, S. (2014). Tree cavities used as bat roosts in a European temperate lowland sub-Atlantic forest. *Acta Chiropterol.*, 16(2): 359-368.

Tillon, L., Bouget, C., Paillet, Y., & Aulagnier, S. (2016). How does deadwood structure temperate forest bat assemblages?. *Eur. J. For. Res.*, 135(3): 433-449.

Tomppo, E., Gschwantner, T., Lawrence, M., Mc Roberts, R.E. (2010). *National Forest Inventories*. Pathways for Common Reporting. Springer Science Heidelberg, Allemagne.

Turner, M.G. (2010). Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. *Ecology*. 91(10): 2833-2849.

Ulanova, N.G. (2000). The effects of windthrow on forests at different spatial scales: a review. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 135: 155–167.

Ulyshen, M.D. & Hanula, J.L. (2009). Habitat associations of saproxylic beetles in the southeastern United States: a comparison of forest types, tree species and wood postures. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 257(2): 653-664.

Ulyshen, M.D., Ulyshen, M.D., & Koerner. (2018). Saproxylic insects. Springer.

Vandekerkhove, K., De Keersmaeker, L., Menke, N., Meyer, P., Verschelde, P. (2009). When nature takes over from man: dead wood accumulation in previously managed oak and beech woodlands in North-western and Central Europe. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 258: 425–435.

Vanderwel, M.C., Malcolm, J.R., Smith, S.M., & Islam, N. (2006). Insect community composition and trophic guild structure in decaying logs from eastern Canadian pine-dominated forests. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 225(1-3): 190-199.

Veen, P., Fanta, J., Raev, I., Biriş, I.-A., de Smidt, J., & Maes, B. (2010). Virgin forests in Romania and Bulgaria: Results of two national inventory projects and their implications for protection. *Biodivers. Conserv.*, 19: 1805–1819.

Vuidot, A., Paillet, Y., Archaux, F., Gosselin, F. (2011). Influence of tree characteristics and forest management on tree microhabitats. *Biol. Conserv.*, 144: 441–450.

Watson, J.E., Evans, T., Venter, O., Williams, B., Tulloch, A., Stewart, C., ... & McAlpine, C. (2018). The exceptional value of intact forest ecosystems. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.*, *2*(4): 599-610.

Weedon, J.T., Cornwell, W.K., Cornelissen, J.H., Zanne, A.E., Wirth, C., Coomes, D.A. (2009). Global meta-analysis of wood decomposition rates: a role for trait variation among tree species? *Ecol. Lett.*, 12(1): 45–56.

Wende, B., Gossner, M.M., Grass, I., Arnstadt, T., Hofrichter, M., Floren, A., Linsenmair, K.E.,
Weisser, W.W., Steffan-Dewenter, I. (2017). Trophic level, successional age and trait matching
determine specialization of deadwood-based interaction networks of saproxylic beetles. *Proc. R. Soc. B-Biol. Sci.* 284(1854): 20170198.

Wermelinger, B., Duelli, P., Obrist, M.K. (2002). Dynamics of saproxylic beetles (Coleoptera) in windthrow areas in alpine spruce forests. *For. Snow. Landsc. Res.*, 77:133–48.

Wermelinger, B. (2004). Ecology and management of the spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus*: a review of recent research. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 202: 67–82.

Wesołowski, T. & Maziarz, M. (2012). Dark tree cavities–a challenge for hole nesting birds?. *J. Avian Biol.*, 43(5): 454-460.

White, S.P. & Pickett, S.T. (1985). *The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics*. Academic Press, NewYork, USA.

Winter, S., Flade, M., Schumacher, H., Kerstan, E., & Möller, G. (2005). The importance of near-natural stand structures for the biocoenosis of lowland beech forests. *For. Snow Landsc. Res.*, 79(1/2): 127-144.

Winter, S. & Möller, G. C. (2008). Microhabitats in lowland beech forests as monitoring tool for nature conservation. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 255(3-4): 1251-1261.

Winter, S., Chirici, G., McRoberts, R.E., Hauk, E., Tomppo, E., (2008). Possibilities for harmonizing national forest inventory data for use in forest biodiversity assessments. *Forestry*, 81: 33–44.

Winter, S., Borrass, L., Geitzenauer, M., Blondet, M., Breibeck, R., Weiss, G., Winkel, G. (2014). The impact of Natura 2000 on forest management: a socio-ecological analysis in the continental region of the European Union. *Biodivers. Conserv.* 23, 3451–3482.

Winter, S., Höfler, J., Michel, A. K., Böck, A., & Ankerst, D. P. (2015a). Association of tree and plot characteristics with microhabitat formation in European beech and Douglas-fir forests. *Eur. J. For. Res.*, 134(2): 335-347.

Winter, M.B., Ammer, Ch., Baier, R., Donato, D.C., Seibold, S., Müller, J. (2015b). Multitaxon alpha diversity following bark beetle disturbance: Evaluating multi-decade persistence of a diverse early-seral phase. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 338:32–45.

Winter, M. B., Bässler, C., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Krah, F. S., Schaefer, H., Seibold, S., & Müller, J. (2017). On the structural and species diversity effects of bark beetle disturbance in forests during initial and advanced early-seral stages at different scales. *Eur. J. For. Res.*, 136(2): 357-373.

Woods, K. D. (2004). Intermediate disturbance in a latesuccessional hemlock–northern hardwood forest. *J. Ecol.*, 92: 464–476.

Yamaguchi, D. K. (1991). A simple method for cross-dating increment cores from living trees. *Can. J. For. Res.*, 21: 414–416.

Zahner, V., Sikora, L., Pasinelli, G. (2012). Heart rot as a key factor for cavity tree selection in the black woodpecker. *Forest Ecol. Manag.*, 271: 98–103.

Zeibig, A., Diaci, J., Wagner, S. (2005). Gap disturbance patterns of a Fagus sylvatica virgin forest remnant in the mountain vegetation belt of Slovenia. *For. Snow Landsc. Res.*, 79: 69–80.